
 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
Meeting 
 

Hampshire Pension Fund Panel and Board 
 

Date and Time Friday, 10th December, 2021 at 10.00 am 
  
Place Mitchell Room, EII Court, Winchester 
  
Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk 
  
Carolyn Williamson FCPFA 
Chief Executive 
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ 
 
FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION 
This meeting may be recorded and broadcast live on the County Council’s website.  
The meeting may also be recorded and broadcast by the press and members of the 
public – please see the Filming Protocol available on the County Council’s website. 

 
AGENDA 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 All Members who believe they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 

any matter to be considered at the meeting must declare that interest 
and, having regard to Part 3 Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members’ Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter is 
discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with 
Paragraph 1.6 of the Code.  Furthermore all Members with a Personal 
Interest in a matter being considered at the meeting should consider, 
having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 4 of the Code, whether such interest 
should be declared, and having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 5 of the 
Code, consider whether it is appropriate to leave the meeting while the 
matter is discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance 
with the Code. 

 
3. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES (NON-EXEMPT)  (Pages 5 - 10) 
 
 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 September 2021. 

 
4. DEPUTATIONS   
 

Public Document Pack



 To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12. 
 

5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
 
 To receive any announcements the Chairman may wish to make 

 
6. ACCESS JOINT COMMITTEE MINUTES - 6 SEPTEMBER 2021  

(Pages 11 - 16) 
 
 To receive the minutes of the ACCESS Joint Committee held on 6 

September 2021. 
 

7. GOVERNANCE - INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT  (Pages 17 
- 26) 

 
 To receive a report from the Director of Corporate Operations providing 

the Pension Fund Panel and Board with an overview of the internal audit 
work completed in accordance with the approved plan. 
 

8. GOVERNANCE - PENSION FUND ADMINISTRATION UPDATE  
(Pages 27 - 38) 

 
 To receive a report from the Director of Corporate Operations updating 

the Panel and Board on pension administration performance in the first 
six months of 2021/22. 
 
 

9. GOVERNANCE - PENSION FUND BUSINESS PLAN  (Pages 39 - 62) 
 
 To consider the report from the Director of Corporate Operations seeking 

the Pension Fund Panel and Board’s approval for the business plan and 
budget for the Pension Fund for 2022/23 to 2024/25. 
 
 
 

10. GOVERNANCE - GOOD GOVERNANCE REVIEW UPDATE  (Pages 63 
- 222) 

 
 To consider a report from the Director of Corporate Operations outlining 

the Pension Fund’s progress against the recommendations of the 
Scheme Advisory Board’s (SAB) Good Governance Review, including 
the Fund’s documents for review that fulfil the Good Governance Review. 
 
 
 

11. INVESTMENT - PENSION FUND CASH MONITORING REPORT AND 
ANNUAL CASH INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2022/2023  (Pages 223 - 
236) 

 



 To consider a report from the Director of Corporate Operations outlining 
the investment performance of the cash balances held by the Pension 
Fund in 2021/22 to 31 October 2021 and recommending the Annual 
Cash Investment Strategy for 2022/23. 
 
 

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 
 That in relation to the following items the press and public be excluded 

from the meeting, as it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of proceedings, that if a member of the public 
were present during the items there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information within Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972, and further that in all circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in maintaining the exempt information outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information, for the reasons set out in 
the report. 
 

13. CONFIRMATION OF THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
HELD ON 28 SEPTEMBER 2021  (Pages 237 - 242) 

 
 To confirm the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 28 September 

2021. 
 

14. GOVERNANCE - CYBER SECURITY AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY  
(Pages 243 - 302) 

 
 To consider an exempt report from the Director of Corporate Operations 

on the controls in place to ensure the security of the pension data held by 
the Hampshire Pension Fund. 
 
 
 

15. INVESTMENT - INVESTMENT UPDATE  (Pages 303 - 318) 
 
 To consider the exempt report of the Director of Corporate Operations 

updating the Panel and Board on the Pension Fund’s investments since 
the last meeting of the Pension Fund Panel and Board on 28 September 
2021. 
 

 
 
 
ABOUT THIS AGENDA: 

On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as 
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages. 
 
ABOUT THIS MEETING: 



The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the 
meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require 
wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for 
assistance. 
 
 
County Councillors attending as appointed members of this Committee or by 
virtue of Standing Order 18.5; or with the concurrence of the Chairman in 
connection with their duties as members of the Council or as a local County 
Councillor qualify for travelling expenses. 

mailto:members.services@hants.gov.uk


AT A MEETING of the PENSION FUND PANEL AND BOARD of the County 
Council held at The Castle, Winchester on Tuesday 28 September 2021. 
 

Chairman:  
Councillor M. Kemp-Gee   

  
Vice-Chairman:  

* Councillor T. Thacker   
  
Elected members of the Administering Authority (Councillors):  
  A. Dowden    * J. Glen 

* D. Hiscock      A. Joy  
  P. Latham    * D. Mellor  
* R. Mocatta    * T. Davies 
* D. Drew 

  
Employer Representatives (Co-opted members):   
* Councillor R. Harwood (Southampton City Council) 
  Councillor P. Taylor (District Councils - Rushmoor Borough Council)    
  Dr L Bartle (University of Portsmouth)  
  Councillor C. Corkery (Portsmouth City Council) 
 

Scheme Member Representatives (Co-opted members):  
* Dr C. Allen (pensioners' representative)  
* Mr N. Wood (scheme members representative)  
* Ms L. Gowland (deferred members’ representative)  
  Mrs S. Manchester (substitute scheme member representative)    
  
Independent Adviser:   
* C. Dobson  
  
*present  
 
 

BROADCASTING ANNOUNCEMENT 
 

The Chairman asked for the broadcast of the meeting to begin. Those 
remaining at the meeting were consenting to being filmed and recorded. 

 
19. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Cllrs Kemp-Gee, Joy, Latham, Dowden, Taylor, Corkery and Dr Bartle 
sent their apologies.  
 

20. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Members were mindful that where they believed they had a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest in any matter considered at the meeting they must 
declare that interest at the time of the relevant debate and, having 
regard to the circumstances described in Part 3, Paragraph 1.5 of the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



County Council's Members' Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while 
the matter was discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in 
accordance with Paragraph 1.6 of the Code.  Furthermore Members 
were mindful that where they believed they had a Non-Pecuniary 
interest in a matter being considered at the meeting they considered 
whether such interest should be declared, and having regard to Part 5, 
Paragraph 2 of the Code, considered whether it was appropriate to 
leave the meeting whilst the matter was discussed, save for exercising 
any right to speak in accordance with the Code.  
 

21. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES 
 

The minutes of the Pension Fund Panel and Board held on 27 July 2021 
were confirmed. 

 
22. DEPUTATION 
 

In accordance with Standing Order 12, the Panel and Board received a 
deputation from Ms Kerrie Sinclair representing the Dirty Money 
campaign, a group of Hampshire Pension Fund members, industry 
experts and environmental campaigners. The group is urging that the 
Pension Fund and Access Pool assets fund climate repair, not climate 
damage. 
 
Ms Sinclair said that we need all those with their hands on the levers of 
financial and political power to step up and we need sustainable 
capitalism. She quoted the economist Nicholas Stern, who has said if 
we’re to have a chance of controlling it [Climate Change], and to stop it 
from spiralling away, we need net zero by 2050 (or sooner) to hold at a 
1.5C [temperature increase]. 
 
Ms Sinclair asserted that investment must flow to companies supplying 
the goods and services, innovation and impetus, to build the sustainable 
global economy, not flow to those still locking us in to using oil, coal or 
gas for which there are no zero-emissions adaptations. 
 
Ms Sinclair highlighted the best practice of asset owners such as Allianz 
and Aviva Investors, who are members of the Net-Zero Asset Owner 
Alliance who have set 1.5C-aligned, near-term, portfolio-wide 
decarbonisation targets including Scopes 1, 2 and 3. Similarly the 
Wiltshire Pension Fund has added the belief to its Investment Strategy 
Statement (ISS) ‘to protect the Fund’s investments into the future, the 
Fund supports a global warming scenario of 2C or lower and states an 
ambition to achieve net-zero emissions across all investment portfolios 
by 2050’. Wiltshire consulted with its employers who supported this 
belief. 
 
The Dirty Money Campaign asking the Hampshire Pension Fund to 
revise its the ISS to embed the net-zero by 2050-or-sooner portfolio-
wide decarbonisation, to specify the commitment to investing in line with 

Page 6



guarding 1.5C, and to conduct a consultation. Ms Sinclair pointed to the 
Pension Fund having received about 100 emails regarding aligning the 
portfolio to guard the 1.5C limit, which should not be compared to the 
total membership of more than 183,000 as she suggested most people 
are trying to survive, particularly amid this deadly pandemic, and don’t 
know what’s at stake and what’s required.  

 

Ms Sinclair criticised the Pension Fund’s Global Custodian whose CEO 
has said ‘we need fossil fuels for decades to come’. Ms Sinclair urged  
the Pension Fund to fire JP Morgan replace them with the Brunel 
Pool.  
 
Ms Sinclair finished by stating that Private investors can’t do this alone 
and governments still aren’t doing enough and that the Dirty Money 
campaign calls on the Hampshire Pension Fund to: 
 

1. Produce a position statement on managing its portfolios to align 
with the Paris agreement of limiting our temperature increase to 
1.5C. 
 

2. Create a strategy and timetable for achieving this alignment 
 

3. Report, consult and be advised by its members on its investment 
principles and how they are achieved 
 

4. Call on members of the ACCESS Pool to become members of a 
1.5 degrees Celsius-focused asset owner alliance or initiative 
such as the Net-Zero Asset Owner Alliance or the IIGCC’s Net-
Zero Investment Framework. This is the action taken in recent 
weeks by the Wiltshire Pension Fund committee and other funds 
in its pool. 

 
23. CHAIRMAN’S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
The Chairman welcomed Cllr Harwood and Rob Carr to his first meeting 
as Director of Corporate Operations. 
 
The Chairman confirmed for the Members that the Pension Fund had 
successfully been accepted as a signature of the revised 2020 
Stewardship Code. As one of only six LGPS funds and three pools 
accepted as signatories, this reflected well on Hampshire. 
 
The Chairman asked Cllr Mellor to feedback to the committee on the 
Local Government Chronicle (LGC) conference he recently attended 
with Cllr Kemp-Gee. Cllr Mellor noted that the main focus of the event 
were the topics of investment pooling and Environmental, Social and 
Governance (ESG) investment issues. 
 

Page 7



24. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF THE RESPONSIBLE 
INVESTMENT (RI) SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
The minutes of the RI Sub-committee held on 7 September 2021 were 
noted. 

 
25. GOVERNANCE – PENSION FUND PANEL AND BOARD TRAINING 

IN 2021/22  
  

The Panel and Board considered a report of the Director of Corporate 
Operations (item 7 in the Minute Book) setting out the proposed training 
arrangements for members of the Pension Fund Panel and Board in 
2021/22. In particular members noted the importance of training for 
Panel and Board members in their role in the governance of the 
Pension Fund and their regulatory responsibilities as Pension 
Committee and Board members. The Director presented a draft training 
plan which had been produced following the analysis of the committee 
members’ completed Training Needs Analyses.  
  
The Director recommended Hampshire subscribes to the Hymans 
Robertson LGPS Online Learning Academy training modules at a cost 
of £5,000 per year. The Learning Academy will provide Panel and Board 
members and senior officers six modules designed to cover the 
requirements of the Scheme Advisory Board’s (SAB) Good Governance 
review which Hymans undertook for the SAB. Officers and the 
Chairman have had a demonstration of the training from West Sussex 
Pension Fund, who have already commissioned it. A training session 
will be included in the training programme to demonstrate the LGPS 
Online Learning Academy to Members and answer any questions.  
 
RESOLVED:  

  
(a) The Panel and Board agreed to the subscribe to the Hymans 

Robertson LGPS Online Learning Academy at a cost of £5,000 
per annum and in doing so also agree that all Panel and Board 
members will complete this essential training. 
 

(b) That the Training Policy and Plan for 2020/21 were approved. 
 

(c) That the proposed training arrangements and remainder of the 
report were noted.  

 

26. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
 That the public be excluded from the meeting during the following items 

of business, as it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the 

Page 8



public were present during these items there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information within Paragraphs 3 and 4 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, and further that in all 
the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information, for 
the reasons set out in the reports.   

 
 Following the resolution the Chairman asked for the broadcasting of the 

meeting to end.  
 
27. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS (EXEMPT) 

 
 The exempt minutes of the Pension Fund Panel and Board held on 27 

July 2021 were confirmed.  
 

28. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF RI SUB-COMMITTEE (EXEMPT) 
 

The exempt minutes of the RI Sub-committee held on 7 September 
2021 were noted. 

 
29. GOVERNANCE – ACCESS DRAFT RI GUIDELINES 

 
The Panel and Board considered the exempt appendix from the Director 
of Corporate Operations (Item 11 in the Minute Book) to allow the 
Members to consider the draft ACCESS RI guidelines. [SUMMARY OF 
A MINUTE WHICH CONTAINS EXEMPT INFORMATION] 
 

30. GOVERNANCE – ACTUARY CONTRACT EXTENSION 
 
The Panel and Board considered the exempt appendix from the Director 
of Corporate Operations (Item 12 in the Minute Book) proposing an 
extension to the Pension Fund’s actuary’s contract. [SUMMARY OF A 
MINUTE WHICH CONTAINS EXEMPT INFORMATION] 
 

31. INVESTMENTS - UBS AND BARINGS PORTFOLIOS 
 

The Panel and Board considered the exempt appendix from the Director 
of Corporate Operations (Item 13 in the Minute Book) on options for 
reducing the carbon footprint of the investments in the UBS passive 
factor portfolios. [SUMMARY OF A MINUTE WHICH CONTAINS 
EXEMPT INFORMATION] 
 

32. INVESTMENTS – PROPERTY PORTFOLIO UPDATE 
 

The Panel and Board considered an exempt report from the Director of 
Corporate Operations (Item 14 in the Minute Book) updating the Panel 
and Board on its UK property portfolio. [SUMMARY OF A MINUTE 
WHICH CONTAINS EXEMPT INFORMATION] 
 

33. INVESTMENTS - ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS UPDATE 

Page 9



 
The Panel and Board received a report from the Director of Corporate 
Operations (Item 15 in the Minute Book) updating the Panel and Board 
on the Fund’s alternative investments. [SUMMARY OF A MINUTE 
WHICH CONTAINS EXEMPT INFORMATION] 
 

34. INVESTMENTS – INVESTMENT UPDATE 
 

The Panel and Board received and a report from the Director of 
Corporate Operations (Item 16 in the Minute Book) updating the Panel 
and Board on the Fund’s investments. [SUMMARY OF A MINUTE 
WHICH CONTAINS EXEMPT INFORMATION] 
 
 
 

Page 10



 

1 

 
 

ACCESS JOINT COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the ACCESS Joint Committee held at 18 Smith Square, LGA, 
Westminster, London on Monday, 6th September, 2021. 
 
PRESENT:  Cllr Mark Kemp-Gee (Hampshire), Cllr Susan Barker (Essex), Cllr Nick Chard 
(Kent), Cllr Vanessa Churchman (Isle of Wight), Cllr Jeremy Hunt (West Sussex), Cllr 
Gerard Fox (East Sussex), Cllr Judy Oliver (Norfolk), Cllr Karen Soons (Suffolk), Cllr 
Andrew Williams (Hertfordshire) 
 
 
ALSO PRESENT:  Kevin McDonald (ASU), Mark Paget (ASU), Paul Tysoe (ASU), Clifford 
Sims (Squire Patton Boggs) and John Wright (Hymans Robertson) 
 
OFFICERS:  Alison Mings (Kent), Andrew Boutflower (Hampshire), Glenn Cossey 
(Norfolk), Jo Thistlewood (IoW), Jody Evans (Essex), Mark Whitby (West Northants), 
Patrick Towey (Hertfordshire), Paul Finbow (Suffolk), Rachel Wood (West Sussex), 
Sharon Tan (Suffolk), Sian Kunert (East Sussex), Andrew Lowe (Hampshire), Alexander 
Younger (Norfolk) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
1. Election of Chairman. 

(Item. 1) 
 
1. It was proposed and seconded by Cllr Chard and Cllr Oliver respectively, that 

Cllr Mark Kemp-Gee (Hampshire) be elected as Chair of the Joint Committee 
for a period of two years. 

 
RESOLVED through unanimous vote that Cllr Kemp-Gee be elected as Chair. 
 

2. Election of Vice Chairman. 
(Item. 2) 
 
1. It was proposed and seconded by Cllr Kemp-Gee and Cllr Fox respectively, 

that Cllr Susan Barker (Essex) be elected as Vice-Chair of the Joint 
Committee for a period of two years. 

 
RESOLVED through unanimous vote that Cllr Barker be elected as Vice-Chair. 
 

3. Apologies and substitutes. 
(Item. 3) 
 
1. Apologies were received from Cllrs Simkins (Cllr Chard Substituting), Cllr 

Jarman (Cllr Churchman substituting), Cllr Whelan and Cllr Longley. 
 
RESOLVED apologies be noted. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 
 

2 

 
4. Declaration of interests in items on the agenda. 

(Item. 4) 
 
None. 
 

5. Chairman’s remarks. 
(Item. 5) 
 
1. The Chair welcomed those new Members in attendance and the returning 

substitutes.  He noted the positive aspects of returning to a physical meeting 
for the first time since March 2020. 
 

2. The Chair highlighted an upcoming conference which he would be attending 
along with the Director of the ASU and asked any Members interested in 
joining them to contact the ASU to make arrangements. 

 
RESOLVED that the Chair’s remarks be noted. 
 

6. Minutes of the meeting held on 8 March. 
(Item. 6) 
 
1. Mr McDonald highlighted a factual correction required to the minute of item 

256 (Sub-Fund Implementation) from the last formal meeting.  This related to 
an incorrect reference to ‘Fund Managers’ which needed to be removed. 

 
RESOLVED that, subject to the required amendment, the minutes were a correct 
record and that they be signed by the Chair. 
 

7. Business plan, forecast outturn and risk summary. 
(Item. 7) 
 
1. Mr McDonald provided an update to the Committee.  He commented that the 

business plan highlighted various workstreams which were subject to specific 
items later on the agenda, where they would be discussed in more detail. 
 

2. Mr McDonald confirmed that the projected outturn was a £150k underspend 
on the budget approved in January 2021 and it was noted that part of the 
underspend related to delayed recruitment process for the ASU.  
Congratulations were extended to Paul Tysoe who had joined the ASU as the 
ACCESS Client Manager.  Mr McDonald also highlighted that external advice 
spend was subject to change depending on project progression through the 
remainder of the financial year. 
 

3. Mr McDonald updated the Committee on progress made in ACCESS working 
with other authorities on commissioned research into pooling arrangements 
outside of the UK.  He explained that report would be released in the near 
future and he highlighted that the reports outcomes would focus on providing 
information about the international arrangements rather than delivering 
recommendations for change – consideration about how the information 
should be used would be a matter for each Pool to progress separately. 
 

Page 12



 
 

3 

4. It was highlighted that a briefing on Responsible Investment (RI) was being 
organised for later in September. 
 

5. It was confirmed that the formal Outturn would be brought to the December 
2021 meeting for consideration and approval. 

 
RESOLVED that the update be noted. 
 

8. Communications and Spokespeople. 
(Item. 8) 
 
1. Mr McDonald updated the Committee on progress of training for ACCESS 

Member spokespeople.  It was highlighted that the ASU Director would remain 
the spokesperson in the first instance (as agreed via previous decision by the 
Committee) and a number of Members would serve as the spokespeople for 
particular areas of ACCESS Business: 

 
- Cllr Fox (East Sussex) – Responsible Investment 
- Cllr Oliver (Norfolk) – Governance 
- Cllr Soons (Suffolk) – Media Strategy 
- Cllr Kemp-Gee (Hampshire) and Cllr Barker (Essex) – Political and 

Government Relations, Parliamentary, inter-pool and overall strategy. 
 
2. Members highlighted the need for a co-ordinated approach to communications 

and press enquiries.  The Chair noted that it was important that all Joint 
Committee members needed to be appropriately well-briefed to handle 
relevant issues as and when they arose. 
 

3. Mr McDonald, responding to questions, advised that previous press queries 
and relevant responses would be reviewed to confirm any required updates or 
changes to manage future issues. 

 
RESOLVED that; 
1. The update be noted. 
2. The spokespeople proposals be agreed. 
3. The training arrangements be noted. 
 

9. Motion to Exclude the Press and Public. 
(Item. 9) 
 
RESOLVED that under Section 100A of the Local Government Act  
1972 the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 3 & 5 of 
part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

10. Implementation Adviser procurement. 
(Item. 10) 
 
1. Mr McDonald updated the Committee on the procurement exercise 

undertaken to secure an Implementation Advisor.  Members discussed the 
procurement process, including scoring metrics and weighting.  They 

Page 13



 
 

4 

highlighted areas for reflection on how they may be managed and 
communicated in future. 

 
RESOLVED that; 

(a) The update on the procurement process be noted; 
(b) The outcome of the procurement exercise be endorsed; and 
(c) That Essex County Council, as Procurement Lead Authority, would enter in 

the required contracts with the successful bidder on behalf ACCESS, be 
noted. 

 
11. Scheduled BAU Evaluation. 

(Item. 11) 
 
(Considered after Item 15 which was taken early to help inform later discussions) 
 
1. John Wright (Hymans Robertson) gave a presentation which outlined the 

findings and resulting recommendations of the Business As Usual Evaluation. 
 

2. Members discussed the recommendations and asked a range of questions for 
clarification.   John Wright, Mr McDonald, Mr Paget and Mr Tysoe all provided 
answers and information to support the consideration of the recommendations 
regarding future operating arrangements for the ACCESS Pool as part of 
Business As Usual. 

 
RESOLVED that; 

(a) The presentation be noted. 
(b) The report’s recommendations be agreed by unanimous vote; and 
(c) Hymans Robertson and the ASU provide a detailed timetable for progressing 

the approved recommendations. 
 

12. Performance, Annual Report and MHCLG return - to follow. 
(Item. 12) 
 
1. Sharon Tan (Suffolk) provided an overview of current ACCESS performance, 

including reference to the Investment Performance Report, which detailed that 
pooled assets of all ACCESS Authorities amounted to £32.602bn at the end of 
June 2021 (up from £31.510bn in March 2021). 

 
2. The update highlighted the collaborative work with other pools in relation to 

updating the annual MHCLG return report template and that as a result of this 
work, the return would be submitted later in September. 
 

3. Responding to questions, Ms Tan and Mr McDonald clarified how savings 
were calculated via engagement with all administering authorities and noted 
that the overall fund manager savings had exceeded expectations as they had 
been set at cautious levels as part of the ACCESS set up because it was not 
appropriate to assume significant savings early on in the organised pooling 
environment. 

 
Resolved that; 

(a) The performance report be noted; 
(b) The progress with the annual MHCLG return be noted; and 

Page 14



 
 

5 

(c) The Annual Report be recommended for publication by each ACCESS 
Authority. 

 
13. Review of Emerging Markets process. 

(Item. 13) 
 
1. Mr McDonald updated the Committee on the outcome of the review of 

Emerging Markets and the associated recommendations, building on 
discussions from the previous informal briefing.  The recommendations 
outlined potential developments regarding updating sub-fund establishment 
arrangements and amending relevant governance processes. 

 
Resolved that; 

(a) The seven recommendations outlined in the report be agreed for 
implementation. 

 
14. Response to Emerging Markets Review. 

(Item. 14) 
 
1. Mr McDonald provided an update on the initial response to the 

recommendations in the Emerging Markets Review. 
 
RESOLVED that; 

(a) The update be noted. 
 

15. Sub-fund implementation. 
(Item. 15) 
 
(This item was discussed after Item 10 and before item 11 to assist with 
consideration of other relevant agenda items) 
 
1. Update on progress with Sub-funds provided by Andrew Boutflower 

(Hampshire).  Members discussed various points in relation to the ongoing 
Sub-Fund implementation, including mention of specific experiences of 
individual authorities.  Mr Boutflower, Mr McDonald, Mr Paget and Mr Tysoe 
responded to Member questions and technical points in relation to timescales 
and engagement with the Operator. 

 
RESOLVED that; 

(a) the report be noted. 
 

16. Contract and Supplier Relationship Management. 
(Item. 16) 
 
1. Mark Paget (ASU) and provided the regular update on Contract and Supplier 

Relationship Management activity, with key work and future areas of focus 
highlighted to the Committee. 

 
RESOLVED that; 

(a) the update be noted. 
 

17. Risk Management. 
(Item. 17) 

Page 15



 
 

6 

 
1. Mr McDonald (ASU) updated the Committee on the current risk profile of the 

Pool with a detailed overview of the risk register.  It was also highlighted that 
the recording and presentation of the risk register had been updated to a 4x4 
matrix and improved dashboard. 

 
RESOLVED that the risk register update be noted. 
 
 
 

Page 16



  

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 

Decision Maker Pension Fund Panel and Board 

Date: 10 December 2021 

Title: Governance - Internal Audit Progress Report – November 
2021 

Report From: Director of Corporate Operations  

Contact name: Neil Pitman; Chief Internal Auditor 

Tel:    07719 417233 Email: Neil.pitman@hants.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Pension Fund Panel and Board 
with an overview of the internal audit work completed in accordance with the 
approved plan. 

Recommendation 

2. That the Pension Fund Panel and Board note the progress of internal audit 
work for the period ending 26 November 2021. 

 

Contextual Information 

3. At the request of the Pension Fund Panel and Board, the Chief Internal 
Auditor has provided a progress report against internal activity on the pension 
fund summarising: 

 The status of ‘live’ internal audit reports; 

 An update on progress against the annual audit plan; 

 A summary of internal audit performance, planning and resourcing 
issues; and 

 A summary of significant issues that impact on the Chief Internal 
Auditor’s annual opinion. 

4. Appendix 1 summarises internal activity for the period ending 26 November 
2021.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



  

 
Climate Change Impact Assessments 

5. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools 
provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate 

change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does.  

6. The climate change and carbon control mitigation tools were not applicable as 
the report relates to the in-house management of the administration of the 
pension scheme and therefore have a neutral impact on climate change.

Page 18



 
 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

No 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

No 

 
OR 

 

This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision because: 
 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015. 
 

 
 
 
 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

None  

 

Page 19



 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 

1. Equality Duty 

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 
sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 

Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by this report. 

 

 

 
 

Page 20



Appendix 1 

 

 

Internal Audit Progress Report (November 2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 21



Internal Audit Progress Report – November 2021 

 

2 

Contents: 

1. Role of Internal Audit 3 

2. Purpose of report 4 

3. Performance dashboard  5 

4. Analysis of ‘Live’ audit reviews 6 

5. Executive summaries ‘Limited’ and ‘No’ assurance opinions 6 

6. Planning and resourcing 6 

7. Rolling work programme 6 

   

   

 

  

P
age 22



Internal Audit Progress Report – November 2021 

 

3 

1. Role of Internal Audit 

 
The requirement for an internal audit function in local government is detailed within the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, which 
states that a relevant body must: 

‘Undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking 
into account public sector internal auditing standards or guidance.’  

The standards for ‘proper practices’ are laid down in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards [the Standards – updated 2017]. 
 
The role of internal audit is best summarised through its definition within the Standards, as an:  

‘Independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisations’ operations.  It helps an 
organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes’.  

The County Council is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management processes, control systems, accounting records 
and governance arrangements.  Internal audit plays a vital role in advising the Council that these arrangements are in place and operating 
effectively.   
 
The County Council’s response to internal audit activity should lead to the strengthening of the control environment and, therefore, contribute 
to the achievement of the organisations’ objectives. 
  

P
age 23



Internal Audit Progress Report – November 2021 

 

4 

2. Purpose of report 

In accordance with proper internal audit practices (Public Sector Internal Audit Standards), and the Internal Audit Charter the Chief Internal 
Auditor is required to provide a written status report to ‘Senior Management’ and ‘the Board’, summarising: 

 The status of ‘live’ internal audit reports; 

 an update on progress against the annual audit plan; 

 a summary of internal audit performance, planning and resourcing issues; and 

 a summary of significant issues that impact on the Chief Internal Auditor’s annual opinion. 
 
Internal audit reviews culminate in an opinion on the assurance that can be placed on the effectiveness of the framework of risk management, 
control and governance designed to support the achievement of management objectives of the service area under review.  The assurance 
opinions are categorised as follows: 
 

Substantial A sound system of governance, risk management and control exists, with internal controls operating effectively and being 
consistently applied to support the achievement of objectives in the area audited. 

Reasonable  There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management and control in place. Some issues, non-compliance or 
scope for improvement were identified which may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area audited. 

Limited Significant gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance were identified. Improvement is required to the system of governance, risk 
management and control to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the area audited. 

No Immediate action is required to address fundamental gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance identified. The system of 
governance, risk management and control is inadequate to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the 
area audited. 

  

P
age 24



Internal Audit Progress Report – November 2021 

 

5 

3. Performance dashboard  
 
 

                
 
 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

An External Quality Assessment of the Southern Internal Audit Partnership was undertaken by the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) in 
September 2020.  The report concluded:  

‘The mandatory elements of the IPPF include the Definition of Internal Auditing, Code of Ethics, Core Principles and International Standards. 
There are 64 fundamental principles to achieve with 118 points of recommended practice. We assess against the principles.  

It is our view that the Southern Internal Audit Partnership conforms to all 64 of these principles.   

We have also reviewed SIAP conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and Local Government Application Note 
(LGAN).  

We are pleased to report that SIAP conform with all relevant, associated elements.’ 

 

% of revised 
plan 

delivered to 
draft report

40% 
Complete

20% 

Yet to 
Commence

40% 

Work in 
Progress

86%

88%

90%

92%

94%

96%

98%

100%

Target Actual

Stakeholder Satisfaction Survey Results

P
age 25



Internal Audit Progress Report – November 2021 

 

6 

4. Analysis of ‘Live’ audit reviews 
 
All actions arising from audit reviews have been completed/implemented.  There are no pending or overdue actions to report. 
 
5. Executive Summaries of reports published concluding a ‘Limited’ or ‘No’ assurance opinion 
 
There have been no ‘Limited’ or ‘No’ assurance opinion reports issued as part of the 2021-22 audit work. 
 
6. Planning & Resourcing 
 
The internal audit plan for 2021-22 was discussed and agreed with Officers and approved by the Hampshire Pension Fund Panel and Board on 12 
February 2021.  Whilst the plan remains fluid to provide a responsive service that reacts to changing needs, there have been no adjustments to 
the plan for 2021-22. 
 
Progress against the plan is outlined below in section 7. 
 
7. Rolling Work Programme 
 

Audit Review Sponsor Scoping Audit 
Outline 

Fieldwork Draft 
Report 

Final 
Report 

Assurance 
Opinion 

Comment 

Pension Starters DoCO    Oct 21 Nov 21 Substantial  

Pension Leavers DoCO        

Pensions Payroll and Benefit Calculations DoCO        

Governance Arrangements DoCO       Q4 

UPM Application Review DoCO    Oct 21  n/a Consultancy work 

 

P
age 26



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Report 
 

Decision Panel: Pension Fund Panel and Board 

Date: 10 December 2021 

Title: Governance: Administration performance update 

Report From: Director of Corporate Operations 

Contact name: Lois Downer, Deputy Head of Pension Services 

Tel:    0370 779 4396 Email: lois.downer@hants.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Panel and Board on pension 
administration performance in the first six months of 2021/22. 

Recommendation(s) 

2. That the Panel and Board note the strong performance of Pension Services 
and Scheme Employers so far in 2021/22. 

3. That the Panel and Board note the update on other administrative issues. 

Executive Summary  

4. In the first six months of 2021/22 Pension Services have: 

 continued to meet service standards for all casework, as well as produce 
annual benefit statements for almost 100% of active and 100% of deferred 
members 

 demonstrated an improvement in both the common and conditional data 
scores which are reported annually to the Pension Regulator 

 continued the implementation of the McCloud remedy, primarily focussed 
on data collection from Scheme Employers 

 delivered the planned improvements to the pension system and agreed the 
next two year roadmap of development work with Civica 

Page 27

Agenda Item 8



Employers have also continued to improve the quality and timeliness of the 
data they provide to Pension Services. 

5. In addition to providing the administration for the Hampshire Pension Fund, 
Pension Services also provide this service to external Partners.  Two new 
partners, the London Borough of Hillingdon and Westminster City Council 
have gone live with pensions administration in 2021/22. 

Covid-19 

6. As reported to the Pension Fund Panel and Board in July 2021, administration 
work has continued to be unaffected by the Covid-19 pandemic.  From 
September 2021, the teams have been back in the office for one day a week 
(split over two days due to the availability of accommodation).  The senior 
management team, and some staff with a preference for more regular 
attendance in the office, are coming into the office on both days.  Working 
face to face on a regular basis has had a positive impact on team morale and 
working relationships between teams. 

7. The arrangements are due to be reviewed over the next couple of months to 
ensure they remain appropriate.  The arrangements are subject to the 
government’s position on home working and all staff will revert to full time 
working from home if the advice should change as part of the government’s 
Plan B. 

 Administration performance 

8. Administration performance against key service standards is measured each 
month, with a target of 100% achievement within the agreed standards.  All 
casework is measured against a 15 day standard, with the exception of 
deferred benefits which have a 30 day standard. 

9. Pension Services have continued to deliver 100% achievement against all 
standards.  Performance for the first two quarters of 2021/22 is shown in the 
tables below. 

Page 28



Key casework completed in quarter 1 2021/22 

 

Key casework completed in quarter 2 2021/22 

 

10. The team have continued to respond to a significant number of member 
queries received by phone and email, answering just under 14,000 calls and 
36,000 emails in the first 6 months of the year.  The call handling satisfaction 
level has been measured as 98.64% based on the number of abandoned calls 
(151 calls) and calls waiting more than 3 minutes to be answered (26 calls). 

11. There have been 13 complaints received in the first 6 months of the year 
which have been fully investigated and responded to.  Of these complaints, 5 
related to the service provided by the team, a further 5 related to unhappiness 
about the scheme regulations and 3 related to external AVC providers.  
Where appropriate, processes have been changed to prevent reoccurrence.  

There have also been 31 compliments received in the same period where 
members have formally asked us to record their thanks to the team. 

Type of Case 0 – 5 days 6 – 10 days 11 -15 days 16 – 20 days 21 – 30 days 31+ days Total % completed on time

Active Retirement 91 67 73 0 0 0 231 100.00%

Deferred Retirement 53 93 202 0 0 0 348 100.00%

Estimates 90 166 737 0 0 0 993 100.00%

Deferred Benefits 57 7 13 75 864 0 1,016 100.00%

Transfers In & Out 18 15 46 0 0 0 79 100.00%

Divorce 3 14 66 0 0 0 83 100.00%

Refunds 151 53 1 0 0 0 205 100.00%

Rejoiners 22 26 71 3 0 0 122 100.00%

Interfunds 33 16 104 0 0 0 153 100.00%

Death Benefits 180 39 31 0 0 0 250 100.00%

Grand Total 698 496 1,344 78 864 0 3,480 100.00%

Time to Complete

Type of Case 0 – 5 days 6 – 10 days 11 -15 days 16 – 20 days 21 – 30 days 31+ days Total % completed on time

Active Retirement 104 54 246 0 0 0 404 100.00%

Deferred Retirement 79 94 413 0 0 0 586 100.00%

Estimates 62 94 1,133 0 0 0 1,289 100.00%

Deferred Benefits 67 32 117 229 1,278 0 1,723 100.00%

Transfers In & Out 23 11 63 0 0 0 97 100.00%

Divorce 5 10 112 0 0 0 127 100.00%

Refunds 208 117 2 0 0 0 327 100.00%

Rejoiners 20 25 78 1 0 0 124 100.00%

Interfunds 11 17 73 0 0 0 101 100.00%

Death Benefits 161 35 51 0 0 0 247 100.00%

Grand Total 740 489 2,288 230 1,278 0 5,025 100.00%

Time to Complete

Page 29



End of year returns and employer performance 

12. Employers have to complete an annual return and submit it to Pensions by 30 
April. This data is used to update pension records with current pay information 
and is subsequently used to produce annual benefit statements. 

13. During the annual return process, employers are measured for timeliness, 
financial control and data quality.  Any Scheme Employer who is highlighted 
as a concern, or who has a red rating for data quality, is required to complete 
a data validation exercise to confirm that the membership data we hold for the 
current year is up to date and correct. 

14. A breakdown of employer performance is shown below but in summary:  

 No employer was red across all criteria, and none of the largest 5 
employers had a red rating 

 147 employers were green across all criteria (44%)   

 1 employer had two of the three criteria as red (10 in 2019/20)  

 43 employers are rated as red in one or more areas and will therefore 
require an annual performance letter to be sent to them. 37 of these had 
major data quality issues and will therefore be asked to undertake a data 
validation exercise.  This compares to 68 employers rated red in one or 
more areas in 2019/20 

 The total number of data queries was 1,649 (3% of total membership).  
This compares with 2,595 in 2020/21 (4% of membership). 

Table of employer performance for 2020/21 year end 
(comparative figures for 2019/20 shown in brackets) 

 

Return received 

before deadline

Return received 

between 1 May and 

31 May

Return received 

more than 1 month 

late

Timeliness 297 (285) 38 (34) 0 (12)

No reconciliation 

issues

Minor reconciliation 

issues/quickly 

resolved

Major reconciliation 

issues and/or 

slow/failed to 

Financial control 290 (283) 39 (36) 6 (12)

Data quality good
Minor data quality 

issues 

Major data quality 

issues 

Data quality 191 (198) 107 (65) 37 (68)

Page 30



15. Overall there has been a continued improvement in Employer performance for 
the Annual Returns process.  

Annual benefit and pension savings statements 

16. Annual benefit statements were produced for 99.87% of active members and 
for 100% of deferred members by the statutory deadline of 31 August 2021, 
with over 138,000 produced in total. Of the 76 active members who did not 
have a statement by the deadline, only 13 are now still outstanding.  

17. Pension Savings Statements (PSS) were produced by the statutory deadline 
of 6 October for the 146 members who were identified as breaching the 
annual allowance limit in 2020/21.  Of these 146 members, 24 have a tax 
charge which they will either pay directly or via the scheme pays facility.  

Annual Employer Meeting 2021 

18. Following the meeting in 2020 which was held virtually, the Annual Employer 
Meeting returned to its normal in person format on 22 October.  Although 122 
people were booked to attend the meeting, there were 43 no shows on the 
day itself.  Of the 79 attendees, 46 were representatives from 39 different 
employers (the rest of the attendees were internal staff, Panel and Board 
members and the external speakers). 

19. Attendees were asked to complete a survey and the results from the 30 
respondents can be summarised as: 

 90% agreed the AEM had provided them with the information they needed 
to know 

 90% thought the AEM was good or excellent 

 Just over half of respondents thought the AEM should be in person in the 
future, with a further third happy with either face to face or virtual. 

The Pension Regulator scheme return 

20. The Pension Regulator (TPR) requires schemes to complete an annual return 
providing details of the contributing employers and governance arrangements.  
Since 2018, TPR has required schemes to report on the presence and 
accuracy of common data (information about the individual and basic 
retirement information) and conditional data (required to calculate specific 
scheme benefits) as part of the annual return. 

21. The score is based on a pass/fail approach for each member against all data 
items.  This means that if an individual has a single piece of data missing then 

Page 31



the individual will count as a fail (even if all other data is present and 
accurate). 

22. The common data score for 2020 has been calculated as 96% (93% in 2020).  
There were two main reasons for records failing the common data checks: 

 4,357 records have a ‘lost contact’ address status  

 2,523 records do not have the date pensionable service started recorded in 
a consistent field on UPM. 

An address tracing exercise for deferred members has been carried out and 

the majority of this work is complete with over 4,300 new addresses updated in 

UPM.  Over half of the remaining lost contacts are preserved refund records 

where the member does not have enough service to receive a pension but is 

still entitled to a refund of contributions.  A further address tracing exercise will 

be carried out next year to reduce this number.   

It is important to note that whilst it is a requirement to hold a valid home 

address, greater focus over the last year has been given to holding an email 

address and ensuring that members are aware of the need to update their 

personal data through the Member Portal. 

The date pensionable service started is a low priority data cleanse item of 

work as it exists on the record (so therefore does not have an impact on any 

calculations) and just needs adding into the correct field on UPM. 

23. The conditional data score has been calculated as 96% (95% in 2020).  There 
were two main reasons for records failing the conditional data checks: 

 Pensionable pay information is not held in the correct field for 781 active 
and 3,354 deferred members 

 3,323 records do not hold a ‘crystallised benefit value’.   

Pensionable pay information is not required for the deferred records because 
benefits already been calculated (the pay will be on the record, but just not in 
the expected field, and may only be on the documents due to the record 
having been migrated from previous administration systems).  The pay for the 
active members will be cleansed as part of the annual end of year processes. 

The records missing ‘crystallised benefit value’ check are all pensioner status 
and the data does not impact anything in terms of benefits payable or external 
reporting to HMRC.  Consequently this is a low priority data cleanse item. 

Page 32



McCloud 

24. The McCloud remedy project work has continued in 2021/22.  The table below 
shows the status of the LGPS bulk service data collection to October 2021. 

 
 

 HPF 

Number of employers 337 

Number of completed Data Collection templates 
received 

313 

Number of initial checks completed on 
templates received 

313 

Number of employers ready for upload 221 

Number of Data Collection templates 
outstanding 

24 

 

25. Excellent progress has been made in contacting all outstanding employers 
with the result being that all employers are now engaged and are aware of 
what they need to provide.  

26. After extensive testing of their initial data load software, Civica was provided 
with feedback on its practical application within the pension system.  As a 
result of this feedback, Civica are now going to create a separate history view 
in UPM so that records show both the original data and the updated service 
history.  It is anticipated that this software will be available during the early 
part of 2022/23.  

27. Employers have been asked to provide the final tranche of data covering the 
period 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 by 30 June 2022.  However, employers 
have been asked to prioritise their end of year returns and responses to 
queries so as not to impact on the valuation timetable next year. 

28. The actual McCloud remedy and the accompanying legislation has yet to be 
confirmed. It is anticipated that significant further work will be required once 
the remedy and accompanying legislation are in place. 

Page 33



 Pension system development roadmap 

29. When the pension administration software contract was awarded to Civica in 
September 2020, an agreed road map for development work was put in place.  
All of these developments have been implemented as agreed, including: 

 Publishing new member documents on the Portal, and emailing the new 
starter to alert them rather than sending out paper forms 

 The facility for members to run their own estimates for voluntary 
retirements, which has been used over 10,000 times since it was 
implemented 

 The pilot and roll out of the Employer Hub, for which 80% of employers are 
registered covering 98% of the Fund’s membership 

 Providing an online leaver form for members and employers, reducing the 
amount of information which has to be provided. 

30. Civica also produced a ‘health check’ report to ensure that UPM is correctly 
set up in the Hampshire IT environment.  Civica worked with the team and 
Hampshire IT to implement its recommendations, with the main one being an 
increase to the physical RAM on the servers. 

31. The next two year road map has been agreed with Civica.  The main 
developments are: 

 Implementation of ‘Task Runner’ and ‘Bulk Automation’ which improve the 
behind the scenes efficiency of UPM, particularly for the production of 
annual benefit statements 

 Introduction of the ‘dynamic homepage’ feature for the Member Portal, 
which will prompt someone logging in to take some action such as 
checking their personal details 

 The Online Identification and Verification module which will become a 
replacement for the paper Life Certificates which are currently sent 
annually to overseas pensioners, as well as providing a more secure way 
of people confirming their identity to the Fund 

 The ability for employers to upload documents onto the Employer Hub. 

An update on the progress of the developments will be provided in the next 
administration paper to the Panel and Board. 

Onboarding of new administration partners 

32. The Pension Services team have been working during the year to on-board 
two new partners to the Hampshire pension administration service. The 
London Borough of Hillingdon (LBH) and Westminster City Council (WCC) 
have now joined West Sussex County Council, Hampshire Police and 

Page 34



Hampshire & Isle of Wight Fire and Rescue Authority in using this service.  
The table below shows the membership of the schemes now administered by 
Pension Services.  

 

33. LBH went live for pensions administration on 27 September 2021, and WCC 
went live on 8 November 2021.  There was no impact on any existing partners 
or on the ability of the team to provide the usual high quality level of service to 
any of its membership from these on-boardings.  Increasing the number of 
partners has a positive impact on the service in terms of job security, career 
progression and presence in the LGPS. 

Climate Change Impact Assessment 

34. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools 
provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change 

targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does. 

35. The climate change and carbon control mitigation tools were not applicable for 
this report because the decisions in this report relate to the in-house 
management of the administration of the pension scheme and therefore have 
a neutral impact on climate change. 

 

 
 

Partner Employers Members

Hampshire LGPS 337 183,410

West Sussex LGPS 207 80,806

London Borough of Hillingdon LGPS 115 27,456

Westminster City Council LGPS 35 16,803

Hampshire Police 1 8,642

HIOWFRA and West Sussex Fire and Rescue Authority 2 5,457

Total 697 322,574

Page 35



 
 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 

This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision because the Pension Fund Panel and Board have a statutory 
responsibility for the administration of the pension scheme. 

 
 
 
 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

None  

 

Page 36



 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 

1. Equality Duty 

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 
sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 

 

Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by the 
information in this report as it affects all scheme members. 

Page 37



 

 

Page 38



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 

Decision Maker: Pension Fund Panel and Board 

Date: 10 December 2021 

Title: Pension Fund Business Plan 

Report From: Director of Corporate Operations 

 

Contact name: Andrew Boutflower 

Tel:    0370 779 6896 Email: andrew.boutflower@hants.gov.uk 

Purpose of this Report 

1. For the Pension Fund Panel and Board to approve the business plan and 
budget for the Pension Fund for 2022/23 to 2024/25. and receive projections 
for 2022/23. 

Recommendations 

2. That the business plan and budget for the Pension Fund for 2022/23 to 
2024/25 are approved. 

Background 

3. The Myners principles require pension funds to draw up a forward-looking 
business plan, including a training plan for both the trustees and officers 
involved in their management and administration. 

4. Following a review of the Pension Fund’s approach to reporting its Business 
Plan, the report has been expanded to include a number of other reports, 
such as the training plan and risk register, to produce a more consolidated 
document that links the Pension Fund’s activities to its budget. 

5. The Business Plan has also been expanded to importantly reflect that the 
majority of the Fund’s activity is its business-as-usual, as well the more one-
off, project-based activities that are captured in the traditional business plan. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 9



6. The Pension Fund continues to categorises its expenditure for the 
management of the Pension Fund according to CIPFA’s definitions; 
investment management, administration, and governance. 

2022/23 to 2024/25 Business Plan 

7. The new Business Plan for the Pension Fund is included in Annex 1. To 
better present the additional information and as part of the Fund’s aim to 
communicate better with scheme members, the Business Plan has been 
professionally designed to be more appealing and digestible for prospective 
readers. 

8. The Business Plan includes the key priorities for the Pension Fund, 
including: 

 The 2022 Actuarial Valuation and subsequent review of the Pension 
Fund’s investment strategy. 

 Continuing to function as a Responsible Investor and manage the risk 
of Climate Change for the Fund’s investments. 

 Implementing the necessary changes for Guaranteed Minimum 
Pension (GMP) reconciliation and McCloud. 

 Implementing the approach to cyber security. 

2022/23 to 2024/25 Budget 

9. Investment management costs are forecast based on estimated future asset 
values multiplied by the percentage fees charged by the Fund’s investment 
managers. The budget for investment management costs has been revised 
to £63m for 2021/22 to reflect the current increase in the market value of the 
Fund. 

10. The two key expenses for pension administration are staff and IT costs – 
predominantly the Civica UPM system.  The budget for administration 
remains well within the 0.3% of pensionable payroll for the Fund assumed by 
the Fund’s Actuary, and results in a cost per member of up to £15 by 
2024/25, which is one of the lowest across LGPS funds.   

11. Governance costs are expected to be relatively static for the next 3 years 
and includes the external services required by the Pension Fund of: internal 
and external audit, investment consultancy, actuarial services, independent 
advice to the Panel and Board, and internal and external legal support. 

Page 40



12. The budget that has been prepared reflects the costs of delivering the 
Pension Fund’s statutory responsibilities for the administration of the 
scheme and management of investments. The resources contained within 
the budget are sufficient to meet the Fund’s regulatory requirements and 
deliver at the high standards for administration that are reported to the Panel 
and Board. The new developments and initiatives that are included in the 
Fund’s Business Plan are also included in the budget. 

Climate Change Impact Assessments  

13. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools 
provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate 

change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does.  

14. The Pension Fund itself has a negligible carbon footprint, but it recognises 
that the companies and other organisations that it invests in will have their 
own carbon footprint and a significant role to play in the transition to a lower 
carbon economy. Therefore the Pension Fund recognises the risk that 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors including the impact of 
climate change can materially reduce long-term returns. The Pension Fund 
has a role to play as an investor, in ensuring that its investment managers 
are suitably considering the impact and contribution to climate change in 
their investment decisions and acting as a good steward to encourage these 
companies to play their part in reducing climate change. This is explained 
further in the Pension Fund’s Responsible Investment (RI) policy 
InvestmentStrategyStatementincludingRIpolicy.pdf (hants.gov.uk). 

15. The Pension Fund’s Business Plan sets out how it will continue its activities 
as a Responsible Investor, including monitoring and reporting the carbon 
exposure of its investments and working with its investment managers to 
reduce this exposure whilst continuing to make the investment returns 
required to meet the Fund’s obligations to pay pensions.

Page 41

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/pensions/InvestmentStrategyStatementincludingRIpolicy.pdf


 Integral Appendix A 
 

 
REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 

 
Links to the Strategic Plan 

 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

No 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

No 

 
OR 

 

This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision because: 
For the ongoing management of the Hampshire Pension Fund. 

 
 
 
 
 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

None  

 

Page 42



 Integral Appendix B 
 
 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 

1. Equality Duty 

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the 
Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set 
out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do 
not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 

Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by the proposals in 
this report as the proposals do not directly affect scheme members. 

 

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Business 
Plan
2021–2024

HAMPSHIRE
PENSION FUND

Page 45



3 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

This is the Business Plan for the Hampshire 
Pension Fund, which is part of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and has 
over 183,000 members, including over 45,000 
members in receipt of a pension. It makes 
investments so that it can pay pensions to these 
members when they reach retirement age. At its 
last financial year end – 31 March 2021, these 
investments were valued at £9.07bn.

Hampshire County Council is responsible for 
administering the Hampshire Pension Fund. 
It has delegated responsibility for this to 
the Pension Fund Panel and Board who are 
charged with the governance and management 
of the Pension Fund. The Panel and Board 
meets regularly and has 15 members, made 

up of 9 County Councillors, 3 scheme member 
representatives and 3 employer representatives. 
These membership arrangements have been 
designed to allow all key stakeholders to 
have the opportunity to be represented on 
the committee.

The Treasurer of the Pension Fund (Section 151 
Officer of the County Council) is the most senior 
officer responsible for the management and 
administration. Hampshire Pension Services 
carry out the day-to-day administration of 
the Fund. There are 59 full time equivalent 
(FTE) staff involved in the administration 
and governance of the Pension Fund, with 
the majority of these in the Member and 
Employer Services team.

Background Contents

3
Background

8
Business as usual

10
Business Plan 2021/22 

to 2023/24

14
2022/23 Budget

16
Risk Register

25
Training Policy and 

Plan 2021/22

Delivery and 
Compliance Finance Member 

Services

Head of Pension Administration

Senior Responsible Officer and  
Pension Fund Deputy CFO

Employer 
Services

Communications, 
projects and 
development

Investments

Head of 
Investments 

and Borrowing

2 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024

P
age 46



4 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024

The management and administration of the 
Pension Fund is carried out in conjunction with a 
number of key suppliers, in particular the Fund’s 
actuary — Aon, its bank — NatWest, custodian 
of the Fund’s investment — JP Morgan and 
the administration software supplier — Civica. 
More details of the Pension Fund’s suppliers, 
including its arrangements for investment 
management are contained in its Annual Report 
HampshirePensionFund2021.pdf  
(hants.gov.uk).

Hampshire is a member of the ACCESS pool (A 
Collaboration of Central, Eastern and Southern 
Shires) with 10 other Local Government Pension 
Scheme funds to meet the requirements of 
the requirements of the Government’s LGPS: 
Investment Reform Criteria and Guidance (2015), 
which set objectives for asset pooling in the 
LGPS. As of 31 March 2021, Hampshire had 
pooled 67% of its investments with ACCESS.

The ACCESS pool has agreed its own business 
plan for the development of the pool, including 
a pipeline allowing the authorities to pool more 
investments and further strengthening the 
governance and management of the pool. 

A key concern of the Pension Fund Panel 
and Board is that the Pension Fund acts as a 
good steward of its investments and with the 
principles of a responsible investor. The Pension 
Fund is a signatory of the Stewardship Code 
2020, Principles of Responsible Investment (PRI) 
and has adopted the principles of the Taskforce 
for Climate Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD).

Background continued

5 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

P
age 47



6 7 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

Governance 
• Act in the best interests of the Fund’s 

members and employers 
• Have robust governance arrangements 

in place, to facilitate informed decision 
making, supported by appropriate advice, 
policies and strategies 

• Ensure the Pension Fund is managed, and 
its services delivered, by people who have 
the appropriate knowledge and expertise 

• Act with integrity and be accountable 
to our stakeholders for our decisions, 
ensuring they are robust and well based 

• Understand and monitor risk 
• To make sure that the Fund follows 

best practice as recommended by the 
Government, the Scheme Advisory Board 
(SAB), the Pensions Regulator (TPR), the 
Local Government Pensions Committee 
(LGPC), the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and 
other organisations involved in the 
oversight in pensions.

• Comment fully on consultation papers 
dealing with pension matters in the 
interests of the Fund’s participating 
employers and members within the 
deadlines set.

• Clearly articulate our objectives and how 
we intend to achieve those objectives 
through business planning, and continually 
measure and monitor success 

• Ensure the confidentiality, integrity and 
accessibility of the Fund’s data, systems 
and services is protected and preserved. 

Investments and Funding
• To achieve a 100% funding level over the 

long term, which means that all current and 
future Fund liabilities can be met. 

• Determine employer contribution 
requirements, whilst recognising the 
constraints on affordability and strength 
of employer covenant, with the aim being 
to maintain stable employers’ contribution 
rates in the long term.

• Strike the appropriate balance between 
long-term consistent investment 
performance and the funding objectives 

• Ensure net cash outgoings can be met as/
when required 

• Ensure that the Fund’s appointed 
investment managers are implementing 
the Fund’s Responsible Investment policy.

Administration 
• Provide a high quality, professional, 

proactive, timely and customer focussed 
administration service to the Fund's 
stakeholders  

• Administer the Fund in a cost effective 
and efficient manner utilising technology 
appropriately to obtain value for money 

• Ensure the Fund's employers are aware 
of and understand their roles and 
responsibilities under the LGPS regulations 
and in the delivery of the administration 
functions of the Fund 

• Communicate in a clear, concise manner 
using the most appropriate means of 
communication, taking into account the 
different needs of different stakeholders, 
but with a default of using electronic 
communications where efficient and 
effective to do so. 

• Regularly evaluate the effectiveness 
of communications and shape future 
communications appropriately. 

Introduction

The Business Plan is an important document which sets out the aims and objectives of the 
Fund over the coming few years and the outcomes the Panel and Board want to achieve for 
its stakeholders. The Business Plan is one of a number of documents that govern how the 
Pension Fund is managed, these are:

• Funding Strategy Statement
• Investment Strategy Statement 

(including Responsible Investment Policy)
• Administration Strategy
• Communication Policy
• Employer Policy
• Conflicts Policy

• Business Plan (including Risk Register, Budget 
and Training Plan)

• Training Policy
• Governance Policy Statement and 

Governance Compliance Statement
• Representation Policy
• Cyber Compliance Statement

All of these policies are published on the Pension Fund’s website Policies | Hampshire County 
Council (hants.gov.uk) and are reviewed at least once a year, in December, by the Pension Fund 
Panel and Board.

The key actions and areas of focus in the business plan are grouped into the areas of governance,  
funding and investments, and administration; the objectives for these are summarised below.

The Fund’s overarching aims are set as follows: 

Governance: To put 
stakeholders at the 
centre of everything we 
do, act with integrity 
and be accountable for 
decisions made. This will 
be achieved through a 
robust, and well based 
governance framework 
which considers risk 
management, compliance 
and appropriate 
resourcing. 

Investments and Funding: 
To make the best use 
of our resources and 
minimise the long-term 
cash contributions which 
employers need to pay 
to the Fund. This will 
be achieved through 
recognising the link 
between assets and 
liabilities and adopting an 
investment strategy which 
balances risk and return. 

Administration and 
Communication: To 
continue to deliver a 
high-quality administration 
service to all stakeholders. 
This will be done through 
working closely with our 
partners and the continual 
review of processes and 
procedures to ensure 
that the Fund receives 
all income due and 
payments are made to 
the right people at the 
right time, there is clear 
communication with all 
stakeholders and robust 
accounting and reports.

P
age 48



8 9 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

Business as usual 
The business plan highlights the key 
priorities for the next three years. This 
focusses on areas of change and project 
like tasks which are in addition to day to 
day “business as usual” duties. On a day 
to day basis our focus is on the following 
key elements of Fund management.

Managing the Fund on a day to day basis 
involves a wide range of processes and 
procedures, some of which are outlined 
below and all of which have been designed 
around achieving our Fund’s objectives 
as outlined in our strategies and policies. 
The management of the Fund is significant, 
complex and highly regulated. As such, these 
processes and procedures require expert 
knowledge and experience from both officers 
and external advisors in several diverse areas 
as illustrated below. 

Governance 
• Setting the agenda, reporting and presenting 

to the Pension Fund Panel and Board and 
Responsible Investment sub-committee 

• Implementing and monitoring the 
achievement of other governance areas 
such as training policy, conflict of interest 
policy, risk register, and compliance against 
The Pension Regulator’s Code of Practice 

• Ensuring we adhere to Council and legal 
requirements for procurement, health & safety 
and data protection 

• Assisting internal and external audit in 
their role 

• Replying to Freedom of Information requests 

• Participation at the Joint Governance 
Committee and Officer Working Group of the 
ACCESS pool

• Preparing and publishing the Fund’s Annual 
Report and Statement of Accounts

• Preparing and monitoring of the Pension 
Fund’s Budget 

• Preparation of statutory and non-statutory 
returns as required 

• Maintaining the Pension Fund’s cashflow 
forecast 

• Quarterly invoicing of employers for pensions 
strain and added years

• Running an Annual Meeting for employers.

Investments and Funding 
• Arranging through the Actuary data 

required by the Government Actuary's 
Department (“GAD”) 

• Implementing and checking the 
appropriateness of the Investment Strategy 
every three years 

• Appointing, monitoring and dismissing of 
fund managers including within a pooling 
environment 

• Quarterly monitoring and reporting 
on investment performance and the 
funding position

• Working with other LGPS funds in the ACCESS 
pool through the Joint Governance Committee 
and Officer Working Group 

• Ensuring investment costs are fully disclosed 
in line with the Cost Transparency Initiative

• Monitoring and reporting on the Fund’s 
Responsible Investment Policy. 

Administration 
• Maintaining accurate and up to date 

scheme member records 
• Calculating and notifying entitlement to 

pension and death benefits 
• Providing estimates of retirement benefits 

including any additional costs to employers 
• Calculating and paying monthly pensions 

to all pensioners and beneficiaries 
• Producing Annual Benefit Statements for 

all active and deferred scheme members 
and payslips and P60s for pensioner 
members and making these documents 
available on the secure Portal 

• Providing ongoing information to scheme 
members and their beneficiaries as 
they join, leave or change their status 
in the Fund 

• Answering ad-hoc enquiries received 
by phone, email, letter or secure 
Portal message

• Maintaining the Fund’s website and 
the Member Portal and Employer Hub 

• Provide new employers with information 
about their Fund responsibilities 

• Providing ongoing training and technical 
updates to employers  

• Processing bulk updates to data such as 
annual pensions increases and year end 
employer returns 

• Administering the Fund’s Internal Dispute 
Resolution Procedure

• Providing information to the Fund’s actuary 
as required 

• Monitoring the employers’ funding 
positions and covenants including their 
ability to pay contributions and managing 
any employers who wish to join or leave 
the Fund 

• Completing statutory reporting 
requirements and other provision of 
information to stakeholders, including 
reporting against KPIs

• Maintaining and updating the pensions 
software system 

P
age 49



10 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024

Business plan
2021/22 to 2023/24

Item Context Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Governance

Good 
Governance

The SAB has approved Phase 3 
of its Good Governance Review 
that may now go forward to 
become Statutory Guidance and 
new Regulations

Implement the outcomes of 
the SAB Good Governance 
Review

● ●

TPR’s new 
Code of 
Practice

The Regulator has consulted on 
a new single code of practice 
which is expected to come into 
force in summer 2022

Assess the Fund’s compliance 
against the new code

●

Pooling 
Guidance

Central Governance published 
its original pooling guidance 
in 2015. The Ministry for 
Communities, Housing and Local 
Government MHCLG consulted 
on amendments in January 2019 
but no further amendments have 
since been made

Respond to further 
consultation on LGPS pooling 
guidance which is now 
expected

● ●

Panel and 
Board Roles

The terms of the Panel and 
Board representatives will 
expire as follow:
• deputy scheme member 

representative – May 2022 
• pensioner representative – 

May 2023 
• active and deferred scheme 

member representative, other 
employer representative – 
February 2024

Advertise for volunteers and 
manage a process to select 
a deputy scheme member 
representative and pensioner 
representative for the Panel 
and Board

● ●

New 
Knowledge 
and Skills 
Framework

CIPFA have published a 
new Knowledge and Skills 
Framework for members of 
Pension Fund committees

The new Knowledge and Skills 
Framework will be the basis of 
the Panel and Board’s Learning 
Needs Analysis and Training 
Plan in 2022

●

New Actuary 
Contract

The Pension Fund’s contract 
expires on 31 March 2023

A new contract will 
be tendered from the 
National Framework

●

Consultations 
responses

The Pension Fund will respond 
to all relevant consultations 
produced by Government and 
other regulatory bodies

Consultations are expected 
for changes to the local 
valuation cycle, management 
of employer risk, Fair Deal, 
Academies and adoption of 
TCFD principles, although 
exact timings aren’t yet known.

● ● ● ●

Item Context Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Funding and investment

Actuarial 
Valuation

The Fund’s next Actuarial 
Valuation is due on 31 March 
2022

Consider the results of 
the valuation

●

Pre-
payments

Subject to the terms of their 
participation in the Fund, 
employers are permitted 
to pre-pay contributions in 
return for a discount

Agree the terms for 
prepayments following 
the 2022 Valuation

●

Investment 
Strategy 
review

The Fund’s current 
Investment Strategy was 
agreed by the Panel and 
Board in February 2020

Review the Investment 
Strategy following the 
latest Actuarial Valuation 
and implement and 
necessary changes

● ●

Custodian 
contract

The Fund’s current custodian 
contract expires in August 
2022 and a new contract 
has been arranged from the 
LGPS National Framework

Transition to the new 
contract by August 2023

●

Climate 
Change risk

The Pension Fund has 
agreed its RI Policy which 
sets out how it expects 
its investment managers 
to consider the impact of 
Climate Change amongst of 
environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) factors in 
their investment decisions

Conduct initial scenario 
analysis on the risk of 
the impact of Climate 
Change on the Fund’s 
investments to be 
developed in future 
years.

● ● ● ●

Responsible 
Investment 
(RI)

Following the approval of 
a RI policy in July 2019 the 
Pension Fund commissioned 
a specialist RI consultant 
to review its investment 
managers and the ESG 
exposure in their portfolios

Repeat the RI review 
with the Pension Fund’s 
current investment 
managers and portfolios

● ●

Asset-
backed 
securities 
(ABS)

The Pension Fund first made 
a small investment in ABS 
pooled funds in October 
2019. Due to amendments in 
the Fund’s medium-term and 
strategic asset allocations the 
values of these investments 
has since grown

Consider whether 
the Pension Fund’s 
investment in ABS 
should be held in 
segregated accounts 
prior to potentially 
transferring to the 
ACCESS pool

● ●

Pooling  
Alternative 
Investments

The ACCESS pool will 
develop options for the 
partner authorities to invest 
in alternative investments

To consider the 
options available for 
transferring Hampshire’s 
uncommitted 
allocations to alternative 
investments to the 
ACCESS pool

● ● ●

11 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

P
age 50



12 13 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

Business plan continued
2021/22 to 2023/24

Item Context Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Administration

Guaranteed 
Minimum 
Pension (GMP) 
reconciliation

Ensure scheme records 
agree with those of 
the National Insurance 
Contribution Office (NICO, 
part of HMRC) 

Complete the 
rectification stage of 
the GMP reconciliation 
project

● ●

McCloud

Removal of the age 
discrimination which was 
introduced when the 
scheme was reformed 
in 2014

Receive and 
upload the required 
information from 
employers in 
anticipation of new 
regulations in 2023

● ● ●

Actuarial 
Valuation

Ensure that accurate 
scheme data is provided 
to allow the Fund Actuary 
to conduct the triennial 
valuation

Communicate with 
employers to ensure 
prompt return of 
accurate data and 
upload this into the 
administration system 
prior to producing the 
valuation extracts

●

Communications 
Strategy

Continue to offer members 
a variety of methods of 
communication but use 
electronic by default

Implement planned 
enhancements to the 
Member Portal and 
Employer Hub and 
continue working 
to promote these 
to members and 
employers

● ● ●

UPM 
development 
roadmap

Implementation of agreed 
improvements to the 
pension administration 
system

Deliver the planned 
improvements and roll 
these out to members, 
employers and staff

● ● ●

Cyber security

The Fund has to ensure it 
has a comprehensive cyber 
security plan in place which 
is regularly reviewed and 
tested

Complete annual 
assessment of 
external facing 
portals (Member 
and Employer) and 
resolve any identified 
issues.  Review 
and issue cyber 
statement and annual 
performance report

● ● ●

Item Context Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Exit cap

It is expected that DLUHC 
will come forward with new 
proposals for a cap on exit 
payments in 2021/2022

Ensure any calculation 
routines and 
communications 
with employers 
and members are 
updated to reflect the 
new requirements.  
Review the associated 
strain cost factors as 
appropriate

● ●

Goodwin

Removal of gender 
discrimination in relation 
to partners’ pensions 
– DHLUC is expected 
to come forward with 
amending regulations to 
implement this

Ensure any 
calculations and 
communications 
are updated to 
comply with any new 
requirements and 
consider any historic 
cases (if the changes 
are backdated)

●

P
age 51



14 15 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

No allowance has been made in the budget for 
the costs of GMP rectification work or for the 
implementation of the McCloud remedy which 
will be separately costed once the full scope of 
this work is known. 

Governance  
Governance costs fall into three main areas: 

• The internal costs of providing the 
administration and accounting function for 
the Pension Fund, managing its investment 
management contracts and providing the 
governance support to the Pension Fund 
Panel and Board. 

• The ongoing costs of setting up and running 
the ACCESS pool. 

• The external services required by the Pension 
Fund: internal and external audit, investment 
consultancy, actuarial services, independent 
advice to the Panel and Board, and internal 
and external legal support. 

Governance costs are expected to be relatively 
static for the next 2 years. There are additional 
costs projected in 2022/23 for the next Actuarial 
Valuation as at 31 March 2022. 

2022/23 Budget

Budget 
2021/22

£000

Budget 
2022/23

£000

Budget 
2023/24

£000

Budget 
2024/25

£000

Investment 
management fees 62,978 65,478 68,086 70,805

Staff 1,743 1,874 2,014 2,111

Premises 62 64 65 66

IT 300 310 317 320

Supplies & Services 275 282 288 297

Administrative Costs 2,380 2,530 2,684 2,794

Staff 410 430 452 471

Premises 5 5 5 5

IT 5 5 5 5

Supplies & Services 365 375 385 395

Oversight & 
Governance Costs 785 815 847 876

Management 
Expenses 66,143 68,823 71,617 74,475

2022/23 Budget
Investment management 
Investment management costs are derived 
from the percentage fees charged by the 
Fund’s investment managers, applied to 
the market value of the portfolios that they 
manage. Future years market values have 
been calculated based on the expected annual 
increases that the Fund’s Actuary has used in 
the 2019 Valuation applied to the investment 
management contracts that the Fund has in 
place. Actual investment management costs 
may be more or less than the budget depending 
on the market values each year. 

The budget for investment management costs 
has been revised to £63.0m in 2021/22 to 
reflect the increase in the market value of the 
Fund and an increasing allocation to alternative 
investments (property, infrastructure, private 
equity and private debt), which incur higher fees 
than listed investments, as set out in the Fund’s 
Investment Strategy Statement. 

Administration 
The two key expenses for pension 
administration are staff and IT costs.  Pension 
Services use the Civica UPM system which 
continues to drive efficiency savings allowing 
the service to be delivered in a cost effective 
way despite increasing pressures and growth 
in workloads. 

The budget for administration remains well 
within the 0.3% of pensionable payroll for the 
Fund assumed by the Fund’s Actuary, and 
results in a cost per member of around £15 
which is one of the lowest across LGPS funds.

The Pension Fund categorises its 
expenditure for the management 
of the Pension Fund according 
to CIPFA’s definitions; investment 
management, administration, and 
governance, which include the 
following: 

• Investment management – the cost 
of managing the Fund’s assets, which 
includes fees paid to the Fund’s 
investment managers and its custodian. 
This includes the fees that are not 
paid directly for pooled and other 
investments, such as sub-funds 
managed by Link as part of the ACCESS 
pool and alternative investments like 
Infrastructure and Private Equity.  

• Administration – all activities the 
Administering Authority must perform 
to administer entitlements and provide 
members with scheme and benefit 
entitlement information.  

• Governance – the costs of accounting 
for and monitoring the Pension Fund, 
plus the additional professional advice 
and support that is required by the Fund. 

The 2022/23 budget that has 
been prepared reflects the costs of 
delivering the Pension Fund’s statutory 
responsibilities for the administration of the 
scheme and management of investments. 
The resources contained within the budget 
are sufficient to meet the Fund’s regulatory 
requirements and deliver at the standards 
for administration that are reported to the 
Panel and Board. The new developments 
and initiatives that are included in the 
Fund’s Business Plan are also included 
in the budget. 

P
age 52



16 17 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

Risk register
Risk Description Likelihood Impact Mitigation

Employer risk These risks arise from 
the ever-changing mix of 
employers, from short-term 
and ceasing employers, 
and the potential for a 
shortfall in payments and/or 
orphaned liabilities.

These events could cause the 
risk of unexpected structural 
changes in the Fund’s 
membership and the related 
risk of an employer failing 
to notify the administering 
authority promptly.

M M The Administering Authority requires 
the other participating employers 
to communicate regularly with it on 
such matters. 

The Pension Fund Panel and Board 
have approved a Funding Strategy 
Statement that details how funding risk 
is mitigated for different employer types.  
The Administering Authority maintains a 
knowledge base on scheme employers, 
their basis of participation and their 
legal status (e.g. charities, companies 
limited by guarantee, group/subsidiary 
arrangements) and uses this information 
to inform the Funding Strategy Statement.  
The Fund’s Employer Policy outlines 
how the Administering Authority will 
deal with any situation resulting from 
a change in any Fund employer’s 
circumstances or new employers entering 
the Fund. The Administering Authority 
monitors the status of the employers in 
the Fund and discusses any changes, 
including any necessary changes 
to the Funding Strategy Statement, 
with the Fund’s Actuary. 

That an employer becomes 
insolvent and is no longer 
able to meet their obligations 
to the Fund.

The Pension Fund’s Funding Strategy 
Statement reflects that most of the 
employers in the Fund have a degree 
of Central Government support. Where 
this is not the case the Funding Strategy 
Statement sets out how this will be taken 
into account to manage the risk. The 
Employer Policy requires new employers 
to have a guarantor who would be called 
on in the event of an insolvency, and all 
charitable admission bodies now have 
a subsumption commitment from their 
associated local authority which helps to 
reduce any exit debt.

The Administering Authority has a written 
policy on how it would exercise its 
discretion to defer pension contributions 
in exceptional circumstances.

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Mitigation

Operational 
risk

That the activities of the 
Pension Fund are disrupted 
due to the loss of premises, 
staff or IT (for example as 
a result of a cyberattack 
or pandemic disease), 
either affecting the Pension 
Fund directly or one of its 
key suppliers.

H M Pension Services follow the Administering 
Authority’s Disaster Recovery policy 
that ensures that processes are in place 
to manage in the event of the loss of 
key resources. This includes the ability 
continue to deliver key services remotely, 
should this be necessary.

Part of the selection process for the 
Pension Fund’s key suppliers includes 
an assessment of their own disaster 
recovery capabilities.

Cyber risk That the systems used by the 
Pension Fund are breached 
intentionally or accidently 
resulting in unauthorised 
access to data.

M H Pension Fund IT systems sit within the 
County Council’s IT platforms and are 
subject to the corporate security controls 
and accreditations. Additional external 
security testing of the Member Portal and 
Employer Hub is conducted annually and 
vulnerabilities identified and fixed.

Accesses to systems are controlled with 
passwords and other security measures.  
Staff are required to comply with data 
handling procedures. 

Administration 
risk

The Pensions Regulator 
identifies the risks 
being around:

M M

Employer contribution 
monitoring: are employers 
paying the right amount of 
contributions on time?

M M Employer contributions are set out in the 
triennial valuation and the deadline for 
payment is set by Regulation as 22nd of 
the month.

Contributions are monitored and any late 
payments are reported to the Pension 
Fund Panel and Board. Any issues of 
‘material significance’ will be reported to 
the Regulator.

P
age 53



18 19 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Mitigation

Administration 
risk continued

Internal disputes: do these 
indicate wider problems in 
the Fund?

M M The full complaint process, going 
all the way though to the Pensions 
Ombudsman, is detailed on the 
Pension Services website.

All complaints are fully investigated 
and the outcome at each stage of the 
process reported in the Accounts.

Resourcing: conflicting 
priorities with servicing 
other partners.

M M Resourcing plans are in place to ensure 
services can be delivered to each partner. 
Project plans are in place that identify the 
requirements of each partner, including 
the on-boarding of new partners.

Investment risk Investment management 
underperformance – from 
the Fund’s investment 
managers failing to 
outperform their benchmark 
returns for prolonged 
periods of time.

M H The Fund’s investment managers’ 
performance is reviewed regularly by the 
Fund’s officers and reported regularly to 
the Panel and Board.

All of the Fund’s contracts for investment 
management contain the provision that 
the Fund can cancel the contract with 
1 month’s notice in the event of poor 
investment performance.

Market risk – from 
fluctuations in market prices, 
which is particularly relevant 
for investments in equities.

M H The Panel and Board have set a 
diversified asset allocation which limits 
exposure to any one particular market.

The Fund contracts with specialist 
external investment managers and 
as a general principle aims to invest 
globally and set mandates for investment 
managers that give them as much 
freedom as possible, in order to manage 
market conditions as they see fit.

Interest rate risk – which 
can affect the prices of 
investments that pay a fixed 
interest rate.

M H The Fund contracts with specialist 
external investment managers and as a 
general principle aims to set mandates 
for investment managers that give them 
as much freedom as possible, in order 
to manage risks such as changes in 
interest rates.

Risk register continued
Risk Description Likelihood Impact Mitigation

Administration 
risk continued

Record-keeping: how 
comfortable are you that 
your records are complete 
and accurate? 

M M The Administration Strategy is the 
agreement between the Hampshire 
Pension Fund and all participating Bodies, 
in which all parties commit to certain 
principles, including:

• to provide a high quality pension service 
to members

• to take responsibility to provide accurate 
and timely information

•  that the results are reported to the 
Panel & Board twice a year.

The annual returns exercise is completed 
each year and employer performance is 
monitored with processes in place to help 
improve this where necessary.

The Compliance and Delivery Manager 
is responsible for ensuring that data is 
complete and accurate in line with TPR 
requirements and that any actions on the 
data improvement plan are implemented.  
The Administering Authority has 
implemented a data analysis tool which 
provides daily management information 
on potential data issues.

Internal controls: has the 
Fund put in practice a policy 
to identify risks and arranged 
for these to be managed or 
mitigated?

M M Both Internal Audit and External Audit 
carry out work to assess the internal 
controls and this is reported to the 
Panel & Board.

Member communication: 
are these always accurate, 
timely, clear and provide the 
information members are 
interested in?

M M There is a Communications Policy 
and Customer Charter on the Pension 
Services website, which details the 
service our scheme members can 
expect. The Fund’s website and Member 
Portal are being reviewed to increase 
the information available to members, 
including on Responsible Investment and 
the activities of the Panel and Board.

P
age 54



20 21 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Mitigation

Investment risk 
continued

Currency risk – the risk 
of fluctuations in prices of 
financial instruments that are 
denominated in any currency 
other than the functional 
currency of the Fund 
(GB pounds)

M H As a UK Pension Fund the Panel and 
Board consider that the Pension Fund 
should have a significant proportion of its 
assets denominated in Sterling, thereby 
removing the currency risk.

The Panel and Board keep their view 
of the long term nature of currency 
movements under review and will seek 
specialist advice if they believe that this 
might change or there is likely to be an 
event that might crystallise the effect of 
particular currency movements. Where 
investment returns in particular asset 
classes are at risk of disproportionate 
currency effects (such as Multi-asset 
Credit and Private Debt) the investments 
are hedged back to Sterling. In addition 
having taken advice to mitigate the 
overall currency impact on the Pension 
Fund, the passive global equity 
investments is hedged back to Sterling.

Credit risk – the risk that the 
counterparty to a transaction 
or a financial instrument 
will fail to discharge an 
obligation and cause the 
Fund to incur a financial 
loss. This includes the 
risk of loss in the Stock 
Lending programme which 
Hampshire participates in via 
the ACCESS pool.

The Panel and Board have set a 
diversified asset allocation which limits 
exposure to any particular investment, 
with further limits set in the Investment 
Strategy Statement to limit the Fund’s 
exposure to particular vehicles or assets. 
The ACCESS pool’s stock lending 
programme is protected by collateral 
managed by the Fund’s custodian.

Refinancing risk – that the 
Pension Fund could be 
bound to replace on maturity 
a significant proportion of 
its financial instruments 
at a time of unfavourable 
interest rates.

The Fund contracts with specialist 
external investment managers and 
as a general principle aims to make 
their portfolios ‘ever-green’ so that 
income and maturing investments can 
be reinvested, allowing investment 
managers to build portfolios that do not 
have a concentration of investments with 
a particular maturity date.

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Mitigation

Investment risk 
continued

Custody risk – losing 
economic rights to Fund 
assets, when held in custody 
or being traded.

M H The Panel and Board and the Fund’s 
officers regularly monitor the performance 
of the Fund’s custodian and have the 
power to replace the provider should 
serious concerns exist.

Liability risk – that the 
Fund’s liabilities are not 
accurately calculated 
resulting in the return 
target being too low and 
employers’ contributions 
having to rise.

The County Council as the Fund’s 
Administering Authority will ensure that 
the Fund’s Actuary investigates the 
main factors that determine the Fund’s 
liabilities, such as interest rates, inflation, 
life expectancy and other demographics. 
The Fund’s Actuary will report and agree 
with the Administering Authority any 
necessary changes to their assumptions.

Environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) factors, 
including the impact of 
climate change – that these 
factors materially reduce 
long-term returns.

As set out in the Fund’s Responsible 
Investment Policy, the Fund’s external 
investment managers are required to 
consider ESG factors in their investment 
decisions, including any negative 
contribution to climate change and the 
overall risk from the impact of climate 
change, and to exercise the Fund’s 
responsibility to vote on company 
resolutions wherever possible. They 
have also been instructed to intervene 
in companies that are failing, thus 
jeopardising the Fund’s interests, 
by voting or by contacting company 
management directly.

Regulatory risk – that 
inhibits the Pension 
Fund Panel and Board’s 
fiduciary duty.

The Fund will be proactive in engaging 
with the Government, including 
responding to consultation, on any issues 
affecting the management and investment 
of Pension Fund monies.

Illiquidity – that the Fund 
is unable to meet its 
immediate liabilities.

The Fund maintains a cashflow forecast 
to ensure that it can plan suitably in 
advance to ensure that it has sufficient 
cash available.

The Fund’s asset allocation is set to 
achieve a balance between liquid and 
illiquid investments.

Risk register continued

P
age 55



22 23 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Mitigation

Liability risk The main risks include 
interest rates, pay and price 
inflation, life expectancy, 
changing retirement patterns 
and other demographic 
risks that will impact on the 
Actuary’s calculation of the 
Fund’s liabilities and reduce 
the Fund’s funding ratio.

M M The County Council as the Fund’s 
Administering Authority will ensure that 
the Fund’s Actuary investigates the 
main factors that determine the Fund’s 
liabilities, such as interest rates, inflation, 
life expectancy and other demographics. 

The Fund’s Actuary will report and agree 
with the Administering Authority any 
necessary changes to their assumptions 
and the resulting impact on the Fund’s 
employers’ contributions.

Funding risk The Government Actuary’s 
Department (GAD) has been 
appointed by the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG) 
to provide a report under 
Section 13 of the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013 
when an actuarial valuation 
of the LGPS has been carried 
out. Their report must cover:

• whether the fund’s valuation 
is in accordance with the 
scheme regulations

• whether the fund’s 
valuation has been carried 
out in a way which is not 
inconsistent with the other 
fund valuations within 
the LGPS

• whether the rate of 
employer contributions is 
set at an appropriate level 
to ensure the solvency of 
the pension fund and the 
long-term cost-efficiency 
of the scheme, so far as 
relating to the pension fund.

These requirements have 
statutory force with effect 
from the 2016 valuations 
in England and Wales.

M H Any relevant measures and scores will 
be regularly reported to the Pension 
Fund Panel and Board. Appropriate 
financial assumptions were agreed with 
the Fund Actuary for the 2019 valuation. 
The Section 13 report will be reviewed 
and amber or red flags will be reviewed 
with the Fund’s actuary and reported to 
the Pension Fund Panel and Board with 
proposed mitigations.

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Mitigation

Funding risk 
continued

Funds are assessed against 
a number of measures and 
scored as:

Red – potentially a material 
issue that might contribute 
to a recommendation 
for remedial action to 
ensure solvency

Amber – highlights a 
possible risk

Green – no material issue 
that might contribute 
to a recommendation 
for remedial action to 
ensure solvency.

GAD will then engage with 
Funds with any amber or 
red flags.

M H Any relevant measures and scores will 
be regularly reported to the Pension 
Fund Panel and Board. Appropriate 
financial assumptions were agreed with 
the Fund Actuary for the 2019 valuation. 
The Section 13 report will be reviewed 
and amber or red flags will be reviewed 
with the Fund’s actuary and reported to 
the Pension Fund Panel and Board with 
proposed mitigations.

Regulatory and 
compliance risk

Regulatory risks relate to 
changes in LGPS regulations, 
including national pensions 
legislation and HM Revenue 
and Customs rules.

M M The Administering Authority will keep 
abreast of proposed changes to the LGPS, 
taking the necessary legal, actuarial or 
investment advice necessary to interpret 
the changes. Any resulting changes in 
policy will be reported to the Pension 
Fund Panel and Board for approval.

Risk register continued

P
age 56



24 25 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Mitigation

Governance 
risk

That decision making and 
control of the Pension Fund 
is lacking or inappropriate 
or undertaken by persons 
without suitable knowledge 
or experience.

M L The Pension Fund Panel and Board 
has documented Terms of Reference 
and Operating Procedures. The Panel 
and Board will consider all items that 
are material to the management of 
Hampshire Pension Fund and are 
supported by suitably qualified officers. 
Members of the Pension Fund Panel 
and Board complete a Training Needs 
Analysis based on CIPFA’s Knowledge 
and Skills Framework and undertake 
identified training activities as necessary.

Pooling risk That the investment pool 
which Hampshire has 
joined does not function 
effectively, including due 
to underperformance 
by a supplier appointed 
by the pool, such as the 
Authorised Contractual 
Scheme Operator, and 
provide the investments 
that Hampshire requires 
in order to implement its 
Investment Strategy.

M M The Chairman of the Panel and Board 
supported by the Pension Fund’s officers 
take an active part in the operation 
of the ACCESS pool to ensure its 
continued effectiveness.

The Panel and Board and officers will 
continue to monitor the suitability of 
the Pension Fund’s investments and 
where necessary consider appropriate 
alternatives available via ACCESS. 

Contractual 
risk

The contractual 
arrangements between the 
County Council (on behalf 
of the Pension Fund) and 
its suppliers are challenged 
as unlawful.

L H The Pension Fund receives advice 
from the County Council’s Legal and 
Procurement staff about the most 
appropriate contractual arrangements to 
put in place to meet its legal obligations.

Risk register continued
Training Policy and Plan
2021/22

Background
Hampshire County Council as the administering 
authority for the Hampshire Pension Fund has 
delegated responsibility for the management 
of the Pension Fund to the Pension Fund Panel 
and Board.

The Pension Fund Panel and Board fully 
supports the principle that Panel and Board 
members and officers have a duty to undertake 
all training on pension fund matters that is 
necessary to be able to fulfil their duties to the 
appropriate standard.  Opportunities are made 
available to members and officers to attend 
training courses and seminars when necessary 
and appropriate.

This training policy and plan has been 
prepared for the Pension Fund Panel and 
Board for 2021/22. As the Panel and Board’s 
responsibilities include both investment 
management of the Pension Fund and pensions 
administration, the training policy and plan also 
covers both areas.  

This training policy and plan has been updated 
to reflect training requirements identified by 
the completion of the detailed Training Needs 
Analyses carried out by members of the Panel 
and Board in 2021.  

Training Policy
As an administering authority of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), 
Hampshire County Council recognises the 
importance of ensuring that all officers and 
members charged with financial management 
and decision making for the pension scheme 
are fully equipped with the knowledge and skills 
to discharge the duties and responsibilities 
allocated to them.

It therefore seeks to appoint individuals who are 
both capable and experienced and will provide 
and arrange training for relevant officers and 
members.  The training is designed to enable 
officers and members to acquire and maintain 
an appropriate level of expertise, knowledge, 
and skills.

A formal training plan is prepared each year to 
identify and meet the training needs of the Panel 
and Board, both as a group and as individuals, 
and is based upon the recommendations of 
the CIPFA Pensions Finance Knowledge and 
Skills Framework.

The Director of Corporate Operations of the 
County Council is responsible for ensuring 
that policies and strategies are implemented. 
Pension Fund Panel and Board members 
training is evaluated, recorded and reported as 
part of the Fund’s Annual Report each year. 

Each individual officer’s training needs are 
assessed annually and training plans prepared 
for each section and department within the 
County Council.  The actual training provided is 
evaluated each year to assess its effectiveness 
against the aims and objectives identified prior 
to the training event.  In addition, professional 
finance staff in the Corporate Operations 
Directorate are required by the accountancy 
bodies to maintain their levels of Continuing 
Professional Development. 

P
age 57



26 27 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

It is a legal requirement, as set out under section 
248A of the Pensions Act 2004, that every 
individual who is a member of a Local Pension 
Board must be conversant with: 

• the rules of the scheme, in other words 
the Regulations and other regulations 
governing the LGPS (including the Transitional 
Regulations, earlier regulations and the 
Investment Regulations); and 

• any document recording policy about the 
administration of the scheme which is for 
the time being adopted in relation to the 
scheme; and 

• have knowledge and understanding of: 
• the law relating to pensions; and 
• such other matters as may be prescribed.

The Myners principles codify the best practice 
in investment decision-making for pension 
fund management. The principles require 
pension fund trustees to consider how the 
principles apply to their own fund and report 
on a ‘comply or explain’ basis. Training is a key 
factor within Principle 1 which covers effective 
decision-making:

• trustees should ensure that decisions are 
taken by persons or organisations with the 
skills, knowledge, advice and resources 
necessary to take them effectively and 
monitor their implementation

• trustees should have sufficient expertise to 
be able to evaluate and challenge the advice 
they receive and manage conflicts of interest.

The Government also requires LGPS funds to 
publish a Governance Policy Statement which 
includes a section on Training. A Governance 
Compliance Statement is also required which 
sets out the Pension Fund’s compliance with the 
following principle on Training, Facility, Time, 
and Expenses:

• that in relation to the way in which the 
administering authority takes statutory and 
related decisions, there is a clear policy on 
training, facility time and reimbursement 
of expenses for members involved in the 
decision-making process

• that where such a policy exists, it applies 
equally to all members of committees, sub-
committees, advisory panels or any other form 
of secondary forum

• that the administering authority considers 
adopting annual training plans for committee 
members and maintains a log of all such 
training undertaken.

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) published a guide to the 
requirements for the Governance Compliance 
Statements in the context of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
publication ‘Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government: Framework (2007)’. The 
CIPFA guide links the principle in paragraph 11 
above to the Framework’s principles of:

• performing effectively in clearly defined 
functions and roles, and 

• developing the capacity and capability of the 
governing body to be effective.

The CIPFA guide includes the further comment 
that the principle in paragraph 11 is aimed 
at making sure that all those serving on 
committees, sub-committees and panels receive 

levels of training that are appropriate to their 
needs and that suitable arrangements are made 
to ensure that this is properly resourced in terms 
of both time and finance. 

The Panel and Board fully endorse the 
importance placed on training in these 
principles. With this training plan and the 
training logs maintained by all Panel and Board 
members, the Hampshire Pension Fund is in full 
compliance with this principle.

CIFPA have also published a Code of Practice 
on Public Sector Pensions Finance Knowledge 
and Skills, which Hampshire Pension Fund has 
adopted. This requires policies and procedures 
to be in place for the effective acquisition and 

retention of the relevant knowledge and skills 
for those in the organisation responsible for 
financial administration and decision making. 

The policies and procedures will be guided 
by reference to the CIPFA Pensions Finance 
Knowledge and Skills Framework, which gives 
technical guidance for elected representatives 
and officers on the knowledge required. 

The Code of Practice also requires an 
annual statement on how these policies and 
procedures have been put into practice, from 
2012/13 onwards. A disclosure was included in 
the Annual Report and Accounts 2012/13 and 
will continue going forward.

Training Policy and Plan continued
2021/22

P
age 58



28 29 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

Pension Fund Panel and Board 
There are 19 members of the Pension Fund 
Panel and Board, as listed in Table 1. The table 
shows the experience of Panel and Board 

members in terms of their length of service 
on the Pension Fund Panel and Board.  

Table 1

Member Membership of the Pension Fund Panel and Board

County Councillors:
Mark Kemp-Gee (Chairman) 16 years
Tom Thacker (Vice Chairman) 12 years
Dominic Hiscock New Member
Alan Dowden 4 years with previous membership on the  

Pension Fund Panel
Jonathan Glen 4 years
Rob Mocatta New Member
Andrew Joy 8 years
Alex Crawford New Member
Derek Mellor 4 years

County Council deputies:
David Drew New Member
Tim Davies New Member
Kim Taylor New Member
Jacky Tustain New Member

City Councils’ representative:  
Rob Harwood New Member
Cal Corkery 1 year

District councils’ representative:
Paul Taylor 1 year

Other employers’ representative:
Liz Bartle 1 year

Pensioners’ representative
Cliff Allen 7 years

Deferred members’ representative:
Lindsay Gowland 1 year

Employees’ representative:
Neil Wood 5 years
Sarah Manchester 3 years

The Panel and Board has a mixture of 
experienced members, who have served at 
least one full four-year term as members of the 
Panel and Board, and more recently appointed 
members. Panel and Board members also 

have a range of relevant experience from 
their working lives which includes, in some 
cases, the financial services industry and the 
City of London. 

Access to training
Training opportunities are made available 
equally to all members of the Pension Fund 
Panel and Board, including the co-opted 
representatives of the city councils, district 
councils, pensioners and contributors as 
well as the county councillors. The full cost 
of attending training is met by the Pension 
Fund, including course fees, reasonable 
travel and accommodation costs.

The Panel and Board have considered 
making attendance at training courses 
compulsory for Pension Fund Panel and 
Board members. This suggestion reflected 
the increasing complexity and profile of 
pension matters and the need for Panel 
and Board members to keep up to date 
with current developments at a time of 
heightened scrutiny. However, whilst it is 
important that Panel and Board members 
prepare themselves properly to fulfil their 
responsibilities, it would not be practical 
to make attendance at training events a 
condition of Panel and Board membership. 
The suitability and fitness of members for 
their role is best left to the Panel and Board 
itself to monitor. 

Each year, in order to ensure compliance 
with the CIPFA Code of Practice, Panel 
and Board members complete a detailed 
individual Training Needs Analysis. The 
purpose of this exercise is to allow Panel and 
Board members to consider their current 
level of knowledge and identify the topics 
on which they would like to have additional 
training. The Training Needs Analysis was 
designed around the CIPFA Pensions 
Finance Knowledge and Skills Framework for 
Elected Representatives and Non-Executives 
in the Public Sector, and the CIPFA Technical 
Knowledge and Skills Framework for Local 

Pension Boards, in order to ensure the Panel 
and Board meet the requirements set out in 
the guidance referenced in the regulations. 
An updated CIPFA Knowledge and Skills 
Framework is expected shortly and the 
Training Needs Analysis will be updated 
accordingly going forward. The outcome of 
the Training Needs Analysis for 2021/22 was 
discussed by the Panel and Board and as 
a result, eight training sessions have been 
planned for 2021/22 and 2022/23 which 
directly relate to the training needs identified.

The Director of Corporate Operations’ staff 
have developed a collection of training 
resources, which Panel and Board members 
will be able to refer to in order to obtain 
more information about areas where they 
have a specific training need, in addition to 
the Panel and Board-wide training proposals 
outlined above. The collection of training 
resources contains slides and supplementary 
materials, where appropriate, (and more 
recently recordings) for all the internal 
training sessions carried out since 2009, 
which cover a wide range of topics. There 
are also other useful documents available 
which can help fill any knowledge gaps, 
as well as template forms and links to the 
Pension Fund’s annual report, statutory 
statements, and latest actuarial valuation. 
The collection of training resources will 
be updated whenever new material is 
available. The officers are exploring what the 
best possible IT solution is to transfer the 
training materials to an online library to allow 
members to log in and access as required; 
details will be provided to Panel and Board 
members once the project is complete.

Training Policy and Plan continued
2021/22

P
age 59



30 31 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024 hampshirepensionfund.co.uk

Online learning opportunities
A number of online training facilities on pension 
fund matters have been developed by various 
organisations in recent years. From 2021/22 
Panel and Board members and officers will 
have access to Hymans Robertson’s LGPS 
Online Learning Academy, and will be expected 
to complete all 5 modules within 12 months. 
The online platform is designed to support 
the training needs of Pension Committees, 
Pension Boards and Fund Officers and consists 
of a series of short video presentations with 
supplemental learning materials and quizzes. 
Further information on the LGPS Online Learning 
Academy is available at the following website: 
LGPS Online Learning Academy - Hymans 
Robertson

In addition, the Trustee Toolkit is available 
for free from the Pension Regulator at the 
following website: http://www.trusteetoolkit.
thepensionsregulator.gov.uk. This toolkit 
provides an introduction to pension scheme 
investing, running a pension scheme, the role 
of the trustee, pension law etc. It was designed 
to meet the requirements of trustee knowledge 
and understanding required under the Pensions 
Act 2004. In early 2015, the Pensions Regulator 
released an on-line training resource to assist 
those involved in Public Sector Schemes. This is 
accessed via the Trustee Toolkit and comprises 
an additional seven modules covering the key 
themes in the Code of Practice on governance 
and administration of public service schemes.

Proposed training in 2021/22 and 2022/23
This training plan for 2021/22 has been 
designed to cater for the needs of the recently 
elected Panel and Board members as well 
as providing an opportunity to update and 
refresh the knowledge of the more experienced 
members of the Panel and Board. 

The Panel and Board has agreed that the 
equivalent of two in-house training half-days 
should be arranged for Panel and Board 
members each year as stand-alone sessions. 
Table 2 sets out the programme for 2021/22 
and 2022/23, which has been formulated based 
upon key learning points from the Training 
Needs Analysis, and recommendations from 
Panel and Board members. 

Table 2 – Proposals for the Panel and Board’s 
training sessions in 2021/22 and 2022/23

These training sessions will also be useful for 
the Audit Committee in carrying out their role 
to receive and consider audit reports relating to 
the Pension Fund Panel and Board, as stated in 
the Hampshire County Council Constitution.

These bespoke training sessions will be 
complimented by a range of other training 
opportunities which will be made available to 
Panel and Board members during the year.

These include many webinars, seminars and 
courses on pension fund matters provided 
each year by various organisations. Some 
are specifically tailored for LGPS funds, such 
as the Local Government Chronicle’s annual 
Investment and Pensions Summit held in 
September each year. The Pension Fund’s 
investment managers hold annual client 
conferences and the Fund’s actuary Aon 
also provides training events. The Director of 
Corporate Operations’ staff will continue to 
circulate details of these training opportunities 
to members.

When new members are appointed to the Panel 
and Board, the training proposed is as follows: 

• Attending the “Fundamentals” course held 
by the Local Government Association, which 
specifically covers the basics for the LGPS. 

• Attending the training sessions to be held 
during 2021/22.

• Completing the Training Needs Analysis for 
Panel and Board members, to help identify 
any additional training requirements.

• Informing new members of any external 
conferences and training opportunities 
in the future, along with the rest of the 
Panel and Board.

Reports to the Panel and Board by the officers 
on new developments in pension fund matters 
will continue to include background briefing 
information and this will provide another means 
by which Panel and Board members can keep 
up-to-date and develop their knowledge. 

Panel and Board members will also be able to 
undertake background reading on pension fund 
matters and this too can contribute to meeting 
their training needs.

Year Topics

2021/22 Pensions administration 
strategy / update

Asset Backed Securities 
(Insight/24AM)

Hymans Robertson LGPS 
Online Learning Academy

Residential Property

2022/23 Triennial valuation 
(fund actuary)

Investment strategy 
(investment consultant)

Taskforce on Climate 
related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD)
Pooling update 
(Andrew Boutflower)

Training Policy and Plan continued
2021/22

Training budget
Table 3 shows the training budget for 
2020/21, with the actuals for comparison, 
together with the proposed budget for 
2021/22. 

The budget for 2021/22 includes three 
places at the LGC Investment & Pensions 
Summit. In previous years the budget 
has included two places at the LGC 
Investment Seminar, however during 2021 
the LGC Investment Seminar is virtual 
and free of charge. The budget also 
includes the provision for four members 
of the Panel and Board to attend the LGA 
Fundamentals course. 

Training costs are met from the 
administration costs of the Pension Fund. 
“Virement” between courses within the 
budget is possible, should the Panel and 
Board feel it would meet training needs 
better to prioritise different events.

P
age 60



32 Hampshire Pension Fund Business Plan 2021-2024

2020/21 
Budget 

(£)

2020/21 
Actuals 

(£)

2021/22 
Budget 

(£)

Attendance at Conferences / Seminars etc.

LGC Investment & Pensions Summit  
(Leeds, September) 3,000 789 3,000

LGC Investment Seminar (virtual, December) 1,260 0 0

LG Employers Fundamentals Course 0 0 4,000

Hymans Learning Academy 0 0 5,000

Other conferences 0 345 0

4,260 1,134 12,000

In-house training sessions

Fees paid to trainers 0 0 3,000

Other costs 160 0 200

160 0 3,200

Total training budget 4,420 1,134 15,200

Table 3 – Training budget

Training logs
Training logs are maintained by each member 
of the Panel and Board to provide evidence of 
the Panel and Board’s commitment to training. 
They record the actual training undertaken 
during the year, including details of all relevant 
training courses, seminars and events attended 
by each member. The training logs include an 
assessment of whether each training event has 
fulfilled the need it was intended to meet. 

Training Policy and Plan continued
2021/22

Evaluation 
The actual training undertaken by Panel 
and Board members in 2021/22 will be 
evaluated using the training logs to assess 
whether it has fulfilled the training need 
identified at the outset. In addition, Panel 
and Board members complete a short 
evaluation form after each training event 
in order to share feedback about events, 
and report on whether an event was useful 
and well delivered. This information will 
be used to design the training plan for 
the following year.

P
age 61



Hampshire Pension Fund
The Castle,  
Winchester,  
Hampshire  
SO23 8UB.

Page 62



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 

Decision Maker: Pension Fund Panel & Board 

Date: 10 December 2021 

Title: Governance: Good Governance Review Update  

Report From: Director of Corporate Operations 

Contact name: Andrew Boutflower 

Tel:    0370 779 2620 Email: andrew.boutflower@hants.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of this Report 

1. This report outlines the Pension Fund’s progress against the recommendations 
of the Scheme Advisory Board’s (SAB) Good Governance Review including the 
Fund’s documents for review that fulfil the Good Governance review. 

Recommendations 

2. That the Pension Fund Panel and Board note the Fund’s progress against the 
SAB’s Good Governance review in the Shadow Governance Compliance 
Statement and approve the following documents that form the Fund’s 
Governance Framework: 

 Conflicts of Interest Policy (Appendix 1) 

 Funding Strategy Statement (Appendix 2) 

 Employer Policy (Appendix 3) 

 Administration Strategy Statement – including Decision Matrix (Appendix 4) 

 Business Plan, including the Fund’s Budget, Risk Register and Training 
Plan (presented elsewhere on this agenda) 

 Investment Strategy Statement (Appendix 5) 

 Representation Policy (Appendix 6) 

 Communication Policy Statement (Appendix 7) 

 Governance Policy and Compliance Statement - current version (Appendix 
8) 

Background 

3. In 2019 the consultancy firm Hymans Robertson was appointed by the Scheme 
Advisory Board (SAB) to facilitate a review of governance structures for the 

Page 63

Agenda Item 10



LGPS. Phase I1 of the review involved a comprehensive consultation exercise to 
collect the views of stakeholders, culminating in a report in July 2019. This report 
was accepted by the SAB and identified that no single governance model was 
suitable for all funds and that the focus should instead be on outcomes 
assessed against a governance framework. Phase II2 of the review then 
involved further development of the ideas from Phase I, which was done through 
two working groups representing all areas of the LGPS, as well as The Pensions 
Regulator and MHCLG.  

4. Phase III3 of the reporting was agreed in February 2021 and built on the 
recommendations agreed in 2019 with further input from a range of scheme 
stakeholders and an action plan for the SAB and MHCLG (as was). The 
recommendations to date have not yet been translated into statutory guidance 
by Government, however the Pension Fund has taken the opportunity to 
continue to review its current governance arrangements in line with the outcome 
of the Good Governance review. 

5. The purpose of this paper is to review the proposed Governance Compliance 
Statement that was agreed as part of the Good Governance review and show 
how Hampshire meets the required outcomes, with links to the documents that 
form the Pension Fund’s governance framework, which the Panel and Board are 
also being asked to approve. These documents were traditionally referred to as 
the Pension Fund’s Statutory Statements, which the Panel and Board were 
asked to review each December. 

Senior Responsible Officer 

6. The Good Governance Review has introduced the concept of a Senior 
Responsible Officer for each LGPS fund. The Senior Responsible Officer is 
responsible for the delivery of the LGPS function in its entirety, with suitable 
qualifications, experience and capacity. The Senior Responsible Officer needs to 
be close enough to the running of the fund to have sight of all aspects of its 
business and be able to identify the necessary resources to deliver the business 
to the required standard. Following the changes to the Council’s senior 
management structure, the Deputy Chief Finance Officer to the Pension Fund 
will be the Senior Responsible Officer for the Pension Fund. This role does not 
change the responsibilities of the CFO of the Pension Fund, which remains with 
the Director of Corporate Operations.  

                                            

1 https://www.hymans.co.uk/insights/research-and-publications/publication/good-governance-in-the-
lgps-report/ 
2 https://www.hymans.co.uk/insights/research-and-publications/publication/good-governance-in-the-
lgps-phase-2-report/ 
3 LGPS Scheme Advisory Board - Good Governance (lgpsboard.org) 

Page 64

https://www.hymans.co.uk/insights/research-and-publications/publication/good-governance-in-the-lgps-report/
https://www.hymans.co.uk/insights/research-and-publications/publication/good-governance-in-the-lgps-phase-2-report/
https://www.hymans.co.uk/insights/research-and-publications/publication/good-governance-in-the-lgps-report/
https://www.hymans.co.uk/insights/research-and-publications/publication/good-governance-in-the-lgps-report/
https://www.hymans.co.uk/insights/research-and-publications/publication/good-governance-in-the-lgps-phase-2-report/
https://www.hymans.co.uk/insights/research-and-publications/publication/good-governance-in-the-lgps-phase-2-report/
https://lgpsboard.org/index.php/good-governance


Policy changes 

7. The framework of governance documents now includes a Conflicts Policy 
following the best practice recommendations of the Good Governance Review. 
The proposed draft policy, contained in Appendix A, will require Pension Fund 
Panel and Board members and officers to complete a declaration of interest 
form each year. 

8. The Pension Fund’s Discretions Policy (referred to in the Good Governance 
review as a Decision Matrix) which is contained in Appendix C of the 
Administration Strategy, has been updated to included additional decisions for 
the Fund’s investments. 

9. Under the existing Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) and Employer Policy, 24 
closed employers are on the Ongoing Orphan Funding Target (OOFT).  These 
employers will leave orphan liabilities in the Fund when their last active member 
leaves as there is no ongoing employer to pay for those liabilities in the future.  

10. The funding target seeks to minimise the investment risk to ongoing employers 
by assuming investment in government index linked gilts post exit (effectively 
pre funding for exit). Index linked gilt yields have continued to fall in recent years 
which increases the cost to employers on the OOFT. Aon was asked to review 
the index linked gilts approach to ensure it continues to be a suitable policy for 
the Fund or if there were viable alternatives. The report concluded that the index 
linked gilts approach remained a practical, cost effective approach which 
materially reduces the risk for other employers in the Fund and is the most 
common approach adopted by LGPS Funds. The draft FSS and Investment 
Strategy Statement (ISS) have been updated to explicitly state that the Fund will 
notionally allocated index linked gilts to meet orphan liabilities (see section 4.1 of 
the FSS and Strategic Asset Allocation section of the ISS, both highlighted in 
green). 

11. In keeping the index linked gilts approach, Aon were also asked to calculate the 
impact of the changes in the gilts market on affordability for the 24 affected 
employers. Aon compared the exit positions using gilt yields as at the 2019 
valuation and as at 30 June 2021. The impact varied depending on the maturity 
of the liabilities for each employer with nine seeing a neutral or improved 
position compared with 2019.  However 15 employers show a material increase 
in their potential exit deficits at June 2021.  

12. Three of these employers are connected with employers who are themselves on 
the intermediate funding target (which recognises that their liabilities would be 
orphan if the employer exited but that the prospect of an exit is unlikely).  It is 
therefore appropriate that these employers remain on the OOFT. 

13. A further three are on the OOFT because of a decision taken by the letting 
authority. Officers will contact the letting authority to explain the material 
increase and ask if they will instead offer to subsume the liabilities on exit. This 
would allow contributions for these three contractors to be set using the Secure 
Scheduled Bodies funding target (SSBFT). This is permissible under the existing 
FSS and Employer Policy. 

14. The remaining nine employers are contractors who are running outsourced 
cleaning or catering services for academies, with 10 or fewer employees. These 
contracts were let before April 2019. The FSS and Employer Policy were 

Page 65



changed in 2019 such that if an academy outsourced services after 1 April 2019 
and 10 or fewer employees transferred to the contractor, liabilities would be 
subsumed on exit rather than becoming orphan. These changes were not 
retrospective and therefore the nine employers remained on the OOFT. 
However in light of changes in the gilts market it is appropriate to revisit this and 
bring these contractors onto the same footing as those with contracts which 
were let after 1 April 2019.    

15. The Panel and Board are asked to approve draft changes to the FSS and 
Employer Policy which put all contractors who are running services for 
academies (provided 10 or fewer employees transfer) on the same footing. The 
changes mean that on exit liabilities will be subsumed into the academy pool, 
regardless of when the contract was let and the exit position will be calculated 
on an ongoing basis rather than using the index linked gilts approach.   

16. The changes have been highlighted in yellow in the draft FSS and Employer 
Policy, in sections 2.2, 4.1 and 4.4 of the FSS and 6.28, 6.29 and 9.27 of the 
Employer Policy. 

17. There are no other significant changes to the remainder of the Pension Fund’s 
governance documents. 

Shadow Governance Compliance Statement 

18. The following statement is taken from the Phase III Good Governance report, 
amended to reflect Hampshire’s practice, to demonstrate how the outcomes of 
the Good Governance review are being met. The statement also includes a set 
of 16 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), also included in the Good Governance 
report, to provide a set of measures to further evidence the effectiveness of the 
Fund’s governance. 

 

Page 66



Shadow Governance Compliance Statement 
 
This statement shows how Hampshire County Council as the administering authority 
of the Hampshire Pension Fund complies with guidance on the governance of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) based on Phase 3 of the Scheme 
Advisory Board’s (SAB) Good Governance project. This statement will be updated 
once Statutory Guidance is published by Government. 

A Conflicts of interest  
 
A1. Conflicts of Interest Policy  
 
The Fund has published a Conflict of Interest Policy (included in Appendix 1) 
which sets out:  

• How it identifies potential conflicts of interest  
• How it ensures that those covered by the policy understand their 

responsibilities in respect of ensuring that conflicts of interest are properly 
managed;  

• That the policy applies to officers, elected members, co-opted members 
(scheme member and employer representatives on the Pension Fund Panel 
and Board) and advisers and contractors;  

• Systems, controls and processes for managing and mitigating conflicts of 
interest effectively;  

• How it reviews the effectiveness of its conflict of interest policy and updates it 
as required;  

• How it embeds a culture which supports the management and mitigation of 
conflicts of interest.  

 
A2. Conflicts of Interest Process  
 
The Fund embeds the management of conflicts of interest into its everyday 
processes. This includes:  

• Providing regular briefings or training to members of the Pension Fund Panel 
and Board and officers on identifying and managing potential conflicts of 
interest;  

• Ensuring all Members and relevant officers complete a Conflicts of Interest 
declaration and that the declarations are collated into a Conflicts of Interest 
register for the Pension Fund;  

• Ensuring that a declaration of interests forms part of the agenda for all 
Pension Fund Panel and Board meetings and that a log is kept of situations 
where the Conflict of Interest Policy has been applied to mitigate or manage a 
potential conflict situation;  

• Ensuring actual and potential conflicts of interest are considered during 
procurement processes; and  

• Ensuring that conflicts of interest form part of the Fund’s suite of policies for 
example the Funding Strategy Statement and Administration Strategy.  

 

Page 67



A3. The Council as administering authority and employer  
 
The Council recognises that its dual role as both an employer participating in the 
Fund and the body legally tasked with its management can produce the potential for 
conflicts of interest. It is important that these potential conflicts are managed in order 
to ensure that no actual or perceived conflict of interest arises and that all of the 
Fund’s employers and scheme members are treated fairly and equitably.  
 
The Fund achieves this in the following ways:  

• The Funding Strategy Statement shown in Appendix 2 sets out the Fund’s 
approach to all funding related matters including the setting of contribution 
rates. This policy is set with regard to the advice of the Fund actuary and is 
opened to consultation with all Fund employers before being formally adopted 
by the Pension Fund Panel and Board. The approach to contribution setting is 
based on appropriate funding targets for types of employer using 
characteristics such as time horizon, strength of covenant and risk profile. 
This approach ensures a consistency across all employers and removes the 
possibility of any employer receiving more, or less, favourable treatment.  

• The Fund also has an Employer Policy shown in Appendix 3 which 
includes in detail its approach to admitting new employers to the Fund 
covering the Fund’s approach to the use of guarantors, bonds and funding 
targets. This policy, in conjunction with the Funding Strategy Statement, 
ensures a consistent approach when new employers are admitted into the 
Fund and their treatment when changes are made.  

• The Fund’s Administration Strategy shown in Appendix 4 sets out the way 
in which the Fund works with its employers and the mutual service standards 
that are expected. The policy details how the Fund will assist employers to 
ensure that they are best placed to meet their statutory LGPS obligations. On 
occasions where an employer’s failure to comply with required processes and 
standards has led to the Fund incurring additional cost, the policy also 
provides for that cost to be recovered from the employer in question. This 
policy has been opened to consultation with all the Fund’s employers and is 
operated in a consistent fashion across all of the employer base.  

• The Pension Fund is run for the benefit of its members and on behalf of all its 
employers. It is important therefore that the Fund’s budget is set and 
managed separately from the expenditure of the Council. The Pension Fund 
Panel and Board approve a budget each year that provides the resources 
necessary for the management of the Pension Fund, and this will in future be 
the budget as recommended by the Senior Responsible Officer. 

B Clarity of Roles and Responsibilities  
 
B.1 Clear decision making  
 
The Council’s constitution and scheme of delegation set out the terms of reference 
for the Pension Fund Panel and Board. The terms of reference and the membership 
for any sub-committees, such as the Pension Fund Responsible Investment sub-
committee are also published.  
 
The scheme of delegation (decisions matrix) is supported by:  

Page 68



• Clearly documented role and responsibilities for the Pension Fund CFO 
(Director of Corporate Operations/S151 Officer), LGPS Senior Responsible 
Officer, (Deputy CFO for the Pension Fund); and Head of Pensions 
Administration and Head of Investments and Borrowing. 

• A Decision Matrix (part of the Administration Strategy) which sets out the 
key decisions that are required to be made in the management of the Fund 
and the role that the main decision makers have in those decisions. The 
matrix sets out when an individual or body is responsible for a decision, 
accountable for a decision or where they must be consulted or informed of a 
decision.  

 
On a regular basis the Fund’s business processes are referenced against the 
decision matrix, to ensure that they properly reflect the correct responsibility and 
accountability.  
 
The Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (shown in Appendix 5) sets out the 
Pension Fund’s asset allocation, the tolerances that asset allocations can move 
within and the basis on which the Pension Fund Panel and Board will take advice. 

C Sufficiency of resources for service planning and delivery  
 
In order to ensure that the Fund has the appropriate resource to deliver its statutory 
obligations it has adopted a 3 stage approach.  
 
C.1 Business planning and budget setting  
 
The Fund operates a 3 year Business Plan (presented elsewhere on this 
agenda) which sets out the priorities for the Fund’s services. It is comprehensively 
reviewed, updated and agreed by the Pension Fund Panel and Board before the 
start of each financial year. If necessary, the plan is reviewed and updated on a 
more frequent basis. The business plan is publicly available.  
 
The business plan takes into account the risks facing the Fund, performance of the 
Fund and anticipated regulatory changes.  
 
The business plan also includes the Fund’s Budget. Resource requirements 
(including staff recruitment, procurement and other specialist services) are 
determined by the requirements of the Fund’s business plan, and the proposed 
annual budget will be based on a recommendation from the Senior Responsible 
Officer. 
 
Progress against the business plan, including actual spend, is reported to the 
Pension Fund Panel and Board and published in the Fund’s Annual Report and 
accounts.  
 
C.2 Service delivery  
 
The Fund publishes an Administration Strategy which sets out how it will deliver the 
administration of the Scheme. The strategy includes:  
 

Page 69



• details of processes for liaison and communication with Scheme Employers;  
• expected levels of performance for the delivery of key Fund and employer 

functions; 
• the Fund’s approach to costs and penalties arising from a failure to comply 

with the expected level of performance;  
• examples of notifiable events which may materially affect an Employer’s 

liabilities or ability to meet those liabilities.  
 

C.3 Monitoring delivery and Control environment  
 
The Fund recognises the importance of monitoring and reporting how it delivers 
progress against the business plan. This is done in the following ways:  

 

• Performance against Key Performance Measures is reported to the Pension 
Fund Panel and Board twice a year and in the Fund’s Annual Report.  Monthly 
performance is published on the Fund’s website.  

• The Fund produces an annual Cyber compliance statement including a report 
on the IT controls in place to ensure the security of data held and used by the 
Fund. 

• The Fund’s internal auditors carry out reviews to provide assurance that the 
Fund’s processes and systems are appropriate for managing risks. The areas 
for review are agreed in advance with the Pension Fund Panel and Board and 
findings are reported to them. 

• The Fund benchmarks itself using the SF3 data to ensure that its costs are 
comparable to other LGPS Funds.  In addition, the Fund is accredited by 
Customer Service Excellence which provides an annual comprehensive 
review of the quality of the service offered to members. 

• The Pension Fund accounts are subject to independent external audit 

D. Representation and engagement  
 
The Fund has published a Representation Policy shown in Appendix 6.  
 
D.1 Representation on the main decision making body  
 
Hampshire’s decision making body is the Pension Fund Panel and Board, which was 
created by merging its requirement for a pension committee and pension board with 
Secretary of State approval. The policy recognises all scheme members and 
employers should be appropriately represented in the running of the Fund while at 
the same time ensuring that the County Council, as the body with ultimate 
responsibility for running the Fund, maintains a majority position on the key 
governance body. To this end the Fund’s representation policy and the County 
Council’s constitution specify that the County Council shall maintain a majority of 
voting members on the Pension Fund Panel and Board. The present Pension Fund 
Panel and Board is constituted as follows, with attendance as published in the 
Fund’s 2020/21 Annual Report.  
 

Page 70



Pension Fund Panel and 
Board 

Admin Authority 
/ Employer / 
Member rep 

Meeting Date 2020/21 Attendance 

24 
Jul 

25 
Sep 

20 
Nov 

04 
Dec 

12 
Feb 

26 
Mar 

 

Voting Members 

Cllr M Kemp-Gee (chair) Admin Authority Y N Y Y Y Y 83% 

Cllr T Thacker (vice 
chair) 

Admin Authority 
Y Y Y Y Y Y 100% 

Cllr C Carter Admin Authority Y N Y Y Y Y 83% 

Cllr A Dowden Admin Authority Y Y N Y Y Y 83% 

Cllr A Gibson Admin Authority Y Y Y Y Y Y 100% 

Cllr J Glen Admin Authority Y Y Y Y Y Y 100% 

Cllr A Joy Admin Authority Y Y N Y Y Y 83% 

Cllr P Latham Admin Authority Y Y Y Y Y Y 100% 

Cllr B Tennent Admin Authority Y Y Y Y Y Y 100% 

Cllr D Mellor* Admin Authority - Y Y - - - 100% 

Cllr C Corkery Employer Rep Y Y Y Y Y Y 100% 

Cllr P Taylor Employer Rep Y N N Y Y Y 67% 

Dr L Bartle Employer Rep Y Y Y Y Y Y 100% 

Cllr S Barnes-Andrews* Employer Rep - Y N - - - 50% 

Dr C Allen Member Rep Y Y Y N Y Y 83% 

Mr N Wood Member Rep Y Y Y Y Y Y 100% 

Ms L Gowland Member Rep Y Y Y Y Y Y 100% 

Ms S Manchester* Member Rep - - - Y - - 100% 

Average attendance 97% 

Proportion of members not from the Administering Authority 
6 out of 15 

(40%) 

Non-Voting Members 

Carolan Dobson 
Independent 

Advisor 
Y Y Y Y Y Y 100% 

*Deputy - attendance is only recorded in the table when asked to deputise 

 

 RI Sub-committee 
 

Admin Authority 
/ Employer / 
Member rep 

Meeting date 
2020/21 

Attendance 

20-Oct 05-Mar   

Voting Members         

Cllr M Kemp-Gee (chair) Admin Authority Y Y 100% 

Cllr T Thacker (vice-chair) Admin Authority Y Y 100% 

Cllr A Joy Admin Authority Y Y 100% 

Cllr B Tennent Admin Authority Y Y 100% 

Cllr C Corkery Employer rep Y Y 100% 

Mr N Wood Member rep N Y 50% 

Average attendance 92% 

Proportion of members not from the Administering Authority 
2 out of 6 

(33%) 
 

 

Page 71



D.3 Engagement with employers  
 
The Fund carries out a range of activities that are designed to engage employers. 
These are set out within the Fund’s Communication Strategy and include:  
 

• An Annual Employer Meeting which provides an opportunity for employers 
to receive an update on the performance of the Fund, provide feedback on 
the service and receive updates on the LGPS and related issues; 

• The Fund engages and consults with employers during the actuarial 
valuation and specifically on key strategies such as the Funding Strategy 
Statement;  

• A quarterly employer newsletter provides update on technical changes, 
process reminders and a calendar of key upcoming dates;  

• Stop Press communications are issued to Employers where an important 
issue arises which requires immediate notification, and which cannot wait 
for the next quarterly employer newsletter 

• Provision of Employer Workshops to help with specific areas of employer 
responsibilities and Employer Overview Sessions for new employer staff 

• Publish and maintain an employer area of the Fund’s website as well as an 
Employer Manual and factsheets to support employers with their 
responsibilities. 

 
D.4 Engagement with members  
 
The Fund’s Communication Strategy sets out how it engages with active, deferred 
and pensioner scheme members including:  
 

• The Fund maintains a website which provides general advice, information 
and updates including copies of all current policies.  

• Members have secure online access to their own pension records in order 
to view documents, update personal details and run retirement estimates. 

• A dedicated team with single phone number and email address to respond 
to member’s queries  

• Member’s annual benefit statements, pensioner newsletters, payslips and 
P60s are available online or in writing (including large text, braille or audio) 
on request.  

• Member presentations and bite size online learning on the basics of the 
LGPS 

E. Training 
 
E.1 Training Strategy  
 
The Fund has adopted a Training Strategy (part of the Fund’s Business Plan) 
which establishes how members of the Pension Fund Panel and Board and Fund 
officers will attain the knowledge and understanding they need to be effective and 
to challenge and act effectively within the decision making responsibility placed 
upon them. The Training Strategy sets out how those involved with the Fund will:  

• Have their knowledge assessed; and  

Page 72



• Receive appropriate training to fill any knowledge gaps identified.  
 
The Fund will measure and report on progress against the training plans.  
 
E.2 Evidencing standards of training  
 
Details of the training undertaken by members of the Pension Fund Panel and 
Board are reported in the Fund’s Annual Report and in this statement.  
 
Pension Fund Panel and Board members’ subject knowledge is assessed on an 
annual basis through completion of CIPFA’s Knowledge and Skills framework. 
The results are analysed and any gaps identified are addressed as part of the 
ongoing training plans.  
 
Targeted training will also be provided that is timely and directly relevant to the 
Pension Fund Panel and Board’s activities as set out in the business plan.  
 
Officers involved in the management and administration of the Fund are set 
annual objectives which will include an element of personal development. These 
objectives are monitored as part of each individual’s annual appraisal.  
 
CIPFA will introduce a requirement for continuous professional development for 
s151 officers that includes a regular LGPS element. This requirement applies to 
the s151 officer for the County Council as well as the district and borough councils 
within the Fund. The Fund will comply with this element once it is introduced. 
 
The table below shows the training undertaken in 2020/21. 
 

 

Page 73



Table of governance and administration KPIs 

 

Governance 

Subject area KPI 2020/21 

Breadth of 
representation 

1. Percentage make-up (employer/member) on Panel and 
Board  

40% non Administering Authority 
members (scheme members or 
employers) 

2. Average attendance level at meetings (percentage) – 
split between absence and vacancies 

97% 

Training and 
expertise 

3. Hours of relevant training undertaken across Panel and 
Board in last year 

243 hours in total 

4. Relevant experience across senior management team Yes 

Compliance/Risk 5. Number of times risk register reviewed annually – 
number of times on agenda at committee/board 

1 

6. Number of times carried out business continuity testing 
and/or cyber security penetration testing 

Annual pensions test 

Appropriate 
governance time 
spent on key areas 

7. Split of Panel and Board spent on 
administration/governance/investment 

By number of papers 15%/49%/36% 

Administration 

Data quality  1. Common/conditional data score, in line with TPR 
expectations 

93% (common) 95% (conditional) 

2. Annual Benefit Statement percentage as at 31 August 99.73% actives, 100% deferreds 

Service 
standards/SLAs 

3. Number and percentage of pension set-ups (new 
retirements) within disclosure requirement timeframe 

100% (2,495) 

4. Does the Fund monitor and report its own standards? Yes 

5. Percentage of calls to customer helpline answered and 
resolved at first point of contact 

92.5% (16,142 calls, 1,216 messages). 

Engagement and 
communication – 

6. Specify which online services are available to 
members/employers 

Secure Member Portal, including 
functionality to: 

P
age 74



capabilities and 
take-up 

 Add or amend an ‘expression of 
wish’ for payment of a death grant 

 Change personal details 

 Upload documents 

 Securely view documents including  
Annual Benefits Statements, 
Pension Savings Statements, 
payslips and P60s 

 Self service retirement estimates 

 Complete online forms 

 Send secure messages to HPS 
Secure Employer Hub, including 
functionality to: 

 View and amend employee data 

 Run reports 

 Upload documents 
 

7. Percentage of members registered for the Fund’s online 
services and the percentage that have logged onto the 
service in the last 12 months split by status 

Status 
Registrations 

to date 

% of total 

membership 

Active 38,273 64.90% 

Deferred 20,972 26.66% 

Pensioner 7,109 14.73% 

TOTAL 66,354 35.69% 
 

8. Number of employer engagement events and/or briefings 
held in the last 12 months and percentage take-up 

12 remote training events attended by 151 
attendees representing 60 employers. 
Annual Employers Meeting (AEM) 
attended by representatives of 121 
employers. 

P
age 75



Customer 
satisfaction 

9. Percentage of members (or employers if appropriate) 
satisfied with the service provided by their LGPS Fund. 

78% (223 respondents to customer 
satisfaction survey) 

P
age 76



Climate Change Impact Assessments  

19. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools 
provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate 

change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does.  

20. The Pension Fund itself has a negligible carbon footprint, but it recognises 
that the companies and other organisations that it invests in will have their 
own carbon footprint and a significant role to play in the transition to a lower 
carbon economy. This is captured in the Pension Fund’s governance 
framework. Therefore the Pension Fund recognises in its Risk Register, which 
forms part of the Business Plan, that the risk that environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) factors including the impact of climate change can 
materially reduce long-term returns.  

21. The Pension Fund has a role to play as an investor, in ensuring that its 
investment managers are suitably considering the impact and contribution to 
climate change in their investment decisions and acting as a good steward to 
encourage these companies to play their part in reducing climate change. 
This is explained further in the Pension Fund’s Responsible Investment (RI) 
policy InvestmentStrategyStatementincludingRIpolicy.pdf (hants.gov.uk) 
which is part of part of the Investment Strategy Statement. 

Page 77

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/pensions/InvestmentStrategyStatementincludingRIpolicy.pdf


Integral Appendix A 
 

CORPORATE OR LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

No 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

No 

 
OR 

 

This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision because the Pension Fund Panel and Board are required to review 
the Pension Fund’s Statutory Statements on an annual basis. 

 
 
 
 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

None  

Page 78



Integral Appendix B 
 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENTS: 
 

1. Equality Duty 
 

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the 
Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as 
set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage 
and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 
Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by the proposals in 
this report as the proposals do not directly affect scheme members. 

Page 79



Appendix 1 
 

18 
 

Hampshire Pension Fund – Conflicts of Interest Policy 

Introduction  

1. The potential for conflicts of interest has always existed for those with Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) administering authority responsibilities as 
well as for advisers to LGPS funds. This simply reflects the fact that many of 
those managing or advising LGPS funds will have a variety of other roles and 
responsibilities, for example as a member of the scheme, as an elected member 
of an employer participating in the LGPS or as an adviser to more than one 
LGPS administering authority. Further any of those persons may have an 
individual personal, business or other interest which might conflict, or be 
perceived to conflict, with their role managing or advising LGPS funds. 

2. It is generally accepted that LGPS administering authorities have both fiduciary 
and public law duties to act in the best interest of both the scheme beneficiaries 
and participating employers. This, however, does not preclude those involved in 
the management of the fund from having other roles or responsibilities which 
may result in an actual or potential conflict of interest. Accordingly, it is good 
practice to document within a policy, such as this, how any such conflicts or 
potential conflicts are to be managed.  

3. This is the Conflict of Interest Policy of the Hampshire Pension Fund, which is 
managed and administered by Hampshire County Council (the Administering 
Authority). The Policy details how actual and potential conflicts of interest are 
identified and managed by those involved in the management and governance 
of the Hampshire Pension Fund, whether directly or in an advisory capacity.  

4. This Conflict of Interest Policy is established to guide Hampshire Pension Fund 
Panel and Board (PFPB) Members, Fund Officers and Advisers. Along with 
other constitutional documents, including the PFPB’s Terms of Reference, the 
Officer’s Code of Conduct, the Code of Conduct for Members and relevant HR 
policies, it aims to ensure that those individuals do not act improperly or create a 
perception that they may have acted improperly. It is an aid to good governance, 
encouraging transparency and minimises the risk of any matter prejudicing 
decision making or management of the Fund otherwise.  

5. This Conflict of Interest Policy is a key tool for all the stakeholders in the 
Hampshire Pension Fund to assist in complying with the law and meeting the 
Fund's objective to act with integrity.  

To whom this Policy Applies  

6. This Conflict of Interest Policy applies to:  

 All elected and co-opted Members of the PFPB, including scheme 
member and employer representatives, whether voting members or not. 

 All managers in the Hampshire County Council Pension Fund 
Management Team, and the Director of Corporate Operations (Section 
151 Officer) who are, from hereon in, collectively referred to as the ‘senior 
officers of the Fund’.  

Page 80



Appendix 1 
 

19 
 

 All “advisers” to the Fund.  This includes all advisers, suppliers and other 
parties providing advice and services to the Administering Authority, the 
PFPB, the Responsible Investment Sub Committee or officers in relation 
to pension fund matters. This includes but is not limited to actuaries, 
investment consultants, independent advisers, benefits consultants, third 
party administrators, fund managers, lawyers, custodians and Additional 
Voluntary Contribution (AVC) providers. Where an advisory appointment 
is with a firm rather than an individual, reference to "advisers" will  
normally mean the lead adviser(s) responsible for the delivery of advice 
and services to the Administering Authority rather than the firm as a 
whole. 

Responsibilities  

7. Hampshire County Council as the Administering Authority for the Hampshire 
Pension Fund must be satisfied that conflicts of interest are appropriately 
managed. For this purpose, the Director of Corporate Operations for Hampshire 
County Council (CFO for the Pension Fund) is the designated individual for 
ensuring the procedures below are carried out.  

8. However, it is also the responsibility of each individual covered by this Policy to 
identify any potential instances where their personal, financial, business or other 
interests might come into conflict with their pension fund duties, to declare and 
register interests and to seek advice and where necessary withdraw from 
meetings if there is a conflict. 

9. The Director of Corporate Operations will monitor potential conflicts for less 
senior officers involved in the daily management of the Fund and highlight this 
Policy to them as appropriate.  

10. This Policy and the issue of conflicts of interest in general must be considered in 
light of each individual's role, whether this is a management, advisory or 
assistance role and including responsibilities representing the Fund on other 
boards, committees, groups and bodies.  

11. Members – Elected and co-opted members of the PFPB are responsible for 
understanding their obligations under the County Council’s Constitution including 
the Code of Conduct for Members, and this Policy, including ensuring their 
declarations of interest are accurate and up-to-date and adhering to the 
operational processes set out in this Policy.  

12. Officers – Officers are responsible for understanding their obligations under the 
Code of Conduct for Officers and this Policy and for adhering to the operational 
processes set out in this Policy.    

13. Advisers - In accepting any role covered by this Policy, advisers agree that they 
must:  

 acknowledge any potential conflict of interest they may have;  

 be open with the Administering Authority and any other body on which 
they represent the Administering Authority, on any actual or potential 
conflicts of interest they may have;  

 adopt practical solutions to managing those conflicts; and  

Page 81



Appendix 1 
 

20 
 

 plan ahead and agree with the Administering Authority how they will 
manage any conflicts of interest which arise in future.  

14. The procedures outlined later in this Policy provide a framework for each 
individual to meet these requirements.  

What is a Conflict or Potential Conflict?  

15. The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 defines a conflict of interest as a financial 
or other interest which is likely to prejudice a person’s exercise of functions.  

16. Therefore, a conflict of interest may arise when an individual:  

 has a responsibility or duty in relation to the management of, or provision 
of advice to, the Hampshire Pension Fund; and 

 at the same time has a separate personal interest (financial or otherwise); 
or  

 has another responsibility in relation to that matter, giving rise to a 
possible conflict with their first responsibility; or  

 has an interest due to a family member or close colleague having a 
specific responsibility or interest in a matter.  

Areas of potential conflict that are specific to the LGPS  

17. There are areas of potential conflict that the Scheme Advisory Board identifies 
as specific to the LGPS. They apply to PFPB Members, as well as officers, 
advisers and suppliers and are to be managed in the same way as other 
conflicts of interest under this and other relevant policies:  

 Any commercial relationships between the administering authority or host 
authority and other employers in the Fund/or other parties which may 
impact decisions made in the best interests of the Fund. These may 
include shared service arrangements which impact the Fund operations 
directly but will also include outsourcing relationship and companies 
related to or wholly owned by the County Council, which do not relate to 
Pension Fund operations.  

 Contributions setting for the administering authority and other employers.  

 Cross charging for services or shared resourcing between the 
administering authority and the fund.  

 Dual role of the administering authority as owner and client of a pool. 

 Local investment decisions  

 Any other roles within the County Council being carried out by committee 
members or officers which may result in a conflict either in the time 
available to dedicate to the fund or in decision making or oversight. For 
example, some roles on other finance committees, audit or health 
committees or cabinet should be disclosed.  

Page 82



Appendix 1 
 

21 
 

Minor Gifts and Hospitality  

18. The acceptance of gifts and hospitality can lead to potential conflicts of interest 
or the perception of conflicts of interest.  Hampshire County Council Members 
and Officers are required to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members and 
the Officers Code of Conduct which contain the applicable rules regarding the 
acceptance and registration of gifts and hospitality.   

Summary  

19. A conflict of interest may arise when an individual has a responsibility or duty in 
relation to the management of, or provision of advice to, the Hampshire Pension 
Fund, and at the same time has:  

 a separate personal interest (financial or otherwise) or  

 another responsibility in relation to that matter, giving rise to a 
possible conflict with their first responsibility. An interest could also 
arise due to a family member or close colleague having a specific 
responsibility or interest in a matter.  

20. Some examples of potential conflicts of interest relating to the areas of conflict 
specific to the LGPS are included in Appendix 1.  

Managing Conflicts of Interest  

21. Hampshire County Council, as Administering Authority, will encourage a culture 
of openness and transparency and will encourage individuals to be vigilant, have 
a clear understanding of their role and the circumstances in which they may 
have a conflict of interest, and of how potential conflicts should be managed.  

22. The Administering Authority will evaluate the nature of any interests or 
responsibilities that are highlighted and assess the impact on pension fund 
operations and good governance were an actual conflict of interest to 
materialise. 

23. Elected and co-opted members of the PFPB need to ensure their register of 
disclosable pecuniary interests is up to date and actively consider at each 
meeting of the PFPB whether they have any prejudicial interests (whether 
personal or pecuniary) in any matter of PFPB business. 

24. Officers will need to consider whether they have any conflicts of interest as 
defined in this policy and if so, declare these in accordance with the procedures 
set out in this policy so that appropriate management action and mitigation can 
be considered.  

25. Advisers and suppliers to the Fund also need to consider whether any of the 
above conflicts of interest apply to their contract with the Administering Authority 
and if so declare them in accordance with the procedures set out in this policy so 
that appropriate mitigation can be considered.  

26. The Administering Authority will evaluate the nature of any dual interests or 
responsibilities that are highlighted and assess the impact on pension fund 
operations and good governance were an actual conflict of interest to 
materialise.  

27. Ways in which conflicts of interest may be managed include:  

Page 83



Appendix 1 
 

22 
 

 the individual concerned abstaining from discussion, decision-making or 
providing advice relating to the relevant issue;  

 the individual being excluded from the meeting(s) and any related 
correspondence or material in connection with the relevant issue (for 
example, a report for a PFPB meeting); or  

 a working group or sub-committee being established, excluding the 
individual concerned, to consider the matter outside of the formal meeting 
(where the terms of reference permit this to happen).  

NB in respect of elected and co-opted members of the PFPB, there are 
requirements in the Localism Act 2011 and the County Council’s 
Constitution that require the disclosure of pecuniary interests and regulate 
member participation in matters relating to such interests.  These 
requirements must be adhered to by all elected and co-opted members of 
the PFPB. 

28. The above is not an exhaustive list of the measures that may be taken in respect 
of a particular conflict and the Administering Authority will, having taken any 
appropriate professional advice, endeavour to manage conflicts that arise 
reasonably and proportionately.  

Operational procedure for elected and co-opted PFPB Members and Senior 
Officers 

29. The following procedures must be followed by all individuals to whom this policy 
applies.  

30. However, it should be noted all Members of the PFPB have an overriding legal 
obligation to follow and abide by the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 and 
Hampshire County Council’s Code of Conduct for Members relating to the 
treatment and disclosure of certain disclosable pecuniary interests and personal 
interests. Accordingly, for those Members, disclosures under this policy may be 
in addition to disclosures required under the Council’s Code of Conduct/the 
Localism Act 2011. 

What is 
required 

How this will be done 

Step 1 - Initial 
identification of 
interests which 
do or could 
give rise to a 
conflict 

On appointment to their role or on the commencement of this 

Policy if later, all Members and Senior Officers will be provided 

with a copy of this Policy and will be required to complete a 

Registration of Interest Form similar to that included in Appendix 

2.  

The information contained in these forms will be collated into the 

Pension Fund Register of Interests.  

Elected and co-opted Members of the PFPB are also required to 

complete a register of interests in respect of “disclosable 

pecuniary interests” and personal interests and submit it to 

Hampshire County Council’s Monitoring Officer. This will be 

Page 84



Appendix 1 
 

23 
 

published in accordance with the County Council’s obligations 

and Constitution.  

Step 2 - 
Ongoing 
notification 
and 
management 
of potential or 
actual conflicts 
of interest 

At the commencement of any meeting of the PFPB or other 

formal meeting where pension fund matters are to be discussed, 

the Chairman will ask all those present who are covered by this 

Policy to declare any interests relevant to any item of business at 

the meeting as well – whether or not they are already on the 

register – as well as any new potential conflicts which may not 

have been recorded and also any other interests which are not 

required to be recorded.  

At PFPB meetings there will also, at the start of the meeting, be 

an agenda item for Members to declare any interests under the 

Members' Code in relation to any items on that agenda. These will 

be recorded in the record of the meeting and also in the Fund's 

Register of Interests and Declaration Log.  

Any individual who considers that they or another individual has a 

potential or actual conflict of interest, as defined by this Policy, 

which relates to an item of business at a meeting, is asked to 

advise the Chairman and the Director of Corporate Operations as 

soon as they become aware of it and preferably prior to the 

meeting.  

The Chairman, in consultation with the Director of Corporate 

Operations and legal advisor to the Pension Fund, should then 

decide whether the conflicted or potentially conflicted individual is 

advised to leave the meeting during the discussion on the 

relevant matter or to withdraw from voting on the matter.  

With respect to the Code of Conduct for Members and the 

Localism Act 2011, the Monitoring Officer will provide advice. 

Whilst ultimately it is for the Member to decide whether or not to 

be present, if they do not follow advice they are at risk of a formal 

complaint being made.  

If such a conflict is identified outside of a meeting the notification 

must be made to the Director of Corporate Operations and where 

it relates to the business of any meeting, also to the Chairman of 

that meeting. The Director of Corporate Operations in consultation 

with the Chairman where relevant, will consider any necessary 

action to manage the potential or actual conflict.  

The Director of Corporate Operations is responsible for 

monitoring the PFPB Register of Interests and Declarations Log 

on an ongoing basis to determine if any actual or potential conflict 

could impact on the ongoing business of the Hampshire Pension 

Fund. Where information relating to any potential or actual conflict 

has been provided, the Director of Corporate Operations may 

Page 85



Appendix 1 
 

24 
 

seek such professional advice as he or she thinks fit (such as 

legal advice from the Monitoring Officer of Hampshire County 

Council) on to how to address any identified conflicts. Any such 

potential or actual conflicts of interest and the action taken must 

be recorded on the Fund's Register of Interests, the Declarations 

Log and in the record of the meeting if raised during a meeting. 

Step 3 - 
Periodic 
review of 
potential and 
actual conflicts 

At least once every 12 months, the Director of Corporate 

Operations will provide to all individuals to whom this Policy 

applies a copy of the Fund's Register of Interests. All individuals 

will be asked to complete a new Declaration of Interest confirming 

that their information contained in the Register is correct or 

highlighting any changes that need to be made to the declaration.  

If a member fails to do so the matter will be escalated to the 

Chairman of the PFPB in conjunction with the Director of 

Corporate Operations. The updated Register will then be 

circulated by the Director of Corporate Operations to all 

individuals to whom it relates. 

Operational procedure for advisers  

31. All of the key advisers to the Hampshire Pension Fund are expected to have 
their own policies on how conflicts of interest will be managed in their 
relationships with their clients, and these should have been shared with the 
Administering Authority as part of the contract award or contract management 
process.  

32. All advisers must:  

 be provided with a copy of this Policy on appointment and whenever it is 
updated;  

 adhere to the principles of this Policy;  

 provide, on request, information to the Director of Corporate Operations in 
relation to how they will manage and monitor actual or potential conflicts 
of interests relating to the provision of advice or services to Hampshire 
County Council as Administering Authority;  

 notify the Director for Corporate Operations immediately should a 
potential or actual conflict of interest arise; and  

 highlight at all meetings they attend any potential or actual conflict of 
interest in any item of business, preferably at or before the start of the 
meeting.  

33. All potential or actual conflicts notified by advisers will be recorded in the Fund’s 
Register of Interests and Declaration Log.  

Monitoring and Reporting  

Page 86



Appendix 1 
 

25 
 

34. The Fund’s Register of Interests will be subject to the requirements of the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 and any requests for information will be 
considered via the County Council’s corporate process on a case-by-case basis. 
Exemptions from disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act may be 
applied as relevant. 

35. In order to identify whether the objectives of this Policy are being met the 
Administering Authority will review the Register of conflicts of interest on an 
annual basis and consider whether there have been any potential or actual 
conflicts of interest that were not declared at the earliest opportunity.  

Key Risks and Mitigation 

36. The key risks to the delivery of this Policy are outlined below. All of these could 
result in an actual conflict of interest arising and not being properly managed. 
The Director of Corporate Operations will monitor these and other key risks and 
consider how to respond to them.  

Risk Mitigating action 

Insufficient training or poor 
understanding in relation to 
individuals’ roles on pension fund 
matters 

Briefing provided by officers at the 
introduction of the new policy and 
annually when the policy is reviewed. 
Officers are available to answer 
Members questions at any time 

Absence of the individual nominated 
to manage the operational aspects of 
this Policy and no one deputising, or 
failure of that individual to carry out 
the operational aspects in accordance 
with this Policy 

Responsibilities for supporting will be 
shared within the Investments and 
Borrowing team to ensure no single 
point of failure 

Failure by a chairman to take 
appropriate action when a conflict is 
highlighted at a meeting 

Support available at each meeting 
from Pension Fund and Legal 
Services officers to advise the 
chairman as appropriate 

A decision by an individual to 
disregard advice and be subject to 
formal action under the Localism Act 
2011 

Failure to abide by the policy will 
result in a referral under the Members 
Code of Conduct or Officers Code as 
appropriate. 

Costs  

37. All costs related to the operation and implementation of this Policy will be met 
directly by the Hampshire Pension Fund. However, no payments will be made to 
any individuals in relation to any time spent or expenses incurred in the 
disclosure or management of any potential or actual conflicts of interest under 
this Policy.  

Page 87



Appendix 1 
 

26 
 

 

Approval and Review 

38. This Conflict of Interest Policy was approved on 10 December 2021 by the 
PFPB. It will be formally reviewed and updated at least every three years or 
sooner if the conflict management arrangements or other matters included within 
it merit reconsideration, including if there are any changes to the LGPS rules or 
other relevant Regulations or Guidance which need to be taken into account.

Page 88



Appendix 1 
 

27 
 

  
Appendix 1 – Examples of situations where a conflict of interest may arise 
The table below sets out examples of potential conflicts that might arise and the 
action that may be taken in response.  It is intended to be illustrative only and is not 
intended to be an exhaustive list of all conflicts that might arise or the action that will 
be taken in practice in any individual case.  Each conflict that arises in practice would 
need to be treated on its meris and action that is appropriate in all the circumstances 
taken.  
 

Scenario Action 

An Employer Representative on the 
PFPB may be required to consider a 
policy or covenant change which could 
result in an increase in employer costs 
by the employer he or she represents. 

If the representative has a conflict on a 
particular issue with their host 
employer/group, they should declare 
this and absent themselves from any 
decision if they are unable to act in the 
best interest of the Pension Fund and 
all employers and scheme members. 

A Member of the PFPB is on the board 
of an Investment Manager that the 
Committee is considering appointing. 

The Member should declare the interest 
and not take part in the discussion and 
decision on the appointment. 

A PFPB Member is a beneficiary of the 
Hampshire Pension fund and a 
discussion item as a result of legislative 
change could affect members’ benefits. 

The Member should declare the interest 
but may still take part in the discussion, 
given no decision is being made. 

An officer of the Pension Fund also has 
responsibilities within the administering 
authority or relating to a shared service 
initiative which provides services to the 
Fund, and which has objectives which 
are not fully aligned to that of the Fund. 

 

If appropriate to the advice being 
provided by the officer to the PFPB, the 
conflict should be reported, along with 
clarity on why the advice in question is 
in the best interest of the Pension Fund. 

An Employer Representative on the 
PFPB is employed by a company to 
which the County Council has 
commissioned services from and the 
PFPB is reviewing the standards of 
service provided by that company. 

 

The Member must declare their 
pecuniary interest (as a result of their 
employment) and not take part in the 
discussion of the review of the service. 

The person appointed to consider 
internal disputes is asked to review a 
case relating to a close friend or 
relative. 

 

The conflict should be reported and an 
alternative person found to review the 
case. 

The Pension Fund is considering 
alternative supply of services currently 
provided by the Administering Authority. 
The Director of Corporate Operations, 
who has responsibility for the County 

The Director must act in their role as 
CFO to the Pension Fund, providing 
advice in the best interest of the 
Pension Fund, although if appropriate 
should reference the impact on the 

Page 89



Appendix 1 
 

28 
 

Council’s budget, is expected to 
approve the report to go to the PFPB 
which, if agreed would result in a 
material reduction in the recharges to 
the County Council from the Fund. 

 

County Council. If appropriate the 
Deputy CFO to the Pension Fund can 
provide advice to the Pension Fund. 

Officers are asked to provide a report to 
the PFPB on whether the administration 
services should be outsourced which, if 
it were to happen could result in a 
change of employer or job insecurity for 
the officers. 

 

Officers must provide advice in the best 
interest of the Pension Fund, if 
necessary with the presentation of the 
report being escalated to the Director of 
Corporate Operations, if appropriate 
should reference the impact on the 
County Council. Officers that could be 
directly effected by the changes, would 
not be asked to input into the report 
directly. 

An Employer Representative appointed 
to the PFPB to represent employers 
generally could be conflicted if he or she 
only serves to act in the interests of 
their own authority/organisation, rather 
than those of all participating 
employers. Equally, a Scheme Member 
representative, who is also a trade 
union representative, appointed to the 
Pension Board to represent the entire 
scheme membership could be conflicted 
if he or she only acts in the interests of 
their union and union membership, 
rather than all scheme members. 

As part of their appointment process, 
applicants to be representative on the 
PFPB will be asked to demonstrate how 
they can represent all scheme members 
or employers as appropriate. Ongoing 
training and guidance is provided to 
PFPB Members of the nature of their 
role and need to represent the interests 
of the whole Fund. If the representative 
has a conflict on a particular issue with 
their host employer/group, they should 
declare this and absent themselves 
from any decision if they are unable to 
act in the best interest of the Pension 
Fund and all employers and scheme 
members. 

A Fund adviser is party to the 
development of a strategy which could 
result in additional work for his or her 
firm, for example, selection of new 
investment managers, providing 
assistance with monitoring the covenant 
of employers or where they are also 
advisers to the ACCESS Pool. 

The Pension Fund should be sensitive 
in only sharing information with 
advisors, which is relevant to the work 
that they have been asked to undertake. 
If the Pension Fund wants to ensure 
that its advice is not prejudiced by the 
potential for winning future work, the 
Fund could be clear in letting a contract 
if they want it to preclude participation in 
potential future related piece of work. 
The Pension Fund would have regard to 
the advisors’ professional standards to 
provide a standard of care to the client 
regardless of the bearing it may have on 
being awarded future work. 

An Employer or Scheme Member 
Representative has access to 

No PFPB Member should be asked to 
breach their confidentiality 

Page 90



Appendix 1 
 

29 
 

information by virtue of his or her 
employment, which could influence or 
inform the considerations of the PFPB . 
He or she has to consider whether to 
share this information in light of their 
duty of confidentiality to their employer. 
Their knowledge of this information will 
put them in a position of conflict if it is 
likely to prejudice their ability to carry 
out their functions as a member of the 
PFPB. 

 

responsibilities to their employer, if a 
Member’s access to information does 
result a conflict they should report this 
and take the appropriate action. 

An officer of the Fund or member of the 
Pension Committee accepts a dinner 
invitation or gift from an Investment 
Manager who has submitted a bid as 
part of a tender process. 

 

PFPB Members should consider the 
appropriateness of any offers of 
hospitality and ensure that they comply 
with the Members Code of Conduct on 
Gifts and Hospitality Policy. 

 
 

Page 91



Appendix 1 
 

30 
 

Appendix 2 – Sample of Declaration of Interest Form  
Form to Register Interests relating to the management of Hampshire Pension 
Fund administered by Hampshire County Council  
 
I, [insert full name], am [delete as applicable]:  

• an officer involved in the management  

• Pension Fund Panel and Board Member  

of the Hampshire Pension Fund and I set out below under the appropriate headings 
my interests, which I am required to declare under the Hampshire Pension Fund 
Conflict of Interest Policy. I have put “none” where I have no such interests under 
any heading.  
 
Responsibilities or other interests that could result in a conflict of interest 
(please list and continue overleaf if necessary): 
 
A) Relating to me  
 
 
 
B) Relating to family members or friends  
 
 
 
Undertaking:  
I declare that I understand my responsibilities under the Hampshire Pension Fund 
Conflict of Interest Policy. I undertake to notify the Director of Corporate Operations 
of any changes in the information set out above.  
 
Signed __________________________________ Date _____________________  
 
Name (CAPITAL LETTERS) ___________________________________________ 
 
 

Page 92



Appendix 2 

R 

Funding Strategy Statement 

 

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 33 

1.1. Background ................................................................................................................................. 33 

1.2. Consultation ................................................................................................................................ 33 

1.3. Purpose of the Funding Strategy Statement ................................................................... 33 

1.4. Aims of the Fund ....................................................................................................................... 34 

1.5. Purpose of the Fund ................................................................................................................ 34 

1.6. Roles and responsibilities of key parties ........................................................................... 34 

1.7. Links to the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement ..................................................... 34 

1.8. Future monitoring ..................................................................................................................... 34 

2. Funding Strategy ........................................................................................................................... 36 

2.1. Risk based approach ................................................................................................................ 36 

2.1.1. Solvency ................................................................................................................................... 36 

2.1.2. Recovery and Trajectory periods ..................................................................................... 37 

2.1.3. Probability of Funding Success ........................................................................................ 38 

2.2. Funding Target........................................................................................................................... 38 

2.3. Grouping of Employers ........................................................................................................... 40 

2.3.1. Group funding framework ................................................................................................. 40 

2.3.2. Funding principles applying to grouped employers ................................................ 40 

2.4. Further aspects of funding strategy ................................................................................... 41 

2.4.1. Notional sub-funds .............................................................................................................. 41 

2.4.2. Roll forward of sub-funds .................................................................................................. 41 

2.4.3. Attribution of investment income ................................................................................... 41 

Page 93



Appendix 2 

R 

2.4.4. Fund maturity ......................................................................................................................... 42 

2.4.5. Advance payment of employer contributions ............................................................ 42 

2.4.6. Additional payments by employers ................................................................................ 42 

3. Security ............................................................................................................................................. 43 

3.1. Guarantors ................................................................................................................................... 43 

3.2. Bonds and other securitisation ............................................................................................ 43 

4. Exiting the fund .............................................................................................................................. 45 

4.1. Exiting the Fund ......................................................................................................................... 45 

4.2. Spreading exit deficits ............................................................................................................. 46 

4.3. Deferred debt agreements .................................................................................................... 47 

4.4. Surpluses ...................................................................................................................................... 48 

4.5. Potential exits ............................................................................................................................. 48 

4.6. Interim reviews for employers which may exit the Fund ............................................ 49 

4.7. Inter-valuation funding valuations ...................................................................................... 50 

5. Identification of risks and counter measures ...................................................................... 51 

Appendix 1 – Aims of the Fund ........................................................................................................ 52 

Appendix 2 – Roles and responsibilities of key parties ............................................................ 55 

Appendix 3 - Group funding framework ....................................................................................... 57 

Group funding framework .................................................................................................... 57 

Town and Parish Council Group ......................................................................................... 57 

Academies Group .................................................................................................................... 58 

Admission Body Group .......................................................................................................... 58 

Appendix 4 – Employer flexibilities and exits .............................................................................. 60 

Spreading exit payments ....................................................................................................... 60 

Deferred debt agreements ................................................................................................... 61 

Page 94



Appendix 2 

R 

Inter-valuation funding valuations .................................................................................... 63 

Appeals process ....................................................................................................................... 66 

Appendix 5 – Risks and counter measures ................................................................................... 67 

 

 
1. Introduction 

This section sets out the legislative context for the Funding Strategy Statement as 
well as the aims and purpose of the Fund and the responsibilities of the key parties.   

1.1. Background 

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 require the Fund to 
prepare and publish a Funding Strategy Statement (FSS). The Fund’s Actuary must 
have regard to this statement when setting employers’ contribution rates. 

As required by 2013 Regulation 58, the Statement has been reviewed (and where 
appropriate revised) having regard to guidance published by CIPFA in September 
2016. 

1.2. Consultation 

In accordance with Regulation 58, all Fund employers have been consulted on the 
contents of this FSS and their views have been considered in formulating it. 

However, the FSS describes a single strategy for the Fund as a whole. 

The Fund's Actuary, Aon Solutions UK Limited, has also been consulted on the 
content of this FSS. 

1.3. Purpose of the Funding Strategy Statement 

The purpose of this FSS is to set out the processes by which the administering 
authority establishes a clear and transparent funding strategy, that will identify how 
employers’ pension liabilities are best met going forward. 

The processes set out in this FSS detail the strategy which: 

 supports the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant a primary 
contribution rate as possible, as defined in Regulation 62(5) of the LGPS 
Regulations 2013. 

 ensures that the regulatory requirements to set contributions so as to ensure 
the solvency and long-term cost efficiency of the Fund are met. 

 takes a prudent longer-term view of funding those liabilities. 

 makes use of the provisions of Regulation 64(7A), 64A,and 64B 
The overriding focus of the FSS are on those actions that are in the best long term 
interests of the Fund.  Therefore, to ensure that all parties to the FSS share a 
common understanding, the aims and purpose of the Fund are set out below. 

Page 95



Appendix 2 

R 

1.4. Aims of the Fund 

The Fund has three main aims which are to: 

 manage the employers’ liabilities effectively and ensure that sufficient 
resources are available to meet all liabilities as they fall due 

 enable primary contribution rates to be kept nearly constant as possible 
(subject to the administering authority not taking undue risk) at reasonable 
cost to the taxpayers, scheduled, resolution and admitted bodies, while 
achieving and maintaining fund solvency and long-term cost efficiency, 
which should be assessed in light of the risk profile of the Fund and 
employers, and the risk appetite of the administering authority and 
employers alike. 

 seek returns on investment within reasonable risk parameters.  
The main aims of the Fund are explained in more detail in Appendix 1. 

1.5. Purpose of the Fund 

The purpose of the Fund is to: 

 receive monies in respect of contributions, transfer values and investment 
income 

 pay out monies in respect of scheme benefits, transfer values, costs, 
charges and expenses, as defined in the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 2013 and as required in the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016. 

1.6. Roles and responsibilities of key parties 

The efficient and effective management of the pension fund can only be achieved if 
all parties exercise their statutory duties and responsibilities conscientiously and 
diligently.  There are a wide range of stakeholders in LGPS funds, all of whom have 
a role in its effective management.  For the purpose of the FSS, the roles and 
responsibilities of the three key parties; the administering authority, individual 
employer and the Fund actuary are set out in Appendix 2. 

1.7. Links to the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement 

The Administering Authority has produced this Funding Strategy Statement having 
taken an overall view of the level of risk in the investment policy set out in the 
Investment Strategy Statement (available from the Pension Fund’s website). 

1.8. Future monitoring 

The Administering Authority plans to review this FSS as part of the three-yearly 
actuarial valuation process unless circumstances arise that require earlier action. 

The Administering Authority and the Fund's Actuary will monitor the Fund’s solvency 
position at regular intervals between valuations. Discussions will be held with the 
Fund's Actuary to establish whether any changes are significant enough to require 

Page 96

http://www3.hants.gov.uk/pensions/lgps/pensions-reportsandaccounts.htm


Appendix 2 

R 

further action, such as informing employers of the need for different employers’ 
contribution rates after the next valuation. 

Page 97



Appendix 2 

R 

2. Funding Strategy 

2.1. Risk based approach 

The Fund utilises a risk based approach to funding strategy. 

 

A risk based approach entails carrying out the actuarial valuation on the basis of 
the assessed likelihood of meeting the funding objectives, rather than relying on a 
'deterministic' approach which gives little idea of the associated risk. In practice, 
three key decisions are required for the risk based approach: 

 what the Solvency Target should be (the funding objective - where the 
Administering Authority wants the Fund to get to), 

 the Trajectory Period (how quickly the Administering Authority wants the Fund 
to get there), and 

 the Probability of Funding Success (how likely the Administering Authority 
wants it to be now that the Fund will actually achieve the Solvency Target by 
the end of the Trajectory Period). 

These three choices, supported by risk modelling carried out by the Fund's actuary, 
define the discount rate (investment return assumption) to be adopted and, by 
extension, the appropriate employer contributions payable. Together they measure 
the riskiness (and hence also the degree of prudence) of the funding strategy. 

These three terms are considered in more detail in sections 2.1.1 to 2.1.3 below. 

2.1.1. Solvency 

The Administering Authority's primary aim is long-term solvency.  Accordingly, 
employers’ contributions will be set to ensure that 100% of the liabilities can be 
met over the long term.  The Solvency Target is the amount of assets which the 
Fund wishes to hold at the end of the Trajectory Period (see later) to meet this 
aim. 

The Fund is deemed to be solvent when the assets held are equal to or greater 
than 100% of the Solvency Target. The Administering Authority believes that its 
funding strategy will ensure the solvency of the Fund because employers 
collectively have the financial capacity to increase employer contributions should 
future circumstances require, in order to continue to target a funding level of 
100%. 

For secure scheduled bodies, and certain other bodies deemed to be of similarly 
sound covenant whose participation is indefinite in nature (including where the 
employer's liabilities would be funded by a secure scheduled body employer post- 
exit), the Solvency Target is set: 

 at a level advised by the Fund Actuary as a prudent long-term 
funding objective for the Fund to achieve at the end of the 
Trajectory Period, 

 based on continued investment in a mix of growth and matching 
assets intended to deliver a return above the rate of increases in 
pensions and pensions accounts (CPI). 

Page 98



Appendix 2 

R 

Thus the Solvency Target for secure Scheduled Body employers and certain other 
bodies generally assumes indefinite investment in a broad range of assets of higher 
risk than risk-free assets. At the 2019 valuation the Solvency Target was set at 2% 
above the long term assumed rate of CPI. 

For certain admission bodies, bodies closed to new entrants and other bodies 
whose participation in the Fund could potentially be of limited duration through 
known constraints or reduced covenant, and for which no access to further funding 
would be available to the Fund after exit, the Solvency Target will be set at a more 
prudent level dependent on circumstances. 

For such bodies the Administering Authority will normally adopt a funding target 
which: 

 in the case of admission bodies where there is no commitment from a secure 
scheduled body to subsume the assets and liabilities on exit, particularly 
those which do not admit new members, anticipates the approach to valuing 
the liabilities on exit – the "ongoing orphan funding target" as defined later in 
this statement; 

 in the case of scheduled bodies without a government guarantee which are 
deemed to be of weaker covenant than the local authorities, produces a 
higher chance of achieving solvency/funding success through adoption of a 
lower discount rate than adopted for the local authorities – the ‘intermediate 
funding target(s)’. 

For deferred employers it is expected that the Solvency Target will be set by 
considering the valuation basis which would be adopted once the Deferred Debt 
Agreement (DDA) ends. For most such bodies, the Solvency Target will be set 
commensurate with assumed investment in Government bonds at the end of the 
period of the DDA.  

2.1.2. Recovery and Trajectory periods 

The Trajectory Period in relation to an employer is the period between the valuation 
date and the date which solvency is targeted to be achieved. A Trajectory Period of 
25 years has been adopted for the secure scheduled bodies at the 2019 valuation. 

When an actuarial valuation shows that an employer is in deficiency, the employer's 
contribution rates will be adjusted to achieve a 100% funding ratio over a period of 
years (the Recovery Period), while ensuring that the probability of achieving 
solvency over the Trajectory Period remains acceptable. In consultation with the 
Fund’s Actuary, the Administering Authority has set a common maximum recovery 
period of 16 years for all employers in the Fund from 1 April 2020. The maximum 
recovery period is determined at each actuarial valuation by balancing the Fund’s 
solvency and long-term cost efficiency requirements against considerations of 
affordability and stability of contributions, taking account of the financial strength of the 
Fund’s main scheduled employers. 

The same principles apply when an employer is in surplus except for employers of 
reduced covenant whose position is in deficit on an exit basis, where the 
Administering Authority may not permit reduced contributions below the primary 
contribution rate. 

Page 99



Appendix 2 

R 

The Fund’s liabilities mostly take the form of benefit payments over long periods of 
time. The main scheduled employers in the Fund are financed through central and 
local taxation and can be viewed as very financially secure. As these employers 
ultimately underwrite the Fund’s finances, the Administering Authority has agreed a 
recovery period of 16 years for the secure scheduled bodies in the 2019 actuarial 
valuation. In determining the recovery period which applies to other employers the 
Administering Authority may take into account, without limitation, the following 
factors: 

 the expected remaining period of participation 

 the type/group of the employer 

 the size of the funding shortfall or surplus; 

 the business plans of the employer;  

 the assessment of the financial covenant of the employer;  

 any contingent security available to the Fund or offered by the employer such 
as a guarantor or bond arrangements, charge over assets, etc. 

 the views of the subsuming employer where the funding target adopted is 
dependent upon another employer subsuming the assets and liabilities post-
exit. 

2.1.3. Probability of Funding Success 

The Administering Authority deems funding success to have been achieved if the 
Fund, at the end of the Trajectory Period, has achieved the Solvency Target. The 
Probability of Funding Success is the assessed chance of this happening based on 
the level of contributions payable by members and employers. 

Consistent with the aim of enabling employers' contribution rates to be kept as 
nearly constant as possible, the required chance of achieving the Solvency Target 
at the end of the relevant Trajectory Period for each employer or employer group 
can be altered at successive valuations within an overall envelope of acceptable 
risk. 

The Administering Authority will not permit contributions to be set following a 
valuation that have an unacceptably low chance of achieving the Solvency Target at 
the end of the relevant Trajectory Period. 

2.2. Funding Target 

The Funding Target is the amount of assets which the Fund needs to hold at the 
valuation date to pay the liabilities at that date as indicated by the chosen valuation 
method and assumptions.  The valuation calculations, including the future service 
contributions and any adjustment for surplus or deficiency, set the level of 
contributions payable. The discount rate is a key driver of the Funding Target and is 
set allowing for the assumed investment strategy and level of risk considered 
appropriate in light of the employer covenant and treatment of liabilities on exit.  For 
the secure scheduled bodies who collectively comprise around 85% of the Fund's 
liabilities the discount rate is set by considering the Fund's long-term investment 
strategy and the Administering Authority's risk preference, measured via  the chance 

Page 100



Appendix 2 

R 

of achieving the Solvency Target at the end of the Trajectory Period (defined 
above). 

Different funding targets are adopted for different employers as set out in the 
Employer Policy.  At the 2019 valuation the funding targets adopted were as 
follows: 

 secure scheduled body funding target for scheduled bodies expected to 
participate indefinitely, and any employers with a subsumption commitment 
from such an employer, other than academy contractors admitted prior to 1 
April 2019 

 intermediate funding targets for Tier 3 scheduled bodies based on a risk 
assessment carried out by the Fund Actuary, and any employers with a 
subsumption commitment from such an employer 

 ongoing orphan funding target for admission bodies expected to leave 
orphan liabilities on exit, and any academy contractors admitted prior to 1 
April 2019* 

 low risk (gilts) funding target for the liabilities of former employers where 
these are orphaned 

* The funding target which applies on the exit of academy contractors where 10 or 
fewer members transferred has been amended since the 2019 valuation. It is 
therefore expected that use of the ongoing orphan funding target for those 
academy contractors will be reviewed as part of the 2022 valuation. 

Employers who are able to provide security, including but not limited to a charge 
over assets may be permitted to pay ongoing contributions below the appropriate 
target level. The employer should recognise that underpayment of contributions is 
more likely to lead to additional contributions being required at subsequent reviews. 

For deferred employers where a DDA is in place, the funding target will take into 
account any likely change in the notional or actual investment strategy as regards 
the assets held in respect of the body’s liabilities at the date the DDA is expected to 
end and any other factors considered to be relevant by the Administering Authority 
on the advice of the Actuary, which may include, without limitation: 

 the agreed period of the DDA; 

 the type/group of the employer; 

 the business plans of the employer;  

 an assessment of the financial covenant of the employer;  

 any contingent security available to the Fund or offered by the employer such 
as a guarantor or bond arrangements, charge over assets, etc.  

Consistent with the aim of enabling employers' contribution rates to be kept as nearly 
constant as possible: 

 Contribution rates are set by use of the Projected Unit valuation method for 
most employers. The Projected Unit method is used in the actuarial 
valuation to determine the cost of benefits accruing to the Fund as a whole 
and for employers who continue to admit new members.  This means that 
the future service contribution rate is derived as the cost of benefits 
accruing to employee members over the year following the valuation date 

Page 101



Appendix 2 

R 

expressed as a percentage of members’ pensionable pay over that period. 

 For employers who no longer admit new members, the Attained Age 
valuation method is normally used.  This means that the future service 
contribution rate is derived as the average cost of benefits accruing to 
members over the period until they die, leave the Fund or retire. 

 For bodies closed to new entrants and other bodies whose participation in 
the Fund could potentially be of limited duration through known constraints 
or reduced covenant, the administering authority will take into account the 
potential for participation to cease, the potential timing of such exit, and any 
likely change in investment strategy regarding the assets held in respect of 
the admission body's liabilities at the date of exit. 

 

2.3. Grouping of Employers 

2.3.1. Group funding framework 

In some circumstances it is desirable to group employers within the Fund together 
for funding purposes (i.e. to calculate employer contribution rates).  Reasons might 
include reducing the volatility of contribution rates for employers, facilitating 
situations where employers have a common source of funding or accommodating 
employers who wish to share the risks related to their participation in the Fund. 

Employers may be grouped entirely, such that all of the risks of participation are 
shared, or only partially grouped such that only specified risks are shared. 

All employers in the Fund are grouped together regarding the risks associated with 
payment of ill health pensions and partner’s pensions and lump sum benefits on 
death in service. The cost of such benefits is shared across the employers in the 
Fund. This is because the Administering Authority, in view of the size of the Fund, 
does not see it as cost effective or necessary to insure these benefits externally. 

The group funding framework is set out in more detail in Appendix 3. 

2.3.2. Funding principles applying to grouped employers 

Risk sharing exists within groups.  The Administering Authority accepts that this can 
give rise to cross-subsidies between employers. However, employers in the Fund 
are required to make upfront contributions determined by the Fund's Actuary to 
cover the costs of unreduced early retirements, which is a major distinction between 
employers over time.  The Administering Authority and the Fund's Actuary 
periodically review whether separate rates for individual employers or groups of 
employers are required. 

Within each group, employers share risk according to a set of clearly defined 
principles which are as follows: 

 The group exists to produce a common percentage of pay contribution rate 
for employers in the group 

 Only the group funding target is relevant when producing a common primary 
contribution rate 

 Funding targets used to assess ongoing contributions at the triennial 

Page 102



Appendix 2 

R 

valuation are set using an ongoing actuarial basis that assumes participation 
is indefinite (or, if participation is not indefinite, that a secure scheduled body 
has committed to subsume the assets and liabilities of the employer on exit) 

 Employers are liable to fund deficiencies emerging at each valuation in 
proportion to their own liabilities at the time of the valuation 

 When employers exit the Fund they will be assumed to leave the group, even 
where a DDA is entered into. The funding target adopted at that time will 
depend on whether the liabilities will be subsumed (i.e. another employer or 
group will be responsible for the future funding of those liabilities) or will 
become orphan (where the Fund has no access to any future funding for 
those liabilities). 

2.4. Further aspects of funding strategy 

2.4.1. Notional sub-funds 

In order to establish contribution rates for individual employers or groups of 
employers it is convenient to subdivide the Fund notionally between the employers, 
as if each employer had its own notional sub-fund. 

This subdivision is for funding purposes only. It is purely notional and does not imply 
any formal subdivision of assets, nor ownership of any particular assets or groups of 
assets by any individual employer or group. 

2.4.2. Roll forward of sub-funds 

The notional sub-fund allocated to each employer or group will be updated allowing 
for all cashflows associated with that employer's or group's membership, including 
contribution income, benefits paid, transfers in and out and investment income 
allocated as set out below. 

2.4.3. Attribution of investment income 

Where the Administering Authority has agreed with a scheme employer that the 
scheme employer will have a tailored asset portfolio notionally allocated to it, the 
assets notionally allocated to that employer will be credited with a rate of return 
appropriate to the agreed allocation. 

Where the employer has not been allocated a tailored notional portfolio of assets, 
the assets notionally allocated to that employer will be credited with the rate of 
return earned by the Fund assets as a whole, adjusted for any return credited to 
those employers for whom a tailored notional asset portfolio exists. 

The Fund is not formally unitised for the purpose of notionally allocating assets to 
employers. The Fund Actuary calculates a notional asset allocation for each 
employer (or group of employers) at each triennial valuation, or at interim dates as 
may be required, based on cashflows relating to the employer (or group of 
employers) and investment returns earned by the Fund. Unless the Fund Actuary is 
notified of specific and material one-off payments, including bulk transfers and 
prepayment of employer contributions, cashflows in each scheme year ending 

Page 103



Appendix 2 

R 

31 March will be assumed to be accrued evenly over the scheme year and will 
attract half of the investment returns earned over that year. For specific and material 
one-off payments such as bulk transfers and advance payment of employer 
contributions (see below), investment returns on those payments (estimated where 
appropriate) for the relevant scheme year will be credited from the date of payment 
to the end of the relevant scheme year, unless otherwise notified by the 
Administering Authority. 

For additional employer contributions, investment returns on those payments will be 
credited from the first day of the next quarter following payment to the end of the 
relevant scheme year. 

2.4.4. Fund maturity 

To protect the Fund, and individual employers, from the risk of increasing maturity 
producing unacceptably volatile contribution adjustments as a percentage of pay the 
Administering Authority will normally require defined capital streams from employers 
in respect of any disclosed funding deficiency. 

2.4.5. Advance payment of employer contributions 

The Administering Authority will allow any employer apart from those in the 
Academies Group to pre-pay secondary contributions.  In addition, any employer 
who is not part of a group can choose to pre-pay their primary contributions. 

Pre-payments can be made annually or triennially in advance, and will attract a 
discount as agreed with the Administering Authority on the advice of the Fund's 
Actuary. Pre-payments of primary contributions will be subject to an annual true up 
once actual annual pensionable payroll is known. 

To adhere to the LGPS Regulations all employers must contribute at least an 
amount in each scheme year equivalent to the administration charge of 0.3% of 
payroll each year. Employers who pay their primary contributions triennially in 
advance must make a payment equal to 0.3% of payroll on 1 April in years 2 and 3.  
This payment will also attract a discount and be subject to an annual true up once 
actual annual pensionable payroll is known. 

Any employer wishing to enter into a pre-payment arrangement must engage with 
the Administering Authority prior to the scheme year in which the pre-payment is 
being made. 

Full details of how the discount is calculated and the administrative process for the 
payment of the annual administration charge and the end of year true up procedure 
will be made available to employers who wish to consider taking this option. 

2.4.6. Additional payments by employers 

Employers must contribute the amounts certified by the Fund’s Actuary in each 
valuation period. However, these are the minimum contributions required and 
employers (other than those in the Academies Group) can choose to make 
additional payments. 

The additional payment will be credited to the employer and will be allocated 
investment returns from the start of the quarter following the receipt of the payment.

Page 104



Appendix 2 

R 

 

3. Security 

3.1. Guarantors 

Some employers may have been admitted to the Fund by virtue of the existence of a 
Guarantor. The Administering Authority maintains a list of employers and their 
Guarantors.  For any new admission body wishing to join the Fund, the Administering 
Authority will require a Guarantor.  The Administering Authority, unless notified 
otherwise, sees the role of a Guarantor to include the following: 

 If an employer leaves the Fund and defaults on any of its financial obligations 
to the Fund, the Guarantor is expected to provide the Fund with the amount 
certified by the Fund's Actuary as due, including any interest payable. 

 If the Guarantor is also an employer in the Fund and is judged by the 
Administering Authority to have suitable financial security, the Guarantor may 
clear some of the financial liability by subsuming the residual liabilities into its 
own pool of Fund liabilities.  In other words, it agrees to be a source of future 
funding in respect of those liabilities should future deficiencies emerge. 

During the period of participation of the employer a Guarantor may at any time 
agree to the future subsumption of any residual liabilities of that employer.  That 
action may reduce the funding target for the employer, which may, in turn, lead to 
reduced contribution requirements, although in determining the contributions the 
Administering Authority would have regard to the intentions of the Guarantor and 
its agreement with the Admission Body. The Guarantor should ensure that it is 
clear what would happen to any surplus arising on the subsequent exit of the 
Admission Body, in particular whether or not an exit credit would become payable.  

The Guarantor will be permitted to subsume all assets and liabilities of an employer 
including the inheritance of any deficiency or surplus.  However, where the 
Guarantor is a grouped employer, the Administering Authority will insist upon the 
Guarantor meeting the contributions required to clear the deficiency inherited by the 
Guarantor (whether immediately or over an appropriate period), to protect the other 
employers in the Guarantor's group from this element of the group's deficiency. 
Conversely a Guarantor may receive a reduction to its contributions to ensure that 
the benefit of a surplus is provided to the Guarantor rather than spread across the 
Guarantor’s group. 

3.2. Bonds and other securitisation 

Paragraph 7 of Part 3 of Schedule 2 of the 2013 Regulations creates a requirement 
for a new admission body to carry out, to the satisfaction of the administering 
authority (and the Relevant Scheme Employer in the case of paragraph 1(d)(i) 
bodies admitted under Schedule 2 Part 3 of the 2013 Regulations), an assessment 
taking account of actuarial advice of the level of risk on premature termination by 
reason of insolvency, winding up or liquidation. 

Where the level of risk identified by the assessment is such as to require it the 
admission body shall enter into an indemnity or bond with an appropriate party. 
Where it is not desirable for an admission body to enter into an indemnity or bond, 
the body is required to secure a guarantee in a form satisfactory to the administering 

Page 105



Appendix 2 

R 

authority from an organisation who either funds, owns or controls the functions of 
the admission body. 

The Administering Authority's approach in this area is as follows: 

 In the case of paragraph 1(d)(i) bodies admitted under Schedule 2 Part 3 of 
the 2013 Regulations, and other admission bodies with a Guarantor, so 
long as the Administering Authority judges the relevant scheme employer 
or Guarantor to have suitable financial security, any bond exists purely to 
protect the relevant scheme employer against default of the admission 
body. It is entirely the responsibility of the relevant scheme employer or 
Guarantor to arrange any risk assessments and decide the level of required 
bond.  The administering authority can supply some standard calculations 
provided by the Fund's actuary to aid the relevant scheme employer or 
Guarantor, but this should in no way be taken as advice on this matter. 
Levels of required bond cover can fluctuate and the administering authority 
recommends that relevant scheme employers review required cover 
regularly, at least once a year. 

 In the case of paragraph 1(d)(i) bodies admitted under Schedule 2 Part 3 of 
the 2013 Regulations, where the administering authority does not judge the 
relevant scheme employer to have suitable financial security, the 
administering authority must be involved in assessing the required level of 
bond to protect the Fund. Admission can only proceed once the 
administering authority has agreed the level of bond cover. Levels of 
required bond cover can fluctuate and the administering authority will 
require the relevant scheme employer to review required cover jointly with it 
regularly, at least once a year. 

 In the case of bodies other than paragraph 1(d)(i) bodies admitted under 
Schedule 2 Part 3 of the 2013 Regulations, the administering authority 
must be involved in assessing the required level of bond to protect the 
Fund. Admission can only proceed once the administering authority has 
agreed the level of bond cover. Levels of required bond cover can 
fluctuate and the administering authority will review required cover 
regularly, at least once a year. 

In relation to existing employers, including Scheduled Bodies, the Administering 
Authority will consider whether provision of security, including but not limited to a 
charge over assets; Government guarantee; or subsumption commitment from a 
long-term secure scheduled body is sufficient to justify reviewing an employer's 
contributions between triennial valuations in line with Regulation 64A and its policy 
on use of these provisions.  

 

 

Page 106



Appendix 2 

R 

4. Exiting the fund 

4.1. Exiting the Fund 

Where an employer meets the relevant criteria, an exit valuation will be carried out in 
accordance with Regulation 64. The exit valuation and any associated exit payment 
due will take account of 

 any bulk transfer payments due or other activity as a consequence of exiting 
the Fund; and 

 the future funding arrangements for any liabilities that will remain in the Fund, 
including any agreement to spread the exit payment or Deferred Debt 
Agreement. 

The exit valuation will distinguish between residual liabilities which will become 
orphan liabilities, and liabilities which will be subsumed by other employers or 
otherwise continue to be funded to the satisfaction of the Administering Authority. 

"orphan liabilities" arise where an employer is leaving the Fund, the Administering 
Authority will have no further access for funding from that employer once any exit 
valuation has been completed and any sums due have been paid to the Fund, and 
no particular employer or group of employers will be responsible for the future 
funding of those liabilities. 

For orphan liabilities the funding target in the exit valuation will anticipate investment 
in low risk investments, currently assumed to be Government fixed- interest and 
index-linked bonds.  This is to minimise the risk to other employers in the Fund of 
having to make good any deficiency arising on the orphan liabilities. The 
Administering Authority currently operates a single investment strategy and so for 
funding purposes the Fund’s Actuary matches the value of orphan liabilities to an 
equal amount of index-linked gilts from the Fund’s investments, with the balance of 
the Fund’s investment returns credited to the other employers the remaining 
employers in the Fund assume the risk of the Fund's assets delivering returns less 
than the assumed rate in the exit valuation in respect of orphan liabilities. 

"subsumed liabilities" refer to the situation where another employer, or group of 
employers, in the Fund agrees to provide future funding in respect of any emerging 
deficiencies in relation to the liabilities of a former (exited) employer. The subsuming 
employer will also normally benefit from any emerging surplus on those liabilities. 

On exit the non-active liabilities of admission bodies in paragraph 1(d)(i) of Schedule 
2 Part 3 which commenced in the Fund on or after 1 April 2018 will be attributed to 
(i.e. assumed to be subsumed by) the relevant Scheme employer as defined in the 
regulations. 

For subsumed liabilities the exit valuation will generally be calculated using a funding 
target (and hence assumptions) in line with the ongoing funding target for the 
accepting employer or group. This will mean assuming continued investment in more 
risky investments than Government bonds. However, for employers admitted under 
paragraph 1(d)(i) of Schedule 2 where the relevant Scheme Employer is an 
academy and more than 10 employees transferred to the admission body, the exit 
valuation will be calculated using a funding target (and hence assumptions) 
consistent with that used to calculate the initial asset transfer, which will generally be 
the ongoing orphan funding target. For the avoidance of doubt, it is assumed that the 
liabilities of any employers admitted under paragraph 1(d)(i) of Schedule 2 where the 

Page 107



Appendix 2 

R 

relevant Scheme Employer is an academy and 10 or fewer employees transferred, 
will be subsumed by the academy if they are not otherwise transferring to a new 
admission body.  

For subsumed liabilities the exit valuation will be calculated using a funding target 
(and hence assumptions) consistent with that used to set ongoing contributions for 
the exiting employer. This will be the ongoing orphan funding target for employers 
admitted under paragraph 1(d)(i) of Schedule 2 where the relevant Scheme 
Employer is an academy and, for transfers on or after 1 April 2019, more than 10 
employees transferred to the admission body. For all other employers, and for 
transfers on or after 1 April 2019 where 10 or fewer employees transfer from an 
academy to an admission body, the administering authority will assume that the 
investments held in respect of those liabilities will be the same as those held for the 
rest of the liabilities of the accepting employer or group. Generally this will mean 
assuming continued investment in more risky investments than Government bonds. 

For subsumed liabilities the exit valuation will take account of a number of other 
factors such as the funding target used to calculate the initial asset transfer where 
the exiting employer is a short term admission body under paragraph 1(d)(i) of 
Schedule 2; the funding target used to calculate the ongoing contributions for the 
employer; whether the exiting employer is a going concern or is ceasing to exist, 
and whether there is a Guarantor. 

Regardless of whether the residual liabilities are orphan liabilities or subsumed 
liabilities, unless a Deferred Debt Agreement is entered into, the departing employer 
(or Guarantor if the employer is unable to pay) will generally be expected to make 
good the funding obligation revealed in the exit valuation. In other words, the fact 
that liabilities may become subsumed liabilities does not necessarily remove the 
possibility of an exit payment being required nor of a surplus credit being repaid. 

An allowance for the costs of the McCloud remedy and GMP equalisation will be 
included for exit payments calculated on or after 27 September 2019.  As an interim 
measure given the uncertainty, exit payments will be calculated assuming that 
McCloud will lead to a 0.4% increase in the liabilities, and GMP indexation will be 
provided in full for all of the exiting employer’s members whose State Pension Age is 
on or after 1 April 2016. This allowance will be kept under review and will be 
updated as agreed by the Administering Authority on the advice of the Fund Actuary. 

4.2. Spreading exit deficits 

Any exit deficit would normally be levied on the departing employer as a single 
capital payment although the Administering Authority may allow phased payments as 
permitted under Regulation 64B.  The Administering Authority's policy in relation to 
the spreading of exit payments under Regulation 64B is summarised below and set 
out in more detail in Appendix 4.  below. 

It is envisaged that spreading of exit payments will only be considered at the request 
of an employer. The Administering Authority will then engage/consult with the 
employer to consider its application and determine whether or not spreading the exit 
payment is appropriate and the terms which should apply. 

In determining whether or not to permit an exit payment to be spread, the 
Administering Authority will consider factors including, but not limited to: 

 the ability of the employer to make a single capital payment;  

Page 108



Appendix 2 

R 

 whether any security is in place, including a charge over assets, bond, 
guarantee or other indemnity;  

 whether the overall recovery to the Fund is likely to be higher if spreading the 
exit payment is permitted.   

In determining the employer's ability to make a single payment the Administering 
Authority will seek actuarial, covenant or legal advice as required. Where the 
Administering Authority considers that the employer is financially able to make a 
single capital payment it will not normally be appropriate for the exit payment to be 
spread.  

4.3. Deferred debt agreements 

Regulation 64(7A) permits the Administering Authority to enter into a written 
agreement with an exiting Scheme employer for that employer to defer their 
obligation to make an exit payment and continue to make contributions at the 
secondary rate ("a deferred debt agreement," or "DDA"). An employer which has 
entered into a DDA is known as a 'deferred employer'. 

The Administering Authority's policy in relation to the entering into DDAs under 
Regulation 64(7A) is set out in Appendix 4 and summarised below. 

In determining whether or not to enter into a DDA with an employer the 
Administering Authority will take into account the following factors, including but not 
limited to:  

 the materiality of the employer and any exit deficit in terms of the Fund as a 
whole; 

 the risk to the Fund of entering into a DDA, in terms of the likelihood of the 
employer failing before the DDA has ended, based on information supplied 
by the employer and supported by a financial risk assessment or more 
detailed covenant review carried out by the Fund Actuary or other covenant 
adviser  

 the rationale for the employer requesting a DDA, particularly if the 
Administering Authority believes it would be able to make an immediate 
payment to cover the exit deficit; and 

 whether an up front payment will be made towards the deficit, and/or any 
security is, or can be put, in place, including a charge over assets, bond, 
guarantee or other indemnity, to reduce the risk to other employers. 

Where it is expected that the employer's covenant may materially weaken over time, 
or where the employer's financial capacity to support an increase in the exit debt is 
limited, the Administering Authority is very unlikely to consider entering into a DDA 
with that employer. Further, where an employer can demonstrably meet the exit 
payment in a single instalment, the Administering Authority would be unlikely to enter 
into a DDA unless it was clear that this wouldn't increase risk to the Fund, e.g. if the 
employer was fully taxpayer-backed and sufficient assurance was in place that all 
contributions due, including any residual deficit at the end of the DDA, would be met 
in full. The Administering Authority is also unlikely to enter into a DDA for very small 
employers where it considers the administration and advisory costs of doing so are 
disproportionate. 

Page 109



Appendix 2 

R 

4.4. Surpluses 

Where an employer exits on or after 14 May 2018 and the exit valuation 
determines that the departing employer is in surplus, the payment of an exit credit 
will be made at the discretion of the Administering Authority, after taking into 
account the factors set out in the LGPS 2013 regulations namely; 

a) the extent to which there is an excess of assets in the fund relating to 
that employer over the liabilities 

b) the proportion of this excess of assets which has arisen because of the 
value of the employer’s contributions; 

c) any representations to the administering authority made by the 
exiting employer or letting authority; 

d) any other relevant factors. 

Other relevant factors include but are not limited to the basis of the exit valuation, 
the extent to which the exiting employer was responsible for the funding risk 
during their participation in the Fund and the existence or otherwise of a 
commitment from another ongoing employer in the Fund to subsume liabilities on 
exit. 

This may mean that no exit credit is due for example if it is a stated condition of an 
employer subsuming the liabilities that no surplus will be repaid to the exiting 
employer as is the case for those organisations in the Admission Body Group 
which have a commitment from a secure scheduled employer to subsume the 
liabilities on exit. This will also be the case in relation to any employers admitted 
under paragraph 1(d)(i) of Schedule 2 where the relevant Scheme Employer is an 
academy and the initial allocation of assets was calculated on the ongoing funding 
target but the liabilities on exit are assumed to be subsumed by the academy and 
the exit valuation is carried out using the ongoing funding target appropriate to the 
academy. 

Employers who are letting contracts need to ensure their contractual 
arrangements cover the treatment of exit credits and that they notify the Fund if 
these arrangements mean that a surplus should be retained by the letting 
authority.  Representations from employers will be considered on a case by case 
basis although if a contract pre dates 14 May 2018 and is silent on the treatment 
of an exit credit, payment will usually only be made to the departing employer if 
they would have also paid for an exit deficit. 

Where an exit valuation is carried out on a low risk basis, the exit credit will 
usually be equal to the excess of assets over the liabilities, less any costs. 

The exit credit will be paid to the departing employer within six months of the date of 
exit or such longer period as is agreed with the exiting employer. It will be deemed 
that an employer agrees to a longer period where all relevant information is not 
provided within one month of the exit date. 

Any actuarial or legal costs of the exit will be deducted from the exit credit before 
payment, unless there is a good reason to accept separate payment for these. 

4.5. Potential exits 

Where the Administering Authority considers that it is possible that an employer may 
leave the Fund at some point in the future and the employer would leave orphan 
liabilities on its exit from the Fund, an ongoing funding target (the "ongoing orphan 

Page 110



Appendix 2 

R 

funding target") will, unless the circumstances dictate otherwise, be used to 
determine the employer's ongoing contributions at the triennial valuation.  The 
ongoing orphan funding target anticipates the approach which will be taken to 
valuing the employer's liabilities on exit. It will generally be calculated using a 
discount rate or rates set by reference to the yield on long-dated government bonds 
on the valuation date. Allowance may be made, at the Administering Authority's 
discretion and on the advice of the Fund's Actuary, for some out- performance of the 
Fund's assets relative to gilts in determining the discount rate which applies to the 
period during which the employees are assumed to remain active members and for 
future expected increases in gilt yields in determining the discount rate which applies 
to pensioner and deferred liabilities and for active members in the period after they 
are assumed to have left service. 

4.6. Interim reviews for employers which may exit the Fund 

Regulation 64(4) provides the administering authority with the power to carry out 
valuations in respect of admission bodies and other employers which are expected 
to cease at some point in the future, and for the Fund's Actuary to certify revised 
contribution rates, between triennial valuation dates. 

The Administering Authority's overriding objective at all times is that, where possible, 
the funding target for that body is clear, and that contribution rates payable are 
appropriate for that funding target.  However, this is not always possible as any date 
of exit may be unknown (for example, participation may be assumed at present to be 
indefinite), and because market conditions change daily. 

The Administering Authority's general approach in this area is as follows: 

 Where the date of exit is known, and is more than three years away, or is 
unknown and participation is assumed to be indefinite, interim valuations 
under Regulation 64(4) will generally not be required by the Administering 
Authority. 

 For paragraph 1(d)(i) bodies (2013 Regulations – Schedule 2 Part 3) falling 
into the above category, the Administering Authority sees it as the 
responsibility of the relevant scheme employer to instruct it if an interim 
valuation is required. Such an exercise would be at the expense of the 
relevant scheme employer unless otherwise agreed. 

 A material change in circumstances, for example the date of exit becoming 
known, material membership movements or material financial information 
coming to light may cause the Administering Authority to review the situation 
informally and subsequently request a formal interim valuation (using 
Regulation 64A if required – see next section). 

 Where an employer is due to leave the Fund within the next three years, the 
administering authority will monitor developments and may see fit to request 
an interim valuation at any time in order to try to effect a smoother transition 
to exit. 

The Administering Authority reserves the right to request an interim valuation of any 
employer's liabilities at any time in accordance with Regulation 64(4).  

Page 111



Appendix 2 

R 

4.7. Inter-valuation funding valuations 

Regulation 64A enables employer contributions to be reviewed between triennial 
valuation where: 

(i) it appears likely to the administering authority that the amount of the liabilities 
arising or likely to arise has changed significantly since the last valuation;  

(ii) it appears likely to the administering authority that there has been a significant 
change in the ability of the Scheme employer(s) to meet the obligations of employers 
in the Scheme; or  

(iii) a Scheme employer(s) has requested a review of Scheme employer 
contributions and have undertaken to meet the costs of that review.   

The Administering Authority's policy on use of these provisions is set out in Appendix 
4.

Page 112



Appendix 2 

R 

5. Identification of risks and counter measures 

The Administering Authority recognises that future events and investment income 
cannot be predicted with certainty. Instead, there is a range of possible outcomes, 
and different assumed outcomes will lie at different places within that range. 

The more optimistic the assumptions made, the more that outcome will sit towards 
the 'favourable' end of the range of possible outcomes, the lower will be the 
probability of events actually matching or being more favourable than the assumed 
events, and the lower will be the Funding Target calculated using those 
assumptions. 

The Administering Authority’s overall policy on risk is to identify all risks to the Fund 
and to consider the position both in aggregate and at individual risk level. Risks to 
the Fund will be monitored and action taken to limit them as soon as possible. The 
main risks are summarised in Appendix  5.

Page 113



Appendix 2 

R 

Appendix 1 – Aims of the Fund 

The Fund has three main aims: 

 to manage the employers’ liabilities effectively 

 to enable primary contribution rates to be kept as nearly constant as possible 

 to seek returns on investment within reasonable risk parameters. 
These are detailed below. 

 

To manage the employers’ liabilities effectively 

Hampshire County Council as administering authority makes sure that the Fund’s 
liabilities are managed effectively.  This is achieved by commissioning actuarial 
valuations every three years as required by law.  These determine the employers’ 
contribution rates required to make sure liabilities can be managed effectively. 

The administering authority also commissions additional work in relation to the 
specific issues described below. 

The Fund’s primary aim is long-term solvency.  Accordingly, employers’ 
contributions will be set to ensure that 100% of the liabilities can be met over the 
long term. For the purpose of determining the Solvency Target for individual 
employers, the Administering Authority may without limitation, take into account the 
following factors: 

 the type/group of the employer; 

 the business plans of the employer;  

 an assessment of the financial covenant of the employer;  

 any contingent security available to the Fund or offered by the employer such 
as a guarantor or bond arrangements, charge over assets, etc.;  

 whether the employer has set up a subsidiary company to employ staff which 
does not participate in, or admit new employees to, the Fund 

The Fund is deemed to be solvent when the assets held are equal to 100% of the 
Solvency Target. 

The administering authority will make sure that the Fund always has enough cash 
available to pay pensions, transfer values to other pension funds, and other costs 
and expenses. Such expenditure will normally be met from incoming contributions 
from employees and employers and investment income, to avoid the cost of selling 
any of the Fund’s investments. The position is reviewed every three months to make 
sure enough cash is available to meet the Fund’s obligations. 

The Administering Authority publishes an Employer Policy which explains in more 
detail the funding policies for certain categories of employer 

 

To enable primary contribution rates to be kept as nearly constant as possible 

Achieving nearly constant primary contribution rates requires stability of employers' 
active membership profile and use of assumptions which are relatively constant 
over time. The Administering Authority has no control over employers' active 

Page 114



Appendix 2 

R 

membership although the methodology used to calculate the future service rate 
does vary according to whether or not the employer admits new members to the 
Fund. In relation to the assumptions, the Administering Authority believes that the 
same assumptions should be used to determine the past service liabilities (and 
hence the funding target) as are used to determine employers' primary contribution 
rates. 

The demographic assumptions are reviewed by the Actuary on a triennial basis and 
updated as required to allow for recent Fund experience and other national factors 
as required.  It is not expected that material changes would be made to these 
assumptions from one valuation to the next. 

In relation to the financial assumptions, these can vary quite materially from one 
valuation to the next as market conditions alter.  A substantial proportion of the 
Fund’s investments are held in asset classes such as shares and property, with the 
aim of increasing investment returns and keeping costs to employers reasonable. 
However, the expected returns on these asset classes can be quite volatile and so 
the real discount rate can change materially from one triennial valuation to the next, 
leading to a material change in employers' primary contribution rates. 

In determining the extent to which stability measures are needed to keep primary 
contributions as nearly constant as possible, the Administering Authority will also 
consider how secondary contributions are changing, i.e. where possible, and 
consistent with other regulatory objectives, this objective will in practice relate to 
employers' total contributions (primary and secondary). 

Where justified, and as long as it doesn't run counter to the main aims of ensuring 
solvency and long-term cost efficiency, the Administering Authority will permit 
phasing in of changes to employers' contribution rates over a period of up to three 
years.  Care needs to be taken in relation to  employers closed to new entrants and 
other bodies whose participation in the Fund could potentially be of limited duration 
through known constraints or reduced covenant (for example, non-local authority 
employers awarded contracts to provide local authority services, and less secure 
scheduled bodies), where use of phasing to smooth contribution rate changes is 
less appropriate. 

The Administering Authority recognises that a balance needs to be struck regarding 
the financial demands made of scheme employers of reduced covenant.  On the 
one hand, the Administering Authority requires all scheme employers to be fully self 
funding (either on a grouped or an individual basis), such that other employers in the 
Fund are not subject to expense as a consequence of the participation of those 
bodies.  On the other hand, requiring contributions to target full funding at all times, 
without further smoothing (phasing), may cause failure of the body in question in 
periods of extreme economic conditions, leading to significant costs for other 
participating employers. The Administering Authority will therefore consider phasing 
periods longer than three years if unusual and difficult budgetary constraints make 
this necessary, or if other changes, such as changes to the funding target, justify 
this approach. Whenever contribution changes are being phased in, this can only be 
achieved if the regulatory requirements of setting employer contributions to ensure 
the solvency and long-term cost efficiency of the Fund would still be met. 

 

Page 115



Appendix 2 

R 

Seek returns on investment within reasonable risk parameters 

Returns should be higher over the long term than those from index-linked stocks by 
investing in other asset classes such as shares, property and alternative 
investments. 

Risk parameters are controlled by restricting investment to asset classes generally 
recognised as appropriate for UK pension funds. From time to time the 
Administering Authority reviews the potential risks of investing in the various asset 
classes, with help from the Fund’s investment advisors and its investment 
managers. 

The Fund’s funding strategy, based on the discount rate adopted for the majority of 
employers/liabilities at the 2019 actuarial valuation, requires the assets to deliver a 
long-term return above 4.4% p.a., (the discount rate) compared to the Fund 
Actuary’s best estimate for the Fund’s average return of 5.7% p.a. as at March 
2019. An investment management structure has been developed and managers 
appointed to deliver a long-term return in excess of returns on cash and gilt 
investments within an acceptable level of risk.  Details of the updated structure and 
managers are in the Investment Strategy Statement.

Page 116



Appendix 2 

R 

Appendix 2 – Roles and responsibilities of key parties 

 

The administering authority is required to: 

 operate a pension fund 

 collect employer and employee contributions, investment income and other 
amounts 

 due to the pension fund as stipulated in LGPS Regulations 

 pay from the pension fund the relevant entitlements as stipulated in LGPS 
Regulations 

 invest surplus monies in accordance with the LGPS Regulations 

 ensure that cash is available to meet liabilities as and when they fall due 

 take measures as set out in the regulations to safeguard the fund against the 

 consequences of employer default 

 manage the valuation process in consultation with the fund’s actuary 

 prepare and maintain an FSS and an SIP/ISS, both after proper consultation 
with interested parties 

 monitor all aspects of the fund’s performance and funding, and amend the 
FSS/ISS accordingly 

 effectively manage any potential conflicts of interest arising from its dual role 
as both fund administrator and scheme employer 

 enable the local pension board to review the valuation process as set out in 
their terms of reference. 

The individual employer is required to: 

 deduct contributions from employees’ pay correctly 

 pay all ongoing contributions, including employer contributions determined by 
the actuary and set out in the rates and adjustments certificate, promptly by 
the due date 

 develop a policy on certain discretions and exercise those discretions as 
permitted within the regulatory framework 

 make additional contributions in accordance with agreed arrangements in 
respect of, for example, augmentation of scheme benefits and early retirement 
strain 

 notify the administering authority promptly of all changes to active 
membership that affect future funding. 

 pay any exit payments on ceasing participation in the fund. 

Page 117



Appendix 2 

R 

The fund actuary should: 

 prepare valuations including the setting of employers’ contribution rates at a 
level to ensure fund solvency and long-term cost efficiency after agreeing 
assumptions with the administering authority and having regard to the FSS 
and the LGPS Regulations 

 prepare advice and calculations in connection with bulk transfers and the 
funding aspects of individual benefit-related matters such as pension strain 
costs, ill health, retirement costs, compensatory added years costs, etc 

 provide advice and valuations on the exiting of employers from the fund 

 provide advice to the administering authority on bonds or other forms of 
security against the financial effect on the fund of employer default 

 assist the administering authority in assessing whether employer contributions 
need to be revised between valuations as permitted or required by the 
regulations 

 ensure that the administering authority is aware of any professional guidance 
or other professional requirements that may be of relevance to his or her role 
in advising the fund.

Page 118



Appendix 2 

 

Appendix 3 - Group funding framework 

 

Group funding framework 

Prior to 1 April 2019 all the secure scheduled bodies in the Fund participated in a 
grouped funding arrangement called the 'Scheduled Body Group'. With effect from 1 
April 2019 the Scheduled Body Group was disbanded, with employers either 
entering new group funding arrangements (see below) or having their contributions 
assessed on an individual basis. 

With effect from 1 April 2019 there are three groups of employers for funding 
purposes; the Town and Parish Councils Group (TPCG), the Academies Group (AG) 
and the Admission Body Group (ABG). Employers within a group share all risks of 
participation with other employers in the group, with the exception of liability for: 

 ill health pensions, partner’s pensions and lump sum benefits payable on 
death in service (which are shared across all employers in the Fund) 

 secondary contributions (in relation to the ABG and TPCG only). 
The Administering Authority will keep under review the funding arrangements of all 
employers and may remove additional employers from the grouping arrangements 
should their situations change. 

New funding groups would be considered by the Administering Authority, but only 
through consultation with the employers involved. 

Town and Parish Council Group 

The Town and Parish Council Group was created on 1 April 2019. The Group was 
credited with a notional asset transfer from the Scheduled Body Group based on a 
share of Fund of the Scheduled Body Group at 31 March 2019. 

The TPCG includes Town and Parish Council employers under Part 2 (paragraph 

2) of Schedule 2 of the Regulations who, due to being relatively small employers, 
benefit from being able to share risks with a wider pool. 

A Town or Parish Council was able to elect by 15 August 2019 to opt out of the 
TPCG at the 2019 valuation and instead have an individual contribution rate.  An 
option to leave the TPCG will be given as part of all subsequent valuations.  An 
election to leave the TPCG is irrevocable. 

Employers within the TPCG share all risks arising in the TPCG since the previous 
valuation in proportion to liabilities at the valuation date. The first such valuation date 
at which this risk sharing will be calculated will be 31 March 2022.  There is an 
exception for secondary contributions paid by employers over the intervaluation 
period, which will not be shared, and will be credited to each employer's notional 
asset allocation of the TPCG. 

Most employers within the TPCG will have a common recovery period for deficit 
contributions, which was set as 16 years at the 2019 valuation. Where an employer 
in the TPCG notifies the Administering Authority of a decision to stop designating 

Page 119



Appendix 2 

 

posts as being eligible for membership of the LGPS a shorter recovery period may 
be used. 

Employers of the TPCG will be credited with a notional asset allocation at each 
valuation for the purposes of setting contribution rates. The asset allocation will be 
determined based on the risk sharing framework set out above. This notional asset 
allocation will also be relevant for calculating an exit valuation or calculations under 
FRS102/IAS19. 

Academies Group 

The Academies Group (AG) was created on 1 April 2019. The Group was credited 
with a notional asset transfer from the Scheduled Body Group based on a share of 
Fund of the Scheduled Body Group at 31 March 2019. 

The AG includes all Academies, Free Schools and Multi Academy Trusts under Part 
1 (paragraph 20) of Schedule 2 of the Regulations, which are covered by the 
Department for Education guarantee. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the AG includes any academy created from a former 
higher or further education body. However, the organisation can choose to make an 
irrevocable decision not to join the AG at the later of the date of conversion or the 
signing of the 2019 valuation rates and adjustments certificate. 

Employers within the AG share all risks in proportion to liabilities. Employers will be 
responsible for paying a share of the deficit contributions to the AG in proportion to 
their liabilities in the AG at the relevant valuation. 

Employers in the AG will have a common recovery period for deficit contributions 
which was set as 16 years at the 2019 valuation. 

Employers of the AG are not credited with individual notional asset allocations at 
each valuation for the purposes of setting contribution rates, as deficit contributions 
are certified based on the funding level of the group. For the purpose of calculating 
an exit valuation or calculations under FRS102/IAS19, employers in the AG are 
assumed to have the same funding level as the group as a whole, based on the 
value of benefits accrued to date for the group as a whole and notional assets held in 
respect of the group. The funding level of the group is expressed as a percentage 
and calculated as: 

notional assets held in respect of the group divided by value of benefits accrued to 
date for the group as a whole. 

Admission Body Group 

The Admission Body Group (ABG) consists of a number of charitable and not for 
profit admission bodies. The Administering Authority views the purpose of the ABG 
to be primarily to smooth contributions for charities and other not-for-profit 
organisations which would otherwise be exposed to the potential of volatile 
contributions. With effect from 1 April 2019 all employers within the ABG have a 
commitment from a secure scheduled employer to subsume their liabilities on exit. 

Employers participating in the ABG on 31 March 2019 without such commitment 
exited the grouped funding arrangement on that date and became stand-alone 

Page 120



Appendix 2 

 

employers. Those employers were credited with a notional asset allocation equal to 
a share of Fund of the Admission Body Group at 31 March 2019. 

From 1 April 2019 employers within the ABG will share all risks arising in the ABG 
since the previous valuation in proportion to liabilities at the valuation date. The first 
such valuation date at which this this risk sharing will be calculated will be 

31 March 2022. There is an exception for secondary contributions paid by employers 
over the intervaluation period, which will not be shared, and will be credited to each 
employer's notional asset allocation of the ABG. 

Employers in the ABG will have individual recovery periods for deficit contributions 
based on the average future working lifetime of their active members.  This will be 
subject to the maximum 16 year recovery period set at the 2019 valuation for secure 
scheduled body employers. 

Employers of the ABG will be credited with a notional asset allocation at each 
valuation for the purposes of setting contribution rates. The asset allocation will be 
determined based on the risk sharing framework set out above. This notional asset 
allocation will also be relevant for calculating an exit valuation or calculations under 
FRS102/IAS19. 

Page 121



Appendix 2 

 

Appendix 4 – Employer flexibilities and exits 

The Administering Authority’s policy on the use of Regulation 64 in relation to 
employer flexibilities is set out below.   

 Spreading exit payments 

The spreading of exit payments will only be considered at the request of an 
employer. Where there is a guarantor, the guarantor will also be consulted and any 
agreement to spread the exit deficit may be conditional on the guarantee continuing 
in force during the spreading period. Whilst the Administering Authority's preference 
would be for an employer to request spreading of any exit payment in advance of the 
exit date, it is acknowledged that a final decision by the employer (and the 
Administering Authority) on whether this will be financially beneficial/appropriate may 
not be possible until the employer has exited. 

The employer will be required to provide details of its financial position, business 
plans and financial forecasts and such other information as required by the 
Administering Authority in order for it to make a decision on whether or not to permit 
the exit payment to be spread. This information must be provided within 2 months of 
request.  

In determining the appropriate length of time for an exit payment to be spread, the 
Administering Authority will consider the affordability of the instalments using 
different spreading periods for the employer. The default spreading period will be 
three years but longer periods of up to ten years may be considered where the 
Administering Authority is satisfied that this doesn't pose undue risk to the Fund in 
relation to the employer's ability to continue to make payments over the period. 

Whilst the Administering Authority's preference would be for an employer to request 
spreading of any exit payment in advance of the exit date, it is acknowledged that a 
final decision by the employer (and the Administering Authority) on whether this will 
be financially beneficial/appropriate may not be possible until the employer has 
exited. Exiting employers will be advised of the exit deficit and the spreading of any 
payment will only be considered at the request of the employer. Where there is a 
guarantor, the guarantor will also be consulted and any agreement to spread the exit 
deficit may be conditional on the guarantee continuing in force during the spreading 
period.  

 

The amount of the instalments due under an exit deficit spreading agreement will 
generally be calculated as level annual amounts allowing for interest over the 
spreading period in line with the discount rate used to calculate the exit liabilities. 
Where the exit amount is significant, monthly payments may be required or the 
Administering Authority may require a higher initial payment with lower annual 
payments thereafter to reduce the risk to the Fund. Alternative payment 
arrangements may be made in exceptional circumstances as long as the 
Administering Authority is satisfied that they don't materially increase the risk to the 
Fund. 

Where the Administering Authority has agreed to spread an exit payment the 
Administering Authority will advise the employer in writing of the arrangement, 

Page 122



Appendix 2 

 

including the spreading period; the annual payments due; interest rates applicable; 
other costs payable* and the responsibilities of the employer during the spreading 
period. Where a request to spread an exit payment has been denied the 
Administering Authority will advise the employer in writing and provide a brief 
explanation of the rationale for the decision. The Administering Authority will 
endeavor to notify the employer of its decision within 2 months of the provision of the 
required information by the employer. The employer will be given a period of 1 month 
to respond to the decision. Payments will be expected to commence by the later of 2 
months following the Administering Authority's decision, or 6 months of the exit date. 
If there is no agreement between both parties within this timeframe the Administering 
Authority will instruct the Fund Actuary to certify the exit payment due as an 
immediate capital payment. 

*Employers will be asked to pay all advisory costs associated with the spreading 
agreement as well as calculation of the exit deficit (these costs will not be spread).  

The Administering Authority will generally review spreading agreements as part of its 
preparation for each triennial valuation and will take actuarial, covenant, legal and 
other advice as considered necessary. In addition, employers will be expected to 
engage with the Administering Authority during the spreading period and adhere to 
the notifiable events framework as set out in the Pensions Administration Strategy.  If 
the Administering Authority has reason to believe the employer's circumstances have 
changed such that a review of the spreading period (and hence the payment 
amounts) is appropriate, it will consult with the employer and a revised payment 
schedule may be implemented. Whilst this review may also consider the frequency 
of payments, it should be noted that it is not envisaged that any review will consider 
changes to the original exit amount nor interest rate applicable. An employer will be 
able to discharge its obligations under the spreading arrangement by paying off all 
future instalments at its discretion. The Administering Authority will seek actuarial 
advice in relation to whether or not there should be a discount for early payment 
given interest will have been added in line with the discount rate used for the exit 
valuation. 

Deferred debt agreements 

It is envisaged that DDAs will only be entered into at the request of an employer. In 
all cases the Administering Authority will then engage/consult with the employer 
determine whether or not a DDA is appropriate and the terms which should apply.  
As part of its application for a DDA, the Administering Authority will require 
information from the employer to enable the Administering Authority to take a view 
on the employer's strength of covenant. Information will also be required on an 
ongoing basis to enable the employer's financial strength/covenant to be monitored. 
Employers should be aware that all advisory fees incurred by the Fund associated 
with a request for a DDA, whether or not this results in an agreement being entered 
into, and its ongoing monitoring, will be recharged to the employer.  

The Administering Authority has a template agreement for DDAs, which it will require 
employers (and any guarantors) to sign up to.  The matters which the Administering 
Authority will reflect in the DDA, include: 

 an undertaking by the employer to meet all requirements on Scheme 
employers, including payment of the secondary rate of contributions, but 

Page 123



Appendix 2 

 

excluding the requirement to pay the primary rate of contributions;  

 a provision for the DDA to remain in force for a specified period, which may 
be varied by agreement of the Administering Authority and the deferred 
employer; 

 a provision that the DDA will terminate on the first date on which one of the 
following events occurs- 
(a) the deferred employer enrols new active members; 

(b) the period specified, or as varied, elapses; 

(c) the take-over, amalgamation, insolvency, winding up or liquidation of 
the deferred employer; 

(d) the Administering Authority serves a notice on the deferred employer 
that it is reasonably satisfied that the deferred employer's ability to 
meet the contributions payable under the deferred debt arrangement 
has weakened materially or is likely to weaken materially in the next 
12 months; or 

(e) the Fund Actuary assesses that the deferred employer has paid 
sufficient secondary contributions to cover the exit payment that would 
have been due if the employer had become an exiting employer on 
the calculation date. 

 the responsibilities of the deferred employer 

 the circumstances triggering a cessation of the arrangement leading to an 
exit payment (or credit) becoming payable, in addition to those set out in 
Regulation 64 (7E) and above 

 It is expected that the consultation process with the employer will include 
discussions on the precise details of the DDA, although the purpose of 
developing a template agreement is to make the process easier, quicker and 
cheaper and therefore it is not envisaged that there will be material changes 
to the Administering Authority's template. 

The Administering Authority will monitor the funding position and risk/covenant 
associated with deferred employers on a regular basis. This will be at least triennially 
and most likely annually, but the frequency will depend on factors such as the size of 
the employer and any deficit and the materiality of movements in market conditions 
or the employer's membership.  

The circumstances in which the Administering Authority may consider seeking to 
agree a variation to the length of the agreement under regulation 64(7D) include: 

 where the exit deficit has reduced (increased) such that it is reasonable to 
reduce (extend) the length of the recovery period and associated period of 
the DDA assuming that, in the case of the latter, this does not materially 
increase the risk to the other employers/Fund 

 where the deferred employer's business plans, staffing levels, finances or 
projected finances have changed significantly, as long as, in the case of a 
deterioration, the Administering Authority, having taken legal, actuarial, 
covenant or other advice as appropriate, does not consider that there is 
sufficient evidence that deferred employer’s ability to meet the contributions 

Page 124



Appendix 2 

 

payable under the DDA has weakened materially, or is likely to weaken 
materially in the next 12 months 

 where the level of security available to the Fund has changed in relation to 
the DDA, as determined by the Administering Authority, taking legal, 
actuarial or other advice as appropriate 

At each triennial valuation, or more frequently as required, the Administering 
Authority will carry out an analysis of the financial risk or covenant of the deferred 
employer, considering actuarial, covenant, legal and other advice as necessary. 
Where supported by the analysis and considered necessary to protect the interests 
of all employers, the Administering Authority will serve notice on the deferred 
employer that the DDA will terminate on the grounds that it is reasonably satisfied 
that the deferred employer’s ability to meet the contributions payable under the DDA 
has weakened materially, or is likely to weaken materially in the next 12 months, as 
set out under regulation 64(7E)(d). It is expected that DDAs will be monitored on an 
annual basis unless circumstances dictate otherwise. Monitoring may be more 
frequent as the end of the period of the DDA approaches. 

 

Employers should be aware that all advisory fees and administrative expenses 
incurred by the Fund associated with consideration of a DDA for an exiting employer, 
whether or not this results in a DDA being entered into, will be recharged to the 
employer. This will include actuarial, legal, covenant and other advice and the costs 
of monitoring the arrangement as well as the initial set up. Estimated costs can be 
provided on request. All fees must be paid up front and cannot be added to any 
secondary contributions payable under the DDA.  

It is expected that employers will make a request to consider a DDA before they 
would otherwise have exited the Fund under Regulation 64(1) and that a DDA 
should be entered into within 3 months of that date. The employer should continue to 
make secondary contributions at the prevailing rate whilst the DDA is being 
considered unless the Administering Authority, having taken actuarial and other 
advice as appropriate, determines that increased contributions should be payable. In 
exceptional circumstances, e.g. where there has been a justifiable delay due to 
circumstances outside of the employer's control, and at the sole discretion of the 
Administering Authority, a DDA may be entered into more than 3 months after the 
exit date. 

Deferred employers will be expected to engage with the Administering Authority 
during the period of the DDA and adhere to the notifiable events framework as set 
out in the Pensions Administration Strategy as well as providing financial and other 
information on a regular basis. This will be necessary to support the effective 
monitoring of the arrangement and will be a requirement of the DDA. 

Inter-valuation funding valuations 

Regulation 64A enables employer contributions to be reviewed between triennial 
valuation where: 

(i) it appears likely to the administering authority that the amount of the liabilities 
arising or likely to arise has changed significantly since the last valuation;  

Page 125



Appendix 2 

 

(ii) it appears likely to the administering authority that there has been a significant 
change in the ability of the Scheme employer(s) to meet the obligations of employers 
in the Scheme; or  

(iii) a Scheme employer(s) have requested a review of Scheme employer 
contributions and have undertaken to meet the costs of that review.   

Factors used to determine when a review is appropriate 

In determining whether or not a review should take place, the Administering Authority 
will consider the following factors (noting that this is not an exhaustive list): 

 the circumstances leading to the change in liabilities arising or likely to arise, 
for example whether this is the result of a decision by the employer, such as 
the restructuring of a council due to a move to unitary status, the 
restructuring of a Multi-Academy Trust, a significant outsourcing or transfer of 
staff, closure to new entrants, material redundancies or significant pay 
awards, or other factors such as ill-health retirements, voluntary withdrawals 
or the loss of a significant contract 

 the materiality of any change in the employer's membership or liabilities, 
taking account of the Actuary's view of how this might affect its funding 
position, primary or secondary contribution rate  

 whether, having taken advice from the Actuary, the Administering Authority 
believes a change in ongoing funding target or deficit recovery period would 
be justified, e.g. on provision or removal of any security, subsumption 
commitment, bond, guarantee, or other form of indemnity in relation to the 
employer's liabilities in the Fund 

 the materiality of any change in the employer's financial strength or longer-
term financial outlook, based on information supplied by the employer and 
supported by a financial risk assessment or more detailed covenant review 
carried out by the Fund Actuary or other covenant adviser to the Fund  

 the general level of engagement from the employer and its adherence to its 
legal obligations as set out in the Pensions Administration Strategy 
Statement and elsewhere, including the nature and frequency of any 
breaches such as failure to pay contributions on time and data quality issues 
due to failure to provide new starter or leaver forms 

Assessment of the risk/impact on other employers  

In determining whether or not a review should take place, the Administering Authority 
will generally focus on the materiality of any potential changes in the context of the 
employer concerned; its financial position and current contribution levels. As a matter 
of principle, the Administering Authority does not consider that a review is not 
justified just because an employer is small in the context of the Fund as a whole, 
noting that failure to act could make discussions at the next formal valuation more 
difficult and compound the risk to the Fund. However, in determining the extent and 
speed of any changes to the employer's contributions the Administering Authority will 
consider the effect on the overall funding position of the Fund, i.e. other Scheme 
employers. 

Where contributions are being reviewed for an employer with links to another Fund 
employer, particularly where there is a formal organisational or contractual link, e.g. 

Page 126



Appendix 2 

 

there is a tripartite admission agreement, an ownership relationship or a formal 
guarantee or subsumption commitment is in place, the Administering Authority will 
consider the potential risk/impact of the contribution review on those other 
employer(s), taking advice from the Fund Actuary as required.  

Employer involvement and consultation  

It is expected that in most cases the employer will be aware of the proposed review 
of their contributions since this will be triggered by an employer's action and 
employers should be aware of the need to engage with the Fund in relation to any 
activity which could materially affect their liabilities or ability to meet those liabilities. 
A list of notifiable events is set out in the Administration Strategy. 

In other cases information will be required from the employer, e.g. in relation to its 
financial position and business plans which could be the catalyst for informing the 
employer that a review is being proposed.  In all cases the Administering Authority 
will advise the employer that a review is being carried out and share the results of 
the review and any risk or covenant assessment as appropriate.  It should be noted 
that just because a review is being carried out does not automatically mean that 
contributions will be amended (up or down) since that will depend upon the 
materiality of the changes and other factors such as the outcome of discussions with 
the employer and any related/linked employer in the Fund and the proximity to the 
next formal valuation. 

Where, following representations from the employer, the Administering Authority is 
considering not increasing the employer's contributions following a review, despite 
there being good reason to do so from a funding and actuarial perspective, e.g. if it 
would precipitate the failure of the employer or otherwise seriously impair the 
employer's ability to deliver its organisational objectives or it is expected that the 
employer's financial position will improve significantly in the near-term, the 
Administering Authority will consult with any employer which provides a guarantee or 
subsumption commitment or, if none exists, will take the decision on behalf of all 
employers noting Hampshire County Council is the largest employer in the Fund and 
any unmet liabilities on exit are shared in proportion to each employer's liabilities. 

Process for requesting a review  

Before requesting a review, employers should consider the regulatory requirements 
and the Fund's policy as set out above and satisfy themselves that there has been a 
relevant change in the expected amount of liabilities or their ability to meet those 
liabilities. The employer should contact Employer Services and complete the 
necessary information requirements for submission to the Administering Authority in 
support of their application. 

The Administering Authority will consider the employer's request and may ask for 
further information or supporting documentation/evidence as required. If the 
Administering Authority, having taken actuarial advice as required, is of the opinion 
that a review is justified, it will advise the employer and provide an indicative cost. 
Employers should be aware that all advisory fees and administrative expenses 
incurred by the Fund associated with a contribution review request, whether or not 
this results in contributions being amended, will be recharged to the employer.  

Page 127

mailto:Pensions%20Employer%20Services%20%3cpensions.employer@hants.gov.uk%3e


Appendix 2 

 

Other considerations 

The Administering Authority will carry out an annual assessment of the risk for Tier 3 
employers as considered appropriate. This will help identify whether a contribution 
review is required and is expected to be carried out as at each 30 September with 
any contribution changes effective from the following 1 April.  

More generally, the Administering Authority may carry out a review at any time 
during the valuation cycle where it becomes aware that a review is required. In such 
cases the employer will be expected to provide the requested information within one 
month of request and the review will be completed within 6 weeks of the provision of 
all requested information, or completion of the risk/covenant assessment if later. 

The Administering Authority will consult with the employer on the timing of any 
contribution changes and there will be a minimum of 4 weeks' notice given of any 
contribution increases. In determining whether, and when, any contribution changes 
are to take effect the Administering Authority will also take into account the timing of 
contribution changes flowing from the next formal valuation. As a result, contribution 
reviews are unlikely to be carried out during the 12 month period from the valuation 
date although if there were any material changes to the expected amount of liabilities 
arising or the ability of the employer to meet those liabilities during that period, this 
should be taken into account when finalising the Rates and Adjustments Certificate 
flowing from the valuation.  

 

Appeals process 

In the event of any dispute, employers should contact Pension Services for an 
informal discussion.  Any formal appeal will be heard under the Fund’s Internal 
Dispute Resolution Process. 

 

 

 

Page 128



Appendix 2 
 

 

Appendix 5 – Risks and counter measures 

Investment risk 

The risk of investments not performing (income) or increasing in value (growth) as 
forecast. Examples of specific risks would be: 

 assets not delivering the required return (for whatever reason, including 
manager underperformance) 

 systemic risk with the possibility of interlinked and simultaneous financial 
market volatility 

 insufficient funds to meet liabilities as they fall due 

 inadequate, inappropriate or incomplete investment and actuarial advice is 
taken and acted upon 

 counterparty failure 
The specific risks associated with assets and asset classes are: 

 equities – industry, country, size and stock risks 

 fixed income  - yield curve, credit risks, duration risks and market risks 

 alternative assets – liquidity risks, property risk, alpha risk 

 money market – credit risk and liquidity risk 

 currency risk 

 macroeconomic risks 
The Administering Authority reviews each investment manager’s performance 
quarterly taking advice from its Investment Advisors as appropriate. The Investment 
Strategy is considered annually and a formal review is also undertaken at least 
following each Actuarial Valuation, with advice taken from Investment Advisors and 
Fund Managers. The Administering Authority also reviews the effect of any 
significant market movements on the Fund’s overall funding position between 
Actuarial Valuations. 

Employer risk 

Those risks that arise from the ever-changing mix of employers, from short-term and 
ceasing employers, and the potential for a shortfall in payments and/or orphaned 
liabilities where employers are unable to meet their obligations to the Scheme. The 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic may have adverse consequences in relation to 
employer finances and their ability to make contributions.  The Administering 
Authority monitors employer payments and expects employers in financial difficulty 
to engage with the Fund, noting that contributions can be reviewed between formal 
valuations if the conditions in Regulation 64A and the terms of the Administering 
Authority's policy, as set out in the Employer Policy, are met. 

The Administering Authority maintains a knowledge base on their employers, their 
basis of participation and their legal status (e.g. charities, companies limited by 
guarantee, group/subsidiary arrangements) and uses this information to inform the 
FSS. In addition, the Administering Authority commissions the Fund Actuary to 
carry out a high level risk assessment for employers, as appropriate to inform its 
funding strategy. In due course it will also ask the Fund Actuary to review the funding 

Page 129



Appendix 2 
 

 

position of any deferred employers on a regular basis between triennial valuations, 
noting that the Regulations specifically provide for a deferred debt agreement to end 
when the Actuary assesses that the deferred employer has paid sufficient secondary 
contributions to cover the exit payment that would have been due if the employer 
had become an exiting employer on the calculation (review) date. 

Liquidity and maturity risk 

The Fund's membership has matured in recent valuations and this, together with the 
improvement in the funding position and hence reduction in contributions from the 
long-term secure employers has potential cash flow implications. In addition, it is 
possible that proposed changes to cap exit payments may lead to employers 
bringing forward redundancy programmes, cuts and their implications resulting in 
workforce reductions that would reduce membership, reduce contributions and 
prematurely increase retirements in the short-term. 

The Administering Authority reviews the Pension Fund’s cashflow position annually 
as part of setting the Fund’s budget and may commission further work on cashflow 
projections from the Fund's Actuary or Investment Advisors as required. In 
addition the Fund will engage in regular communication with employers to ensure it 
is informed of significant changes that would affect maturity at overall Fund and 
employer level where material issues are identified. 

Liability risk 

Inflation, life expectancy and other demographic changes, and interest rate and 
wage and salary inflation will all impact upon future liabilities. 

The Administering Authority will make sure the Fund’s Actuary investigates these 
matters at each valuation, or more often if necessary and expects that the 
demographic assumptions will be largely based on experience of the Fund's 
membership, on which the Fund's Actuary will report to the Administering Authority 
as appropriate. The Administering Authority will then agree with the Fund's Actuary 
any necessary changes to the assumptions used in assessing solvency. 

If significant liability changes become apparent between valuations, the 
Administering Authority will notify all participating employers of the likely effect on 
their contributions after the next full valuation, and consider whether any bonds that 
are in place for admission bodies require review. 

Regulatory and Compliance risk 

Occupational pensions in the UK are heavily regulated. Both general and LGPS- 
specific legislation must be complied with. 

The Administering Authority will keep abreast of all proposed changes and, 
whenever possible, comment on the Fund’s behalf during consultation periods. The 
Administering Authority will ask the Fund’s Actuary to assess the effect of any 
changes on employers’ contribution rates as appropriate. 

The Administering Authority will then notify employers of how these rule changes are 
likely to affect their contribution rates at the next valuation, if they are significant. 

Governance risk 

This covers the risk of unexpected structural changes in the Fund’s membership (for 
example, if an employer closes their scheme to new entrants or if many members 

Page 130



Appendix 2 
 

 

withdraw or groups of staff retire), and the related risk of an employer failing to notify 
the Administering Authority promptly. 

To limit this risk, the Administering Authority: 

 monitors the membership of employers on an annual basis; and 

 requires the other participating employers to communicate regularly with it on 
such matters 

 has formalised its notification requirements within the notifiable events 
section of the Pension Administration Strategy.   

The Administering Authority also undertakes to inform the Fund's Actuary promptly 
of any such matters.  How the Administering Authority generally engages and 
communicates with its employers is set out in its Communications policy. In addition, 
the Panel and Board includes members which represent employers in the Fund 
other than the Administering Authority. 

Climate Change 

The systemic risk posed by climate change and the policies implemented to tackle 
them will fundamentally change economic, political and social systems and the 
global financial system. They will impact every asset class, sector, industry and 
market in varying ways and at different times, creating both risks and opportunities to 
investors. The Fund's policy in relation to how it takes climate change into account in 
relation to its investments is set out in its Investment Strategy Statement and 
Statement of compliance with the UK stewardship code for institutional investors. In 
relation to the funding implications, the Administering Authority keeps the effect of 
climate change on future returns and demographic experience, e.g. longevity, under 
review and will commission modelling or advice from the Fund's Actuary on the 
potential effect on funding as required. 

Recovery period 

Allowing deficiencies to be eliminated over a recovery period of up to 16 years 
means there is a risk that too little will be done to restore solvency between 
successive actuarial valuations.  The associated risk is reviewed with the Fund's 
Actuary as part of the three-yearly valuation process, to ensure as far as possible 
that enough is done to restore solvency and that deficit contributions are compared 
to the amount of interest accruing on the deficit. 

Phasing 

Increasing employers’ contribution rates in annual steps rather than immediately 
introduces a risk that too little will be done to restore solvency in the early years of 
the process or, in relation to the primary rates of contributions, that employers are 
not paying enough to meet the cost of benefits being accrued in future.  The 
Administering Authority’s policy is to limit the number of permitted steps to three, but 
it may permit a longer period if the employer can demonstrate unusual and difficult 
budgetary constraints. In addition, it accepts that a slightly higher final rate may be 
necessary at the end of the stepping process to help make up the shortfall. 

 

Page 131



Appendix 2 
 

 

Cost Management, McCloud / Sargeant judgement and GMP indexation and 
equalization 

 

For the 2019 valuation there is currently significant uncertainty as to whether 
improvements to benefits and/or reductions to employee contributions will ultimately 
be required under the cost management mechanisms introduced as part of the 2014 
Scheme, and the improvements that may be required to benefits consequent to the 
“McCloud” equal treatment judgement. There is also uncertainty regarding the 
nature of the steps that will need to be taken by the Scheme to compensate for the 
effects of Guaranteed Minimum Pensions being 

unequal for men and women and there being no mechanism for increases in GMP to 
be topped up to full CPI for those reaching State Pension Age after 5 April 2021. 

The Administering Authority will consider any guidance emerging on these issues 
during the course of the valuation process and will consider the appropriate 
allowance to make in the valuation, taking account of the Fund Actuary’s advice. At 
present the Administering Authority considers an appropriate course of action for the 
2019 valuation is to include a fixed loading of 0.9% of Pay within the employer 
contribution rates certified by the Fund Actuary that reflects the possible overall 
extra costs to the Fund as advised by the Fund Actuary. It is possible that the 
allowance within contribution rates might be revisited by the administering authority 
and Fund Actuary at future valuations (or, if legislation permits, before future 
valuations) once the implications for Scheme benefits and employee contributions 
are clearer. 

 

Page 132



Appendix 3 
 

 

 

Hampshire Pension Fund – Employer Policy 

 

Page 133



Appendix 3 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



Appendix 3 
 

 

1. Background 

 

1.1. This policy explains the Fund’s policies and procedures in the treatment of 

employers including the admission and exit of employers in the Hampshire 

Pension Fund. Hampshire Pension Fund is administered by Hampshire County 

Council.  

1.2. The purpose of this policy is to ensure that, as the Administering Authority of 

the Hampshire Pension Fund, we will minimise the risk that any employer 

places on the Fund before agreeing to admit any new employers to the Fund. 

It is also intended to provide clarity on the decisions made by the Fund and 

provide consistency in the way types of employers are dealt with.  

1.3. This policy should be read in conjunction with the Fund’s Funding Strategy 

Statement (FSS).  

1.4. The policy will be reviewed from time to time and at least every three years in 

line with the FSS. It will also be reviewed following changes in the regulations 

relating to employers in the Fund.  

1.5. It should be noted that this statement is not exhaustive and individual 

circumstances may be taken into consideration where appropriate.  

1.6. Where the information relates to a particular type of employer, this will be 

explained. If no type of employer is indicated the information relates to all 

employers in the Fund.  

2. Aims 

 

2.1. Our aim is to minimise risk to the Fund by ensuring that the employers 

participating in the Fund are managed in a way that ensures they are able to 

adequately fund the liabilities attributable to them and, in particular to pay 

any deficit due when leaving the Fund. In managing this risk we will have 

regard to the aims of the FSS: 

- to manage the employer’s liabilities effectively and ensure that sufficient 

resources are available to meet all liabilities as they fall due,  

- to enable primary  contribution rates to be kept as nearly constant as 

possible (subject to the administering authority not taking undue risk) at 

reasonable cost to the taxpayers, scheduled, resolution and admitted bodies 

Page 135



Appendix 3 
 

 

2.2. The Administering Authority has an obligation to pursue all liabilities owed so 

that this deficit does not fall on other employers. 

Page 136



Appendix 3 
 

 

3. Principles 

 

3.1. For funding purposes, the Administering Authority will treat employers in 

different ways depending on how they participate in the Fund and its views on 

their financial strength.  

3.2. As set out in the FSS, employers will be set their own individual contribution 

rate, unless they participate in one of the three groups set out below: 

 Town and Parish Councils under paragraph 2 of Part 2 of Schedule 2, will 

be part of the Town and Parish Council Group (TPCG), unless they have 

otherwise opted out of this group in accordance with terms set out in the 

FSS and as agreed by the Administering Authority 

 Academies and free schools under Part 1 (paragraph 20) of Schedule 2 

will be part of the Academies Group (AG) 

 Some admission body employers may be part of the Admission Body 

Group (ABG), provided they participated in the ABG on 31 March 2019.  

3.3. Employers in a group will pay the same future service rate and share the 

funding risks of the group as set out in the FSS.  

3.4. Regardless of whether they are grouped or ungrouped individual employers 

will pay for any legal and actuarial costs incurred on their behalf.  

Page 137



Appendix 3 
 

 

4. Responsibilities of employers in the Fund 

 

4.1. We will expect all employers in the Fund to consider the effect of their 

behaviours on their contribution rate, for example when considering; 

- Discretions policies 

- Outsourcing decisions 

- Salary increases 

Employers should have regard to the Fund’s administration strategy at all 

times. 

Changes/mergers  

4.2. All employers, whether Admission or Scheduled bodies, need to inform the 

Fund of any changes to the organisation that will impact on their participation 

in the Fund. This includes change of name or constitution, mergers with other 

organisations, setting up a wholly owned subsidiary or other decisions which 

will or may materially affect the employer's Fund membership. This includes, 

for Town and Parish Councils under paragraph 2 of Part 2 of Schedule 2, a 

decision to stop designating posts as eligible for membership of the Fund. 

Admission agreements 

4.3. All employers must inform the Fund of any outsourcings and allow sufficient 

time for an admission agreement to be completed prior to the contract start 

date. 

5. Managing risk 

 

5.1. Our aim is to minimise employer related risk to the Fund across all the 

employers in the Fund.  

5.2. There must be no significant additional risk to the Fund from any outsourcing 

by a scheme employer or admission of any other new body for which a 

scheme employer is guarantor. We would want to ensure that the decisions 

made by an employer when outsourcing services or providing a guarantee 

have no adverse impact on the Fund or on other employers in the Fund. We 

would look to protect both the Fund and other employers in these 

circumstances.  

5.3. In particular, where Scheduled body employers under Part 1 of Schedule 2 

outsource services, there will be a presumption that the Scheduled body has 

Page 138



Appendix 3 
 

 

agreed to subsume any assets and liabilities attributable to the new admission 

on its exit from the Fund (excluding any assets and liabilities transferring to 

another employer in the Fund).  An exception to this for Academies is 

described in paragraph 6.29. 

5.4. Scheme employers must be prepared to manage any pension risk of an 

outsourcing. 

Page 139



Appendix 3 
 

 

6. New employers in the Hampshire Pension Fund 

Admission bodies  

6.1. Each admission body will be a stand alone body in the Fund with its own 

contribution rate, unless: 

 the Administering Authority has agreed that the admission body can be 

pooled with the relevant Scheme employer, or 

 the admission body participates in the Admission Body Group. 

6.2. Employers considering outsourcing any services should have regard to and 

adhere to the requirements of the Fair Deal Policy/Best Value direction. They 

should also advise the Administering Authority at the earliest opportunity, and 

before any transfer of staff, so that the necessary paperwork and calculations 

can be completed in advance of the new body being admitted. More 

information on the process is available from Pension Services.  

6.3. The Administering Authority will have discretion to amend the contribution 

the scheme employer pays where they make decisions to outsource services if 

it is considered that there will be significant or material number of employee 

members moving from the scheme employer to a new employer, relative to 

the size of the scheme employer. The aim will be to ensure the transfer does 

not increase the risk to the Fund (or to a Group if the employer who is 

outsourcing is a grouped employer). 

6.4. The costs in terms of the contribution the new employer pays and the fees in 

relation to the solicitor and actuary costs will depend on the decisions made 

under this section.  In particular, the funding target appropriate to the new 

employer will reflect the perceived strength of covenant of the scheme 

employer (including the existence or otherwise of a government guarantee) 

and whether or not the scheme employer has agreed to guarantee the new 

employer's participation and subsume its assets and liabilities in the Fund 

should that employer exit the Fund in future.  The fees will depend on the 

legal and actuarial information required but an estimate will be provided prior 

to work being commissioned. 

All outsourcings 

6.5. The Administering Authority will have discretion to amend the contribution 

the scheme employer pays where they make decisions to outsource services if 

Page 140



Appendix 3 
 

 

it is considered that there will be significant or material number of employee 

members moving from the scheme employer to a new employer, relative to 

the size of the scheme employer. The aim will be to ensure the transfer does 

not increase the risk to the Fund or to the Group if the transferring employer 

is a grouped employer. This applies equally to the situation where posts are 

moved to companies within the scheme employer's organisation which do not 

participate in the LGPS, even if existing members do not transfer, where the 

Administering Authority believes this may have a material effect on the 

scheme employer's active membership. Unless the circumstances dictate 

otherwise, the change in the scheme employer's contribution will generally be 

implemented as part of the next triennial valuation of the Fund when new 

contributions for all employers will be implemented. 

Paragraphs 5 & 6, Part 2, Schedule 2 bodies 

6.6. To be an employer under paragraph 5 of part 2 of Schedule 2, the new 

employer would be connected with scheme employer, where connected 

means: 

a) it is an entity other than the local authority; and . 

b) according to proper practices in force at that time, financial information 

about the entity must be included in the local authority's statement of 

accounts for the financial year in which that time falls. 

6.7. To be an employer under paragraph 6 of part 2 of Schedule 2, the new 

employer would be "under the control of" the scheme employer, where under 

the control of has the same meaning as in section 68 or, as the case may be, 

73 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

6.8. For the purposes of this policy, paragraphs 5 and 6 Part 2 Schedule 2 bodies 

are referred to as ‘wholly owned companies’.  

6.9. Unless any of the situations listed below apply, the default arrangement will 

be for the wholly owned company to be a stand alone employer subject to the 

ongoing orphan funding target.  On exit, unless a subsumption commitment is 

in place, a low risk ("gilts") basis will be used to value the liabilities in 

accordance with the Funding Strategy Statement.   

6.10. If a wholly owned company is set up by an ungrouped employer the Fund will 

accept the scheme employer being pooled with its wholly owned company, 

provided the bodies share the same financial covenant and attributes, and the 

Page 141



Appendix 3 
 

 

arrangement does not materially increase the risk to the Fund.  This will allow 

the company to have the same funding target as the scheme employer. A 

parent company guarantee and subsumption agreement will need to be put in 

place for pooling to be acceptable to the Fund and the Administering 

Authority will reserve the right to review the contributions for the pool on the 

establishment of the wholly owned company. 

6.11. If a wholly owned company is set up by a tax raising authority, that employer 

can provide a subsumption commitment which will allow the company to be 

set up with the secure scheduled body funding target.  The company will still 

be a stand alone employer with its own contribution rate, unless 6.10 applies. 

 

6.12. If a scheme employer has a stronger financial covenant than the wholly owned 

company (i.e. a MAT/academy with a DfE guarantee that does not extend to 

the company) then the company will have to be a stand alone employer 

subject to the ongoing orphan funding target regardless of whether or not a 

subsumption commitment is in place.  

6.13. Contribution rates for closed employers will be calculated using the attained 

age methodology (closed contribution rate) with a recovery period equal to 

future working life.  This approach may also be taken for those employers 

where, in the opinion of the Administering Authority, access to the LGPS is 

being restricted. The Administering Authority will monitor the number of 

active members and in particular the number of new entrants in forming this 

opinion. If the scheme employer enters into a pooling arrangement with the 

wholly owned company under 6.10 above, but one of either the scheme 

employer or the wholly owned company is closed (or restricts access), the 

default position for the pool will be to use the attained age methodology with 

a recovery period equal to the future working lifetime. A period of transition 

or other easement may be agreed where the number of active members is 

expected to reduce only slowly over time and new entrants are still expected 

to be admitted to the group and where, in the Administering Authority's view, 

such period of transition or easement does not constitute a material risk to 

the Fund/other employers.   

6.14. The Administering Authority will reserve the right to amend the contribution 

paid by the scheme employer if it is considered that there will be significant or 

material number of employee members moving to the wholly owned 

Page 142



Appendix 3 
 

 

company, relative to the size of the scheme employer. This assessment will 

take place as part of the triennial valuation.  

6.15. Employers considering outsourcing any services to a wholly owned company 

should also advise the Administering Authority at the earliest opportunity and 

before any transfer of staff so that the necessary paperwork and calculations 

can be completed in advance of the new body being admitted. More 

information on the process is available from the Fund. 

6.16. The Fund actuary will determine the employer contribution payable for such a 

body as an ungrouped employer (or for the group where the employer is 

grouped with the relevant Part 1 Schedule 2 body) and if necessary revise the 

contributions payable by the scheme employer outsourcing or otherwise 

transferring staff to a Part 2 Schedule 2 body with the aim of ensuring the 

transfer does not increase the risk to the Fund or the group if the employer is 

a grouped employer.  Unless the circumstances dictate otherwise, the change 

in the scheme employer's contribution will generally be implemented as part 

of the next triennial valuation of the Fund when new contributions for all 

employers will be implemented. 

6.17. As with admission bodies, the costs in terms of the contribution the new 

employer pays and the legal and actuarial fees will depend on the decisions 

made under this section. In particular, the funding target appropriate to the 

new employer will reflect the perceived strength of covenant of the new 

employer and the scheme employer, and whether or not the scheme employer 

has agreed to guarantee the new employer's participation and subsume its 

assets and liabilities in the Fund should that employer exit the Fund in future 

and, where relevant, whether the new employer has a government guarantee.  

Should a guarantee and subsumption commitment not be given by the 

scheme employer, the Administering Authority may need to take a more 

prudent approach to setting contribution rates for the new employer to take 

account of any perceived increased risk to the Fund. The fees will depend on 

the legal and actuarial information required but an estimate will be provided 

prior to work being commissioned. 

Town and Parish Councils 

6.18. Town and Parish Councils joining the Fund will automatically join the Town 

and Parish Council group (TPCG).  Employers in the TPCG will pay a common 

Page 143



Appendix 3 
 

 

primary contribution rate based on prevailing future service rate of the TPCG.  

The FSS sets out details of how deficit (secondary) contributions are payable 

by employers in the TPCG which, for new employers, will not be applicable 

until 1 April following the first actuarial valuation date after their 

commencement in the Fund. 

6.19. When a Town or Parish Council designates to join an employee to the Fund, 

they have no current active members and are not currently subject to a 

suspension notice (see section 12 below), a standard employer rate equal to 

the prevailing future service rate of TPCG will be payable until the 

contributions from the next triennial valuation come into force. 

6.20. Town and Parish Councils can choose to leave the TPCG and instead have 

their contributions based solely on their own liabilities and notional asset 

share.  This election must be made in accordance with a timetable issued by 

the Administering Authority as part of the triennial valuation.  If a Town or 

Parish Council opts to have an individual contribution rate, they cannot opt to 

re-join the TPCG at a subsequent valuation. 

Academies  

6.21. Schools and colleges converting to academy status will automatically join the 

Academies Group (AG).  This also applies to academies being created from a 

6th form college, or where there is no former establishment, such as with the 

creation of a free school. However a 6th form college will be given a choice 

prior to conversion as to whether or not to join the AG.  If the college chooses 

to remain outside of the AG, an individual employer contribution rate will be 

calculated using the same funding target as for the AG.  Once this choice has 

been made there will not be a further opportunity for the new academy to join 

the AG. 

6.22. Within the AG, all employers will pay a common future service rate.  Deficit 

contributions will be set according to a common recovery period for the AG 

and based on each academy’s proportion of the liabilities in the AG. If, when a 

new academy joins the AG, the employers in the AG are paying deficit 

contributions, the new academy will also be responsible for paying deficiency 

contributions to the AG from the date of commencement. The deficit 

contribution will be calculated by the Fund's Actuary based on a percentage of 

the employer's liabilities at date of commencement.  

Page 144



Appendix 3 
 

 

6.23. The DfE guarantee extends to all academies and free schools, including those 

created from 6th form colleges.  While this guarantee is in force, contribution 

rates for all academies will be set using the same risk basis as for the secure 

scheduled body employers. 

6.24. A MAT which participated in the AG as a single employer at the 2019 valuation 

will continue will be treated as a single employer in the AG and will be 

certified a single contribution rate and, if applicable, a fixed contribution 

amount towards eliminating any deficit in the AG identified at the valuation 

date.  A single report will be provided for FRS 102 and will not be split 

between the academies which are part of the MAT.   

6.25. Academies joining a MAT on or after 1 April 2019 will be treated as a single 

employer in the AG and will be certified a contribution rate and, if applicable, 

a fixed contribution amount towards eliminating any deficit in the AG.  This 

will be in addition to contributions already certified to the MAT and/or their 

other individually certified academies. For FRS 102 accounting the MAT can 

instruct the Fund's Actuary to either produce a single report including all 

academies in the MAT, or to produce separate reports for each academy, 

noting that it would not be possible to obtain separate reports for academies 

within a MAT which participated in the AG as a single employer at the 2019 

valuation.  

6.26. When a LEA school converts to academy status and joins the AG, there will be 

a transfer of assets from the former LEA school to the AG. Where the LEA's 

funding position is in deficiency at the conversion date, the asset transfer will 

be calculated using a ‘prioritised share of Fund’ approach (see paragraph 

11.4). This approach recognises that it is not possible to transfer the liabilities 

of the former staff of the school to the academy which means the LEA retains 

the risk on these liabilities.  

6.27. If an academy transfers between two MATs within the AG, the new MAT will 

become responsible for the deficit contributions associated with the 

transferring academy in addition to its own. 

6.28. Where academies outsourced services prior to 1 April 2019, the new employer 

was treated as an ungrouped employer subject to the ongoing orphan 

Page 145



Appendix 3 
 

 

funding target4. Where academies outsource services on or after 1 April 2019 

and 10 or fewer employees are transferred to the new admission body, the 

new employer will be treated as an ungrouped employer subject to the secure 

scheduled bodies funding target.  At the end of the contract, the liabilities will 

be subsumed by the outsourcing academy. 

6.29. Where academies outsource services on or after 1 April 2019 and more than 

10 employees transfer, or where academies set up a wholly owned company 

and the new admission body or new Part 2 Schedule 2 body is not backed by 

a guarantee from the Department for Education or the Local Education 

Authority, the new employer will be treated as an ungrouped employer 

subject to the ongoing orphan funding target as set out in the Funding 

Strategy Statement. At the end of the contract, or winding up of the wholly 

owned company, the liabilities will be subsumed by the outsourcing academy. 

The exit valuation for the relevant employer will be calculated using the 

ongoing orphan funding target to be consistent with the original asset 

transfer. 

7. Bonds and guarantors 

Guarantor 

7.1. A guarantor takes responsibility for the assets and liabilities of the Fund which 

are attributable to the admission body or wholly owned company. In the event 

that liabilities of the admission body or wholly owned company remain 

unpaid, the Fund will seek payment from the guarantor.  

7.2. Under the LGPS Regulations 20135 every employer who outsources services 

becomes an ultimate guarantor for the pension liabilities of the new employer.  

It is the Administering Authority's preferred approach that all wholly owned 

companies which participate in the Fund as Part 2 Schedule 2 bodies are 

guaranteed by the Part 1 Schedule 2 employer to which they are related. 

Should a guarantee not be provided, the contribution rate of the Part 2 

                                            

4 As the funding target which applies on the exit of academy contractors admitted 

has been amended since the 2019 Valuation, it is expected that use of the ongoing 

orphan funding target for academy contractors where 10 or fewer members 

transferred will be reviewed as part of the 2022 valuation 
 
5 Schedule 2, Part 3, 1(d) 

Page 146



Appendix 3 
 

 

Schedule 2 bodies will be set at a level to take account of any perceived 

increased risk to the Fund (see section 6.17). 

7.3. In some circumstances, where the letting authority is not a tax raising 

authority or an academy who is outsourcing 10 or fewer employees, the Fund 

will require a bond to be put in place to cover certain funding risks to the 

Fund on the advice of the Fund actuary. 

7.4. The admission agreement ends if the new employer becomes an exiting 

employer. The Fund will arrange for a valuation of the assets and liabilities of 

the exiting employer and, where appropriate, a revised rates and adjustment 

certificate.  

7.5. Payment of the outstanding liabilities must be made by the exiting scheme 

employer. If the exiting scheme employer fails to make this payment and if 

there is a bond in place this will be called on in the first instance.   

7.6. If there is no bond in place and the scheme employer fails to pay the 

outstanding liability payment from the guarantor will be pursued. If there is no 

guarantor the liability will fall to the letting authority who arranged for 

admission body status for the exiting employer.   

7.7. Charitable bodies seeking admission to the Fund will need a tax raising 

authority to act as guarantor.  

7.8. Any employer acting as guarantor will need to complete a guarantor 

agreement. The Fund will provide a template document for completion.  

 

Bond 

7.9. A bond is a way of insuring against the potential cost of the admission body 

failing by reason of insolvency, winding up or liquidation and being unable to 

meet its obligations to the Fund. 

7.10. The Local Government Pension Scheme regulations provide that the risk 

assessment for bond cover must be carried out by the admission body. 

However, we will ask the Fund actuary to calculate the minimum risk to the 

Fund for any outsourcing. This information will be shared with the scheme 

employer but not with the admission body. This will not constitute advice for 

either the scheme employer or admission body, who should take their own 

actuarial advice as required.  

Page 147



Appendix 3 
 

 

7.11. Where there is a guarantor, the bond will be largely for that scheme 

employer’s protection, in which case the scheme employer must decide if the 

admitted body will be required to provide a higher bond than that calculated 

by the Fund actuary.  

7.12. The Administering Authority will require a bond or indemnity to be in place 

for any outsourcings that are arranged by scheme employers that do not have 

tax-raising powers, unless it is an academy where 10 or fewer employees are 

transferring. Where there is no bond the Fund will require the letting employer 

to sign a guarantee agreement.  

7.13. The scheme employer needs to be aware of and manage the ongoing risks. 

7.14. The scheme employer should review the bond cover annually.  

7.15. In the event of an admitted body failing and there being insufficient bond 

cover, any outstanding liability will fall to the scheme employer.   

8. Open or closed admission agreements 

Open agreement 

8.1. An open agreement allows any person employed in connection with the 

contract to join the LGPS.  

8.2. The Fund will consider an open agreement for an outsourcing. It is for the 

scheme employer/admission body to ensure only those eligible are admitted 

to the Fund.  

Closed agreement 

8.3. A closed agreement relates to a fixed group of employees. Only the 

employees or roles that transfer to the admission body from the scheme 

employer can remain or be members of the Scheme.  

8.4. Contribution rates for closed employers will be calculated using the attained 

age methodology (closed contribution rate) with a recovery period equal to 

future working life.   

8.5. Unless advised otherwise, we will assume the admission agreement is closed.  

Page 148



Appendix 3 
 

 

8.6. A scheme employer arranging an outsourcing may agree to vary from this 

position but they must be aware of their obligations under Best Value or 

recommendations of Fair Deal. 

Designating employers 

8.7. Part 2 Schedule 2 employers are "designating" employers in that they can 

designate which staff or posts are eligible for membership of the LGPS.  

Where a Part 1 Schedule 2 employer establishes a wholly owned company 

which participates in the Fund as a Part 2 Schedule 2 employer, it must advise 

the Administering Authority of its intentions as regards the eligibility of the 

company's current and future employees.  This will enable the Administering 

Authority to determine whether the wholly owned company should be treated 

as an open or closed employer. 

9. Funding targets  

 

9.1. The funding target relates to what happens to the liabilities for the members 

being outsourced at the end of the contract, on termination of the admission 

agreement or other exit of an employer, and may also take into account the 

Administering Authority's view on the strength of the scheme employer's 

covenant.  

9.2. The presumption will be that the scheme employer will provide a 

"subsumption commitment" (i.e. be responsible for the future funding of the 

liabilities post-exit). This will automatically apply to the non-active liabilities of 

admission bodies in Part 3 paragraph 1(d)9i) of Schedule 2 which commenced 

in the Fund after 1 April 2018, i.e. these liabilities and any associated assets 

will be subsumed by the relevant Scheme employer.  This should be confirmed 

in all other cases.   

Orphan (gilts) funding target 

9.3. Outstanding liabilities of employers from whom no further funding can be 

obtained are known as orphan liabilities.  

9.4. The Fund will seek to minimise the risk to other employers in the Fund of 

having to make good any deficiency arising on the orphan liabilities.  

9.5. To achieve this, as set out in the Funding Strategy Statement, when an exiting 

employer would leave orphaned liabilities, the Administering Authority will 

Page 149



Appendix 3 
 

 

seek sufficient funding from the outgoing employer to match the liabilities 

with low risk investments, generally Government bonds. 

9.6. Where an admission body is admitted and there is no subsumption 

commitment from a secure scheduled body or an academy or the 

Administering Authority determines that the scheme employer which would 

subsume the assets and liabilities on the admission body's exit is not of 

sufficiently strong covenant for the scheme employer's funding target to be 

adopted (see also paragraph 9.13 below), the new employer will be set 

ongoing contributions calculated to meet the 'ongoing' orphan funding 

target. This funding target takes account of the approach taken to value 

orphan liabilities on exit and will be reviewed at each triennial valuation on the 

advice of the actuary.  Where the 'ongoing' orphan funding target applies, the 

value of the transferring liabilities, and hence notional asset transfer sufficient 

(where a fully funded transfer applies) will be higher than using a subsumption 

basis. Similarly, the contribution rate payable by the admission body will be 

higher than payable by the scheme employer, potentially materially so.  Whilst 

this approach does not guarantee that there will be no exit payment due, it 

should materially reduce this risk. 

9.7. The exit valuation for academy contractors admitted admission bodies under 

paragraph 1(d)(i) of Schedule 2 Part 3 on or after 1 April 2019 where more 

than 10 employees transferred to the admission body which commenced in 

the Fund after 1 April 2018 and where the ongoing orphan funding target was 

used to determine the transferring assets on commencement, will be 

undertaken on the ongoing orphan funding target, notwithstanding the 

presumption that the scheme employer will subsume the non-active liabilities 

and associated assets on exit. 

Secure scheduled body funding target 

9.8. Where an employer is leaving the Fund another employer or group of 

employers may agree to provide future funding for any liability. 

9.9. In that case, any funding deficit arising in future in relation to the exited 

employer's liabilities will be subsumed by the accepting employer or group.  

9.10. Where the subsuming employer is a tax raising body or is deemed to be of 

similar covenant to a tax raising body the Administering Authority will assume 

that the investments held in respect of those liabilities will be the same as 

Page 150



Appendix 3 
 

 

those held for the rest of the liabilities of the accepting employer or group. 

Generally this will mean assuming continued investment in more risky 

investments than Government bonds. In other cases a more prudent funding 

target will apply, for example in relation to admission bodies following an 

outsourcing by an academy where more than 10 employees are being 

transferred, or an outsourcing by other educational establishments where the 

admission body is not subject to a guarantee from the Department for 

Education or Local Education Authority, as set out in paragraphs 6.29 and 9.6 

above. 

 

Intermediate funding targets 

9.11. The actuary also has the option to place an employer on an intermediate 

funding target if they deem it appropriate. In the case of scheduled bodies 

without a government guarantee which are deemed to be of weaker covenant 

than the local authorities, the administering authority will normally adopt a 

funding target which produces a higher chance of achieving solvency/funding 

success through adoption of a lower discount rate than adopted for the local 

authorities. 

9.12. The Administering Authority will differentiate between higher, medium and 

lower risk employers on the intermediate funding targets by way of a light 

touch financial assessment based on a data submission which the employers 

will be asked to complete as part of the triennial valuation process. Employers 

can request a full covenant assessment at their own expense which will be 

carried out by the Fund Actuary’s covenant team. 

9.13. Where an employer subject to the intermediate funding targets outsources 

services under 1(d)(i) of Schedule 2 Part 3 or transfers employees to a wholly 

owned company with a commitment to subsume the liabilities of the company 

on exit, the funding target for the new employer will be the same as that 

applicable to the scheme employer, (i.e. will be the scheme employer's 

intermediate funding target) unless the ongoing orphan funding target is 

considered by the Administering Authority to be more appropriate to the 

circumstances. 

Page 151



Appendix 3 
 

 

10. Pass-through 

10.1. A scheme employer may agree a pass-through arrangement with an admitted 

body. In this case the employer contribution is still calculated by the Fund 

actuary and the admitted body will be expected to pay this to the Fund. Any 

arrangement to share the cost of this rate will be between the scheme 

employer and the admitted body.  

10.2. New admission bodies will be stand alone employers in the Fund, unless a 

pooling arrangement - which does not introduce risk into the Fund - is agreed 

with the Administering Authority.   

11. Fully funded or share of fund 

Fully funded 

11.1. When a new employer starts in the Fund, they will usually start as fully funded. 

This means that any past deficit for the members who are transferring to the 

new employer remains with the scheme employer and does not transfer to the 

new employer.   

11.2. This applies even where there is an onward outsourcing from an existing body. 

The new employer will start fully funded and the existing admission body will 

pay any deficit (unless specified otherwise in their contract with the scheme 

employer).  

11.3. Where the funding target for the new employer is higher than that for the 

scheme employer, the Fund actuary will revise the contributions for the 

scheme employer to take this into account.  Unless the circumstances dictate 

otherwise, the change in the scheme employer's contribution will generally be 

implemented as part of the next triennial valuation of the Fund when new 

contributions for all employers will be implemented. 

Prioritised share of fund 

11.4. When a LEA school converts to academy status and joins the AG, there will be 

a transfer of assets from the former LEA school to the AG. Where the LEA's 

funding position is in deficiency at the conversion date, the asset transfer will 

be calculated using a ‘prioritised share of Fund’ approach, This approach 

assumes the LEA's notional assets in the Fund are first allocated towards 

ensuring the LEA's deferred and pensioner liabilities are fully funded, so that 

Page 152



Appendix 3 
 

 

any deficiency is allocated wholly to the LEA's active membership, of which a 

part is transferring to the Academy Pool. 

11.5. If the LEA is in surplus at the conversion date, the asset transfer will be 100%. 

Share of fund 

11.6. In exceptional circumstances and only where agreed between the employers 

the Fund may consider starting a new employer with a share of fund. The 

Fund will only agree to this where it doesn’t increase the risk to the Fund. The 

principal exception to this is in relation to academy conversions where the 

assets transferred will be on a prioritised share of fund basis as described in 

paragraph 11.4 above.  

Allowance for McCloud / GMP equalisation 

11.7. Until actual costs are known, an allowance for the costs of the McCloud 

remedy and GMP equalisation will be included for asset transfers calculated 

on or after 27 September 2019.  Asset transfers will be calculated assuming 

that McCloud will lead to a 0.4% increase in the liabilities, and GMP indexation 

will be provided in full for all of the exiting employer’s members whose State 

Pension Age is on or after 1 April 2016. 

12. Exit from the Fund (terminations) 

12.1. If an exit is triggered, the employer will be responsible for all costs (including 

any deficit).  

12.2. An exit valuation will be carried out when an employer becomes an "exiting 

employer", i.e. it  : 

- ceases to be a Scheme employer (including ceasing to be an admission body 

participating in the Scheme), or  

-no longer has an active member contributing towards the Fund  

12.3. For admission bodies, this includes the following scenarios: 

- an outsourcing contract ends or,  

- for a closed agreement, when the last member leaves if it is before the 

contract end date, or 

- the admission body becomes insolvent, is wound up or goes into liquidation.  

12.4. For exits of a body admitted to the fund under Schedule 2 Part 3 paragraph 

1(d) (or earlier regulations) or where a scheme employer is acting as 

Page 153



Appendix 3 
 

 

guarantor, the scheme employer should notify the Administering Authority as 

soon as it knows the admission agreement is likely to be terminated.  

12.5. The Administering Authority will instruct the actuary to carry out an exit 

valuation. The costs of this will be added to the final exit valuation. 

12.6. The Administering Authority will pursue all liabilities owing to the Fund. We 

will support employers to develop a strategy to exit the Fund where required 

and it is in the interests of the Fund to do so. 

12.7. The Administering Authority will pursue the body, any insurer providing a 

bond or any guarantor as appropriate but ultimately, if unsuccessful, the 

scheme employer will become liable for any outstanding costs.  If there is no 

scheme employer (e.g. in relation to community admission bodies whose 

participation pre-dates the requirement for a guarantor), depending upon the 

circumstances a secure scheduled employer may subsume the assets and 

liabilities, failing which they will fall to be funded by all employers in 

accordance with Regulation 64 (3)(b).  The Administering Authority has 

secured subsumption commitments in relation to all employers in the ABG as 

at 31 March 2019 so the risks to the Fund associated with the exit of 

community admission bodies are now materially reduced. 

13. Exit credits 

13.1. Where an employer exits on or after 14 May 2018 and the exit valuation 

determines that the departing employer is in surplus, the payment of an exit 

credit will be made at the discretion of the Administering Authority, after 

taking into account the factors set out in the LGPS 2013 regulations: 

 the extent of any surplus 

 the proportion of a surplus that has arisen because of the value of the 

employer contributions 

 any representations made by the exiting employer or letting authority 

 any other relevant factors. 

13.2. The value of the employer contributions will be estimated by multiplying the 

contributions paid by the employer during their participation, by the change 

in Fund’s value over the same period (estimated where necessary). 

Page 154



Appendix 3 
 

 

13.3. For exits carried out on a low risk basis, the exit credit will usually be the 

excess of assets over the liabilities.  For exits carried out on a subsumption 

basis, the exit credit will usually be the lower of the surplus or the value of the 

contributions.  Actuarial and legal costs of the exit will be deducted from the 

exit credit before payment, unless there is a good reason to accept a separate 

payment. 

13.4. Exit credits will usually be paid to the exiting employer.  Scheme employers 

should note that it is their responsibility to ensure that contracts and side 

agreements provide for the possibility of either a deficit or a surplus at the 

end of the contract when the exit valuation takes place.  

13.5. A known exception to 13.4 above relates to those scheme employers in the 

Admission Body Group whose assets and liabilities will be subsumed by a 

secure scheduled employer, where the subsuming employer has made it a 

condition of subsumption that no surplus (when measured using assumptions 

for secure scheduled employers) will be repaid to the exiting employer. 

 

13.6. Representations from the exiting employer and letting authority will be 

considered before any decision is made. Letting authorities need to be able to 

show clearly why the surplus (or value of employer contributions if lower) 

should be retained in the Fund rather than an exit credit being paid to a 

contractor if they believe this to be the right course of action.  Similarly, 

contractors will need to be able to demonstrate why an exit credit should be 

paid, particularly where the contract was entered into before 14 May 2018 

when the regulations did not envisage surpluses being paid out. 

13.7.  Other relevant factors may also be taken into account, and employers should 

include as much detail as possible in their representations.  Employers will be 

notified if the administering authority is taking something else into 

consideration prior to a final decision being taken so that they can ensure 

their representations cover these additional points. 

13.8. Once a final decision has been taken, the relevant employers as set out in 

Regulation 64 (2ZAB (a)) will be notified of the decision. 

13.9. Regulation 64 (2ZAB (b)) states an exit credit must be paid within 6 months of 

the exit date or such longer period as is agreed.  Where the circumstances 

mean that the 6 month period cannot be met, for example (but not limited to) 

to inaccuracies or delays in the provision of information by the Employer, the 

Page 155



Appendix 3 
 

 

Fund will advise the Employer accordingly and seek to agree a later payment 

date (usually three months after receipt of all required information).  If the 

Employer does not agree, the Fund will discuss with the Actuary how the exit 

valuation can be finalised and an exit credit paid without increasing the risk 

for the remaining employers in the Fund. 

13.10. If a surplus is retained in the Fund because an ongoing employer has provided 

a commitment to subsume the liabilities, the assets will be attributed to the 

subsuming employer unless it is in the Academy Pool where deficits and 

surpluses are shared within the Pool and not attributed to a specific Academy. 

14. Exit of Town and Parish Councils 

14.1. Under the Regulations an exit is triggered when the last active member leaves 

the Fund.  

14.2. Given the unique nature of a Town or Parish Council, the Fund will not request 

an exit valuation immediately when the last member leaves if the Town or 

Parish Council indicates that it is continuing to designate posts as being 

eligible for membership. The Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Amendment) Regulations 2016 specifically introduced the power to suspend 

a demand for an exit payment for up to 3 years where the administering 

authority believes that the employer is likely to have one or more active 

members contributing to the fund within the period specified in the 

suspension notice. The Administering Authority considers that it would be 

appropriate to exercise that discretion in relation to Town and Parish Councils. 

14.3. The Fund will issue written notice of the period of the suspension notice. The 

employer must continue to pay any deficit payments and the actuary will 

recalculate any deficit at the next valuation.  If no new members have joined 

by the time the suspension notice expires, the Actuary will carry out an exit 

valuation as at the date of expiry.    

                                            

6 Provision 22 

Page 156



Appendix 4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 96 

2 Pension Administration Strategy ........................................................................................ 96 

3 Roles and responsibilities ...................................................................................................... 97 

4 The Regulations – effect on strategy ................................................................................. 97 

5 Definitions ................................................................................................................................... 97 

6 Communication ......................................................................................................................... 98 

7 Performance measurement and reporting ...................................................................... 98 

8 Costs .............................................................................................................................................. 99 

9 Penalties ....................................................................................................................................... 99 

10 Hampshire Pension Fund contacts .................................................................................. 100 

Appendix A - Employer Responsibilities .................................................................................... 102 

Appendix B - HPF Responsibilities ............................................................................................... 105 

Appendix C – Administering Authority discretions ............................................................... 109 

Hampshire Pension Fund - Administration strategy 
 

Page 157

https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637836
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637837
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637838
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637839
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637840
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637841
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637842
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637843
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637844
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637845
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637846
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637847
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/MM/HPFPB/Shared%20Documents/2020-12-04%20Statutory%20Statements.docx#_Toc389637848


Appendix 4 
 

 

Hampshire Pension Fund Administration Strategy 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Hampshire County Council is the administering authority for the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) on behalf of the employers participating 
in the LGPS through the Hampshire Pension Fund (HPF). The LGPS is 
governed by statutory regulations.  

1.2 HPF provides a high quality pension service to members and employers, to 
ensure members receive their correct pension benefits.  This is best achieved 
where HPF and the employers are clear about their roles and responsibilities 
and work in partnership.  

1.3 This strategy statement: 

 sets out the roles and responsibilities of HPF and the employers 

 specifies the level of services HPF and the employers will provide to each 
other  

 explains the performance measures used to evaluate them 

 is an agreement between HPF and the employers 

2 Pension Administration Strategy 

2.1 This strategy is an agreement between the Hampshire Pension Fund and all 
participating bodies. All parties commit to the following principles: 

 provide a high quality and low cost pension service to members  

 continually develop efficient working arrangements 

 meet HPF’s service standards  

 an annual report of performance 

 take responsibility to provide accurate and timely information 

 keep the pension administration strategy under review and revise where 
appropriate.  

2.2 This strategy statement was produced by HPF in consultation with the 
employers and is effective from 16 December 2017 . It is hereby agreed that 
each of the parties as defined in this agreement and the scheme regulations, 
shall abide by the requirements of this agreement. 

 HPF shall monitor the requirements of this agreement and report its findings 
to the Hampshire Pension Fund Panel and Board.  

 Changes are subject to consultation with the employers. Variations must be 
agreed with HPF and confirmed in writing. 

2.3 Please keep a copy of this strategy for your records. The original will be held at 
the offices of the Hampshire Pension Fund and will be made available to any 
scheme member, past or present, wishing to have sight of the document. 

Page 158



Appendix 4 
 

 

3 Roles and responsibilities 

3.1 The quality of service to members depends on the supply of accurate and timely 
information. 

3.2 Employer duties, responsibilities and discretions are listed in Appendix A to this 
agreement.  

3.3 HPF’s duties and responsibilities are listed in Appendix B to this agreement.  

 

4 The Regulations – effect on strategy 

4.1 This strategy sets out certain duties and responsibilities.  

 It does not override any provision or requirement in the Regulations or any 
overriding legislation.  

 The intentions of the Regulations in their application to current members, 
potential members, deferred members and retired members must be complied 
with. 

4.2 This agreement is based on: 

 Current regulations: 

- the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, and any 
amendments; 

- the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, 
Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014, and any amendments;  

 Any earlier LGPS regulations as they continue to apply 

 Overriding legislation including, but not limited to,  

- the Public Service Pension Act 2013 

- the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England & Wales) Regulations 2006 

- Occupation and Personal Pension Scheme (Disclosure of Information) 
Regulations 2013 

 

5 Definitions 

5.1 For the purpose of this Administration Agreement: 

 “Administering Authority”, ‘Hampshire Pension Fund (HPF) and the Fund means 
Hampshire County Council; 

 “Employing authority” or “employer” means an employer within the Hampshire 
Pension Fund; and 

 “Scheme” means the Local Government Pension Scheme, and 

Page 159



Appendix 4 
 

 

 “The Panel” means the Hampshire Pension Fund Panel and Board’ 

 

6  Communication 

6.1 The HPF Communications Policy Statement outlines how the Fund 
communicates with all stakeholders, including employers. 

6.2 HPF routinely provides information and resources for employers using 

 its website, www.hants.gov.uk/pensions with an employers’ section 

 an electronic newsletter called Pension Matters 

 an employer manual and other guides available on the HPF website.  

6.3 HPF will make available to the employer an up to date list of LGPS publications 
which will be available from the HPF website or as otherwise indicated. 

6.4 HPF will communicate to the employer on an ad hoc basis and as required in 
respect of matters relating to the LGPS. 

6.5 HPF will ensure that sufficient information is issued in the form of newsletters, 
booklets and other materials to satisfy the requirements of The Occupational, 
Personal and Stakeholder Pension Schemes (Disclosure of Information) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2013. 

6.6 HPF will notify the employer of changes to administrative procedures that may 
arise as a result of changes in pension scheme regulations and update standard 
documentation on the HPF website.  

6.7 HPF will issue electronic forms, newsletters, booklets and such other materials 
as are necessary in the administration of the LGPS, for members and the 
employers.  

6.8 Employers should provide contact details at least annually, and whenever a 
named contact changes, on the Employer Contacts and Authorisation form. 

6.9 Employers may provide information about members to HPF in a variety of ways, 
including electronic and paper forms or directly updating electronic pension 
records. Forms used must be up to date, and are available on the HPF website. 
Employers who update electronic pension records directly are fully supported 
via initial and refresher training and day to day support. 

7 Performance measurement and reporting 

7.1 Pensions Services will monitor, measure and report compliance with the agreed 
service standards. This information will be reported to the Panel, and 
improvement plans put in place if necessary. 

7.2 Where this information reveals problems in employers meeting the standards, 
HPF will consult and work with the relevant employers to improve compliance 
and performance levels by providing appropriate support, guidance, and 
training. 

7.3 Where as part of the annual return process or any other monitoring activity, 
there are concerns about the accuracy of an employer’s data, the employer will 

Page 160

http://www.hants.gov.uk/pensions


Appendix 4 
 

 

be required to undertake a data cleanse exercise and make a declaration that 
they have fulfilled all of their requirements to notify the fund of changes.  Details 
of the data cleanse requirements will be provided as part of the annual returns 
process. 

7.4 Where poor performance affects Pension Services meeting statutory deadlines, 
consideration will be given to the requirement to report this to the Pension 
Regulator. 

8 Costs  

8.1 The Fund Actuary determines employer contribution rates for the three years 
following each triennial valuation.  The rates and adjustments certificate 
provides details of all payments which are due from employers in the fund. 

8.2 The costs of the standard administration service, including actuarial fees for the 
triennial valuation, are charged directly to HPF. These administration costs are 
taken into account by the Fund Actuary when assessing the employers’ 
contribution rates. 

8.3 Where Pension Services incur additional administration costs due to the pension 
implications of an Employer restructuring (e.g. outsourcing, creation of a 
company, change of legal status etc) a separate additional administration 
charge will be made. The charge will be based on estimated staff time and will 
be notified to the employer before any work is carried out.  

8.4 Where additional actuarial or legal services are required by, or result from the 
decisions and actions of, the employer, the employer will be required to 
reimburse HPF for the costs involved. Where appropriate, an estimate of these 
costs will be provided and the employer’s agreement obtained before 
proceeding to instruct the service provider. 

8.5 If HPF incurs interest charges as a result of a late notification of retirement from 
the employer, it may recharge to the employer the interest incurred on the late 
payment of the lump sum. 

8.6 Employers may also be required to pay for additional work, including estimates 
which are in addition to the agreed allocation, or for requesting work to be 
completed faster than the normal service standards.  The employer’s agreement 
to the charge will be obtained prior to the work being carried out.  

8.7 If in exceptional circumstances HPF agrees to an employer deferring payment of 
their employer contributions, interest will be charged on the deferred 
contributions at a rate equal to the underlying discount rate used to calculate the 
employer contribution. 

9 Penalties 

9.1 Commitment to the principles of this statement (see 2.1) should mean that any 
non-compliance is addressed promptly, with no need to resort to a penalty. 
However, the following actions are possible: 

 Where payment over of contributions is late more than once in any 12 month 
period, HPF will issue the employer with a written notice of unsatisfactory 

Page 161



Appendix 4 
 

 

performance and may charge interest on the late payment at a daily rate 
equal to the Bank of England’s base rate plus 1%. 

 Persistent failure to comply with contributions payment requirements will 
result in HPF informing The Pensions Regulator as required of Scheme 
Administrators by the Pensions Act 2004. 

 Where the employer fails to comply with their scheme duties, including failure 
to pay contributions due, HPF reserves the right to notify the member(s) 
involved and to notify all members employed by the employer in the event of 
serious or persistent failure. 

 If additional and disproportionate resources are deployed by HPF because of 
an employer’s poor performance, the cost of the additional resources may be 
re-charged to the employer according to powers available under scheme 
regulations. Written notice will be given of the reasons for the re-charge, how 
the cost was calculated, and the part of this statement which, in HPF’s 
opinion, was contravened. 

 Where orders or instructions issued by The Pensions Regulator, the Pensions 
Ombudsman or other regulatory body require financial compensation or a fine 
to be paid by HPF, or by any officer responsible for it, and it is due to the 
default, omission or otherwise negligent act of the employer, the sum 
concerned will be recharged to the employer.  

 Where, as a result of the employer’s failure to notify HPF of the final 
retirement details in a timely manner, payment of any retirement lump sum is 
not made within 30 days from the date of the member’s retirement, HPF may 
issue the employer with a written notice of unsatisfactory performance and 
may charge the employer for the interest payment made. 

 Where it is proven that the employer is not responsible for any fine or penalty 
imposed by The Pensions Regulator or any other statutory body as a result of 
non-compliance of this Service Level Agreement, any such charge will 
automatically default to HPF. 

 From time to time, HPF offer training and support to employers through 
‘Employer Days’ and workshops.  There is no charge made to an employer for 
attending this event, however HPF reserves the right to charge a late 
cancellation fee of £100 + VAT, where at least one week’s notice has not 
been given of non attendance. 

10  Hampshire Pension Fund contacts 

 

Member and general employer queries 

Pensions customer support team 

01962 845588 

 

pensions@hants.gov.uk 

Page 162

mailto:pensions@hants.gov.uk


Appendix 4 
 

 

Website www.hants.gov.uk/finance/pensions 

 

Technical employer queries 

Employer services team 

pensions.employer@hants.gov.uk 

 

End of year and associated matters 

Employer services team 

pensions.eoy@hants.gov.uk 

 

Page 163

http://www.hants.gov.uk/finance/pensions
mailto:pensions.employer@hants.gov.uk
mailto:pensions.finance@hants.gov.uk


Appendix 4 
 

 

Appendix A - Employer Responsibilities 

The main duties of the employers as set out in the Regulations are set out in the 
table below, together with timescales for completion where appropriate.  

Employer responsibility Timescale 

Decide who is eligible to become a member of the 
LGPS and the date from which membership of the 
LGPS starts). 
Notify HPF of the new member details and provide 
employee with details of the pension scheme. 

Within 10 working days 
following the end of the 
month in which the 
employee joined the 
LGPS. 

 

Determine the rate of employee contributions to be 
deducted from the employee’s pensionable pay and, 
where the employee holds more than one post, the 
rate that should be applied to each post.  This should 
be reviewed at least annually or more often where 
employer policy states 

For the first pay period in 
which the employee joins 
the LGPS 

Move employees into the 50:50 section  

 

 

Provide an amendment form to advise of change 
to/from 50:50 section  

From the next pay period 
after receiving the 
employee’s request 

 

Within 10 working days 
following the change 

Collect and pay to the HPF the deduction of, the 
correct rate of pension contributions payable by the 
employee and the employer, including any additional 
employee contributions of any kind. 

Payment over to HPF by 
19th of the month following 
deduction (22nd if 
electronic) 

Complete monthly remittance form containing detail 
of the contributions payment. 

Send to Pensions 
Services with payment of 
contributions every month 

Collect and pay over AVC contributions to the 
specified AVC provider in accordance with statutory 
timescales Notify HPF of a member’s election to pay, 
vary or cease AVCs. 

 

Payment over to AVC 
provider by 19th of the 
month following deduction 
(22nd if electronic) 

Refund contributions through the payroll to any 
employee who opts out of the scheme with less than 
3 months membership. 

 

 

From the next pay period 
after receiving the 
employee’s request to opt 
out 

Within 10 working days 
following the end of the 

Page 164



Appendix 4 
 

 

Employer responsibility Timescale 

Notify HPF of opt out and refund through payroll by 
providing a copy of the opt out form 

month in which the 
employee left the scheme 

Calculate assumed pensionable pay for any 
employees who met this requirement under the 
regulations. 

As required  

Leavers (excluding retirements/casuals) 

When an employee's LGPS membership ends, 
determine the reason for leaving and entitlement to 
benefit and notify the HPF, supplying timely and 
accurate information to HPF so that benefits payable 
from the LGPS are calculated correctly. 

Within 10 working days 
following the end of the 
month in which the 
employee was last paid 

 

Leavers (casuals) 

When an employee's LGPS membership ends, 
determine the reason for leaving and entitlement to 
benefit and notify the HPF, supplying timely and 
accurate information to HPF so that benefits payable 
from the LGPS are calculated correctly. 

Within 10 working days 
following the end of the 
month the employer is 
aware they have left or 
were last paid 

Retirements 

When an employee's LGPS membership ends on the 
grounds of retirement, determine the reason for 
retirement and entitlement to benefit and notify the 
HPF, supplying timely and accurate information to 
HPF so that benefits payable from the LGPS are 
calculated correctly. 

 

Within 20 working days 
before an employee’s 
retirement date 

 

Use an independent registered medical practitioner 
qualified in occupational health medicine in 
determining requests for ill health retirement. 

As required 

Write, publish and maintain a policy on areas of the 
regulations in which employers can exercise their 
discretion. 

In accordance with 
regulations and then 
regular review. 

Notify HPF and members 
of any changes to those 
policies within one month 
of setting a policy and the 
changes taking effect. 

Appoint a person to consider applications from 
members regarding decisions, acts or omissions and 
to decide on those applications. 

On entry to the HPF and 
review as required 

Page 165



Appendix 4 
 

 

Employer responsibility Timescale 

Provide annual information to HPF with full details of 
the contributions paid by members in the year. 

Respond to queries on the annual return raised by 
HPF. 

By 30 April each year 

Respond to queries within 
10 working days of receipt 

The employer will maintain employment records for 
each member for the purposes of determining 
membership and entitlement to benefits. 

The employer must keep a full pay history for the 13 
years, ending 31 March, before the member leaves 
the scheme. 

As required 

  

Notify HPF of a member’s death and next of kin’s 
details. 

Within 5 working days of 
the member’s death. 

Supply details required for completion of an estimate. Within 10 working days of 
the member’s request 

Distribute annual benefit statements and any other 
notifications to active members as requested by HPF. 

Within 20 working days of 
receipt 

Notify HPF of any TUPE transfer. 

 

 

 

Complete TUPE forms for each member transferring. 

 

Notify HPF of the transfer 
as soon as possible in 
advance of the transfer 
date. 

Part A of the TUPE form 
completed within 10 
working days following the 
end of the month in which 
the transfer took place. 

Page 166



Appendix 4 
 

 

Employer responsibility Timescale 

Notify HPF of any outsourcing arrangements which 
impact on employees eligible to the LGPS 

 

 

Where an admission agreement is required, the 
Scheme employer should complete an ‘Outsourcing 
data capture’ form, transferring ‘staff data capture’ 
form and ‘Undertaking of costs’ form 

 

Ensure admission agreement is finalised  

 

Provide individual TUPE forms for transferring staff to 
HPF 

As soon as possible but 
no later than 20 working 
days before change 

 

As soon as possible but 
no later than 20 working 
days before change 

 

No later than date of 
transfer 

 

Part A of the TUPE form 
completed within 10 
working days following the 
end of the month in which 
the transfer took place 

Notify HPF of a change of payroll provider by 
completing a ‘Employer Change of payroll provider’ 
form 

 

Submit individual ‘Change of payroll provider’ forms 
to HPF for all transferring employees 

 

Provide notification of new payroll numbers (if 
applicable) to HPF 

 

Complete a mid year return if date of change is not 1 
April 

 

As soon as possible but 
no later than 20 working 
days before change 

Within 20 working days 
post transfer 

 

Within 20 working days 
post transfer 

Within 40 working days 
post transfer 

 

 

.

Page 167



Appendix 4 
 

 

Appendix B - HPF Responsibilities 

The overriding responsibility of HPF is to maintain the Hampshire Pension Fund in 
accordance with the regulations. 

HPF will provide the following within the timescales shown. A reduced timescale may 
be agreed in exceptional cases at an employer’s request. 

HPF responsibility Timescales 

Invest pension contributions and account for and 
manage the Pension Fund’s assets. 

Daily. 

Allocate all contributions submitted by the employer to 
their respective income codes and reconcile the total 
contributions paid on a yearly basis. 

Annually. 

Appoint Additional Voluntary Contributions provider(s). As required. 

Appoint an actuary for the purposes of the triennial 
valuation of the Fund and to provide periodical actuarial 
advice when required.  

As required, in line with 
procurement 
provisions. 

Provide accurate, timely data to the Fund actuary. As required. 

Correspond with and commission any information 
required of the Fund Actuary on behalf of the employer. 

As required. 

Arrange for the triennial valuation of the Pension Fund 
and provide the employer with a copy of the valuation 
report and the annual report and statement of accounts. 

Every three years. 

Arrange for the annual accounting report to be provided 
to all employers requiring such a report. 

Annually. 

Publish and review the Pension Fund’s Policies and 
Funding Strategy Statement, and prepare annual report 
and accounts. 

Annual review and 
publication. 

Notify the employers of any significant changes to: 

 Regulations that might affect members in their 
employ; 

 policies made by the administering authority under 
the Regulations; or 

 procedures adopted by it in accordance with this 
strategy. 

Advice will be given to the employers in respect of 
matters arising from the interpretation and 
implementation of the Regulations. 

As required. 

Page 168



Appendix 4 
 

 

HPF responsibility Timescales 

Maintain a complaints procedure including the 
appointment of a specified person to act as a local 
referee at Stage 2 of the dispute process. 

As required. 

Write, publish and maintain a policy on areas of the 
regulations in which employers can exercise their 
discretion. 

In accordance with 
regulations and then 
regular review. 

Notify employers and 
members of any 
changes to those 
policies within 30 
working days of the 
changes taking effect. 

Answer enquiries made by members  Within 5 working days 
or sooner where 
possible 

Where an enquiry will 
take longer than 5 days 
to resolve, HPF will 
notify the member and 
keep the member 
updated. 

Set up a record for each new member and issue a 
statutory notification. 

Within 20 working days 
from when notified of 
their membership. 

Make payment of a refund of contributions to an eligible 
member who leaves with less than 2 years service. 

Within 15 working days 
of receipt of the 
election form from the 
member 

Issue annual benefit statements on member self service 
to active members or via their employer where written 
notification is received to opt out of member self service 

By 31 August after 
relevant annual return 
information from the 
employer is received 
and uploaded 

Provide an estimate of pension benefits on request from 
the employer, and details of any capital costs to be paid 
by them.   

Within 15 working days 
of receipt of all relevant 
information 

Amend a member’s record. Within 15 working days 
from when the change 
was notified. 

Page 169



Appendix 4 
 

 

HPF responsibility Timescales 

Calculate benefits due when a member leaves 
employment and send details to the member. 

Within 15 working days 
for retirements, or 
within 30 working days 
for deferred benefits, 
on receipt of all 
information needed to 
make the final 
calculation 

Send a benefit statement to all deferred members 
showing the accrued benefits to the date of leaving and 
the other options available to them in accordance with 
the Regulations. 

Annually by 31 August 

Pay retirement lump sums. Within 10 days of the 
retirement date or of 
receipt of all 
information from the 
employer and member 
if later. 

Provide details of the final capital costs to be paid by the 
employer into the Pension Fund. 

Within 10 working days 
of completing the 
calculation. 

Calculate and process transfers of members’ pension 
rights inwards and outwards. 

Within 15 working days 
of receipt of all 
information 

Acknowledge in writing the death of a member. 

 

Within 5 working days 
of being notified of the 
death. 

Supply survivor beneficiaries with notification of their 
entitlements including the method of calculation. 

Within 15 working days 
of all the information 
being received. 

Pay any death grant due and set up dependant on 
pensioner payroll. 

Within 10 working days 
of completing the 
calculation of 
entitlement 

Apply pensions increases annually to the relevant 
pensions in payment and deferred pensions retained in 
the Fund in accordance with the Pensions Increase 
(Review) Order issued by the Government.  

Annually 

Page 170



  Appendix 4 

 

Appendix C – Administering Authority discretions and delegated authority for approval 

 
The table below sets out how the Hampshire Pension Fund (HPF) choses to exercise its discretions under the LGPS regulations, together with 
the delegated authority for approval where a further decision exists. 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

1.  Whether to agree to an admission agreement with 
a Care Trust, NHS Scheme employing authority, 
Care Quality Commission or any other body 
applying to be an admission body 

R4(2)(b), 
R5(5) & 
RSch 2, 
Part 3, para 
1 

HPF will enter into an admission 
agreement where the requirements 
that it has set down and issued to 
prospective bodies are met. 

Team Manager –Employer Services 

2.  Whether to terminate a transferee admission 
agreement in the event of: 

- Insolvency, winding up or liquidation of the 
body 

- Breach by that body of its obligations under 
the admission agreement 

- Failure by that body to pay over sums due to 
the Fund within a reasonable period of being 
requested to do so 

RSch 2, 
Part 3, para 
9(d) 

HPF will decide any case on its merits. Director of Corporate Resources 

3.  Define what is meant by ‘employed in connection 
with’ 

RSch 2, 
Part 3, 
para12(a) 

HPF admission agreements specify 
this as the employee spending at least 
50% of his time employed by the 
admission body carrying out duties 
relevant to the provision of the 
services. 

N/A 

4.  Whether to turn down a request to pay an 
APC/SCAPC over a period of time where it would 
be impractical to allow such a request (e.g. where 
the sum being paid is very small and could be paid 
as a single payment) 

R16(1) HPF has not set a minimum payment 
threshold. 

N/A 

5.  Whether to require a satisfactory medical before 
agreeing to an application to pay an APC / SCAPC 

R16(10) HPF does not require those applying to 
take out an APC to pass a medical. 

N/A 

Hampshire Pension Fund - Administration strategy 
 

P
age 171



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

6.  Whether to turn down an application to pay an APC 
/ SCAPC if not satisfied that the member is in 
reasonably good health. 

R16(10) HPF will turn down an application if 
there are sound reasons to believe the 
applicant is not in good health 

Head of Pensions 

7.  Whether to charge member for provision of an 
estimate of additional pension that would be 
provided by the Scheme in return for transfer in of 
in house AVC /SCAVC funds (where AVC / 
SCAVC arrangement was entered into before 1 / 4/ 
14) 

TP15(1)d & 
A28(2) 

HPF charges for estimates in 
accordance with its estimates policy. 

N/A 

8.  Decide to whom any AVC/SCAVC monies 
(including life assurance monies) are to be paid on 
death of the member 

R17(12) HPF will decide each case on its 
merits, after assessing all potential 
beneficiaries, but will take into account 
the member’s valid expression of wish 
form. 

Team Manager – Member Services  

9.  Pension account may be kept in such form as 
considered appropriate 

R22(3)(c) HPF will decide the form in which 
pension accounts are kept based on 
any published guidance, best practice 
and in an efficient manner. 

N/A 

10.  Decide, in the absence of an election from the 
member within 12 months of ceasing a concurrent 
employment, which ongoing employment benefits 
from the concurrent employment which has ceased 
should be aggregated (where there is more than 
one ongoing employment) 

TP10(9) HPF will aggregate with the earliest 
remaining employment. 

N/A 

P
age 172



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

11.  If an Employer has become defunct, the 
administering authority is required to make 
decisions on ill health and early payment of 
benefits. Including whether to waive, in whole or in 
part, actuarial reduction on benefits paid on flexible 
retirement or on benefits which a member 
voluntarily draws before normal pension age. 

R30(8) 
TP12(6) 

R38(3) 
R38(6) 

B30(2) 
B30(5) 

B30A(3) 
B30A(5) 

B31(4) 
B31(7) 

TPSch 2, 
para 1(2) & 
1(1)(c) 

TP3(1), 
TPSch 2 
para 2(1) 

HPF will exercise this discretion in 
accordance with, and to the extent of 
(if any) the policy and practice of the 
former employer.  If no policy exists, 
HPF will not waive any reduction or 
otherwise agree to a retirement which 
would incur an employer strain charge. 
HPF will assess ill health retirement 
decisions, including the use of 2008 
certificates, on a case by case basis. 

Head of Pensions 

12.  Whether to require any strain on Fund costs to be 
paid ‘up front’ by employing authority following 
payment of benefits under: 

flexible retirement; redundancy / business 
efficiency; the waiver (in whole or in part) of any 
actuarial reduction that would have otherwise been 
applied to benefits which a member voluntarily 
draws before normal pension age; release of 
benefits before age 60.  

R68(2) 

TPSch 2, 
para 2(3) 

L80(5) B30 
or B30A 

HPF requires employers to make 
upfront payment of strain charges 
following any decision to allow early 
payment of benefits (other than ill 
health). 

N/A 

13.  Whether to extend the time limits within which a 
member must give notice of the wish to draw 
benefits before normal pension age or upon flexible 
retirement. 

R32(7) No extension will be granted, unless 
appropriate to the individual 
circumstances of a case. 

Head of Pensions 

14.  Decide whether to commute small pension R34(1) R39 
(1) (b) & (c) 

B39  T14(3) 

L49 & L156 

HPF will allow commutation of eligible 
small pension pots.  

N/A 

P
age 173



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

15.  Approve medical advisors used by employers (for 
ill health benefits) 

R36(3) 

L97(10) 

HPF requires employers to provide 
details of medical advisors used for 
assessing entitlement to ill health 
benefits and will liaise with any 
employer who is using a medical 
advisor of which HPF does not 
approve. 

Head of Pensions 

16.  Decide to whom death grant is paid TP17(5) to 
(8) 

R40(2) 
R43(2) 

R46(2) 
B23(2) & 
B32(2) 
B35(2) 
TSch1 
L155(4) 
L38(1) 

L155(4) 
E8 

HPF will decide each case on its 
merits, after assessing all potential 
beneficiaries, but will take into account 
the member’s valid expression of wish 
form. 

Head of Pensions 

17.  Decide, in the absence of an election from the 
member, which benefit is to be paid where the 
member would be entitled to a benefit under 2 or 
more regulations in respect of the same period of 
Scheme membership 

R49(1)(c) 

B42(1)(c) 

HPF will choose the benefit entitlement 
that yields the highest level of benefits 
for the member. 

Team Manager - Member Services  

18.  Whether to set up a separate admission agreement 
fund 

R54(1) HPF has decided not to set up a 
separate admission agreement fund. 

Director of Corporate Resources 

19.  Maintain a governance policy which contains the 
information set out in the regulations 

R55 HPF has a written governance policy 
which contains the required information 
and is regularly reviewed. 

Pension Fund Panel and Board 

20.  Decide on Funding Strategy for inclusion in funding 
strategy statement 

R58 HPF has a funding strategy which is 
included in the funding strategy 
statement. 

Pension Fund Panel and Board 

P
age 174



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

21.  Whether to have a written pensions administration 
strategy and if so, the matters it should include 

R59(1) and 
(2) 

HPF has a written pensions 
administration strategy. 

Pension Fund Panel and Board 

22.  Maintain a communication policy which contains 
the information set out in the regulations 

R61 HPF has a written communication 
policy which contains the required 
information and is regularly reviewed. 

Pension Fund Panel and Board 

23.  Whether to obtain revision of employer’s 
contribution rate if there are circumstances which 
make it likely a Scheme employer will become an 
exiting employer 

R64(4) HPF will decide each case on its 
merits, with advice from the Fund 
Actuary. 

Director of Corporate Resources 

24.  Decide whether to obtain a new rates and 
adjustments certificate if the Secretary of State 
amends the Benefits Regulations as part of the 
‘cost sharing’ under R63 

R65 HPF will make this decision as it 
arises, with advice from the Fund 
Actuary. 

Director of Corporate Resources 

P
age 175



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

25.  Decide the frequency of payments to be made over 
to the Fund by employers and whether to make an 
admin charge 

R69(1) 

L81(1) 

L12(5) 

HPF has determined the interval for 
payment of employer contributions to 
be monthly (other than for employers 
who make advance payment of their 
contributions on 1 April). Payments are 
due monthly by 19th of the month (22nd 
if electronic) following deduction. 
 
However if in exceptional 
circumstances an employer makes a 
request to defer payment of employer 
contributions, consideration to this will 
be given on a case by case 
basis.  Factors which will be 
considered include, but are not limited 
to; the overall financial security of the 
organisation making the request, the 
likelihood that deferring may lead to 
contributions not being paid within the 
year, the support of any guarantor or 
related local authority to the 
deferment.  If a request is agreed, then 
deferred payments will be subject to 
interest at the underlying discount rate 
for the employer. 
 
HPF reserves the right to ask the Fund 
Actuary to take into account the timing 
of deferred payments when 
determining the allocation of 
assets.  This is so that any material 
increase in markets is not unfairly 
attributed to employers during a period 
of non payment. 

Administration costs are taken into 
account by the actuary when setting 
employer contribution rates. 

Head of Pensions 

P
age 176



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

26.  Decide the form and frequency of information to 
accompany payments to the Fund 

R69(4) 

L81(5) 

Employers are required to complete a 
monthly remittance form with their 
payment showing a breakdown of 
contributions. 

Team Manager - Finance 

27.  Whether to issue employer with notice to recover 
additional costs incurred as a result of the 
employer’s level of performance 

R70 and 
TP22(2) 

HPF will work with employers to 
improve performance but if additional 
and disproportionate resources are 
deployed by HPF because of an 
employer’s poor performance, the cost 
of the additional resources may be re-
charged. 

Head of Pensions 

28.  Whether to charge interest on payments by 
employers which are overdue 

R71(1) 

L82(1) 

HPF will charge interest on payments 
which are more than one month 
overdue. 

Head of Pensions 

29.  Decide whether to extend six month period to 
lodge a stage one IDRP to be heard by the 
administering authority 

R74(4) HPF will not extend the 6 month 
period, unless the circumstances of the 
individual case warrant an extension. 

Head of Pensions 

30.  Decide procedure to be followed when exercising 
its IDRP functions and decide the manner in which 
those functions are to be exercised 

R74(6) 

R76(4) 

L99 

HPF has a documented and compliant 
IDRP process. 

N/A 

31.  Whether admin authority should appeal against 
employer decision (or lack of a decision)  

R79(2)  

L105(1) 

HPF would take the decision to appeal 
based on the merits of the individual 
case. 

Head of Pensions 

32.  Specify information to be supplied by employers to 
enable admin. authority to discharge its functions  

R80(1)(b) & 
TP22(1)  

HPF provides employers with full 
guidance as to the information they 
must supply. 

N/A 

P
age 177



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

33.  Whether to pay death grant due to personal 
representatives or anyone appearing to be 
beneficially entitled to the estate without need for 
grant of probate / letters of administration where 
payment is less than amount specified in the 
Administration of Estates (Small Payments) Act 
1965. 

R82(2) 

A52(2) 

L95 

HPF will pay death grants that are 
under the amount specified in the 
Administration of Estates (Small 
Payments) Act 1965 without the need 
for grant of probate / letters of 
administration. 

N/A 

34.  Whether, where a person (other than an eligible 
child) is incapable of managing their affairs, to pay 
the whole or part of that person’s pension benefits 
to another person for their benefit.  

R83 

A52A 

HPF will decide who should receive 
payment of benefits, based on the 
circumstances of the individual case. 

Head of Pensions 

35.  Date to which benefits shown on annual benefit 
statement are calculated.  

R89(5) 

L106A(5) 

HPF uses 31 March, but will revise this 
if regulatory requirements, 
administrative efficiency or best 
practice demand it. 

N/A 

36.  Extend normal time limit for acceptance of a 
transfer value beyond 12 months from joining the 
LGPS. 

R100(6)  HPF will not extend the 12 month limit, 
except if warranted by the individual 
circumstances of the case. 

Head of Pensions 

37.  Allow transfer of pension rights into the Fund. R100(7)  HPF will allow transfers into the Fund. N/A 

38.  Where member to whom B10 applies (use of 
average of 3 years pay for final pay purposes) dies 
before making an election, whether to make that 
election on behalf of the deceased member. 

Make election on behalf of deceased member with 
a certificate of protection of pension benefits i.e. 
determine best pay figure to use in the benefit 
calculations (pay cuts / restrictions occurring pre 
1.4.08.). 

TP3(6), 
TP4(6)(c), 
TP8(4), 
TP10(2)(a), 
TP17(2)(b) 
TSch 1 
L23(9)  
B10(2)  

HPF will choose the pay figure that 
would yield the highest overall level of 
benefits for beneficiaries. 

Team Manager – Member Services  

39.  Decide to treat child as being in continuous 
education or vocational training despite a break. 

RSch 1 & 
TP17(9) 
B39 T14(3) 

HPF will treat a child as being in 
continuous education or vocational 
training despite a break. 

N/A 

P
age 178



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

40.  Decide evidence required to determine financial 
dependence of cohabiting partner on scheme 
member or financial interdependence of cohabiting 
partner and scheme member. 

RSch 1 & 
TP17(9)(b) 

B25 

HPF will decide the evidence required 
to determine financial dependence, 
based on guidance and best practice.  
For most cases, utility bills, bank 
statements or mortgage documentation 
in joint names will be accepted. 

Team Manager - Member Services  

41.  Decide policy on abatement of pensions following 
re-employment, including the pre April 14 element 
for post 14 leavers.  

TP3(13) & 
A70(1)* & 
A71(4)(c) 
T12 

L109 
L110(4)b 

HPF will not abate pension for any re-
employment starting after 1 April 2014.  
Pensions already abated at this date 
will continue to be abated until the re-
employment ends. 

N/A 

42.  Extend time period for capitalisation of added years 
contract  

TP15(1)(c) 
& TSch1 & 
L83(5)  

HPF will not extend the time limit for 
applications to pay off added years 
contracts. 

N/A 

43. 4 Outstanding employee contributions can be 
recovered as a simple debt or by deduction from 
benefits  

A45(3) 
L89(3) 

HPF will usually recover as a 
deduction from benefits. 

Team Manager - Member Services  

44.  Whether to pay the whole or part of a child’s 
pension to another person for the benefit of that 
child. 

B27(5) 
L47(2) 
G11(2) 

All pensions due to children under 16 
will be paid to another person for the 
benefit of the child.  After age 16, HPF 
will normally pay to the child, unless 
the circumstances of the individual 
case mean that the payments should 
continue to be made to another 
person. 

N/A 

45.  Extend normal 12 month period following end of 
relevant reserve forces leave for "Cancelling 
notice" to be submitted by a councillor member 
requesting that the service should not be treated as 
relevant reserve forces service. 

L17(4),(7),(8
), & L89(4) 
& Sch 1 

HPF will not extend the 12 month 
period. 

N/A 

P
age 179



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

46.  Select appropriate final pay period for deceased 
non-councillor member (leavers post 31.3.98. / pre 
1.4.08.). 

L22(7) HPF will choose the appropriate pay 
period that would yield the highest 
overall level of benefits for 
beneficiaries. 

Team Manager - Member Services  

47.  Apportionment of children’s pension amongst 
eligible children (children of councillor members 
and children of post 31.3.98 / pre 1.4.08. leavers). 

L47(1) 
G11(1) 

HPF will apportion children’s pension 
equally amongst eligible children. 

N/A 

48.  Commute benefits due to exceptional ill-health 
(councillor members, pre 1.4.08. leavers and pre 
1.4.08. Pension Credit members). 

L50 and 
L157 

HPF will commute benefits due to 
exceptional ill health, provided 
regulatory conditions are met. 

N/A 

49.  Whether acceptance of AVC election is subject to a 
minimum payment (councillors only). 

L60(5) HPF does not set a minimum payment 
threshold for AVCs 

N/A 

50.  Timing of pension increase payments by 
employers to fund (pre 1.4.08. leavers). 

L91(6) Employer payments are paid monthly 
on account, with an annual balancing 
charge after the year end. 

N/A 

51.  Retention of CEP where member transfers out 
(councillors and pre 1.4.08. leavers). 

L118 CEP will be paid with transfers out 
rather than being retained in the Fund. 

N/A 

52.  Discharge Pension Credit liability (in respect of 
Pension Sharing Orders for councillors and pre 
1.4.08. Pension Sharing Orders for non-councillor 
members). 

L147 HPF will discharge its liability by 
conferring pension credit rights on the 
person entitled to the pension credit. 

N/A 

53.  Whether to pay spouse’s pensions for life for pre 
1.4.98 retirees / pre 1.4.98 deferreds who die on or 
after 1.4.98. (rather than ceasing during any period 
of remarriage or co-habitation). 

F7 HPF will pay spouse’s LGPS pensions 
for life. 

N/A 

54.  Agree to pay annual compensation on behalf of 
employer and recharge payments to employer. 

DC31(2) HPF will pay compensation on behalf 
of an employer, subject to acceptable 
recharge arrangements. 

Head of Pensions 

P
age 180



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

55.  Whether to agree to that an admission agreement 
may take effect on a date before the date on which 
it is executed. 

RSch2, Part 
3, para 14 

As set out in the Employer Policy, HPF 
requires employers to notify the Fund 
of any outsourcing as soon as possible 
and complete an admission agreement 
with sufficient time before the contract 
start date.  However each case will be 
decided on its merits, with advice from 
the Fund Actuary. 

Head of Pensions 

56.  Whether to extend the period beyond 3 6 months 
from the date an Employer ceases to be a Scheme 
Employer, by which to pay an exit credit 

R64 (2ZA) As set out in the Employer Policy, HPF 
will agree a later date with an employer 
if circumstances mean that an exit 
credit cannot be paid within 3 6 months 
of the employer exiting the Fund. 

Head of Employer Services 

57.  To determine the amount of an exit credit, which 
may be zero 

R64 (2ZAB) HPF will determine the amount of any 
exit credit to be paid with regard to the 
factors set out in the regulations, in 
accordance with the policy in the 
Funding Strategy Statement and 
Employer Policy. 

Head of Pensions 

58.  Whether to suspend (by way of issuing a 
suspension notice) for up to 3 years an employer’s 
obligation to pay an exit payment where the 
employer is again likely to have active members 
within the specified period of suspension. 

R64(2A) As set out in the Employer Policy, HPF 
will exercise this discretion in relation 
to Town or Parish Councils.  Any other 
circumstance will be considered on its 
merits with advice from the Fund 
Actuary. 

Head of Employer Services 

P
age 181



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

59.  To decide whether it is legally able to offer 
voluntary scheme pays and, if so, to decide the 
circumstances (if any) upon which it would do so. 

RPS 2 HPF will allow a request for Voluntary 
Scheme Pays (VSP) where the tax 
charge is over £1,000 and under 
£2,000 in relation to an excess over 
the standard annual allowance.  Any 
request for VSP below this minimum 
will be considered on a case by case 
basis with regard for the administration 
cost of administering a small pension 
debit.  In addition, HPF will allow a 
request for VSP in relation to a tax 
charge of £1,000 or more which has 
arisen in relation to an excess over a 
tapered annual allowance (including 
any amount up to £2,000 over the 
standard annual allowance if the total 
tax charge is more than £1,000). 

Head of Pensions 

60.  Appoint an Actuary Reg 64.   

61.  To decide to open a bank account to receive 
amounts due under the regulations 

IN 4,6 As set out in the County Council’s 
Financial Procedures all arrangements 
with bankers must be made only by the 
Chief Financial Officer, who is 
authorised to operate 
any bank accounts considered 
necessary.  

 

Management of the Pension Fund’s 
cash balances will be undertaken 
following the Fund’s Cash Strategy 
agreed by the Pension Fund Panel and 
Board. 

Chief Finance Officer (Director of 
Corporate Operations) 

 

 

 

 

 

Director of Corporate Resources as 
delegated to the Investments and 
Borrowing Team via the Treasury 
Management Procedures and Decision 
Sheets 

P
age 182



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

62.  To decide to open a custodian bank account to 
receive income and capital deriving from 
investments 

IN 4 The Panel and Board will be asked to 
approve the procurement and 
contracting with a custodian bank for 
the service of safekeeping of the 
Fund’s investments. 

Director of Corporate Operations when 
agreed by the Panel and Board 

63.  To decide to pay costs, charges and expenses 
incurred in administering the pension fund 

IN 4 Costs, charges and expenses will be 
paid that have due incurred by the 
Pension Funds 

As per the County Council’s hierarchy of 
budget holder responsibility 

64.  To decide to borrow to meet obligations to pay 
pensions or to meet investment commitments 
when changing between different types of 
investment 

IN 5 The Pension Fund’s cash strategy as 
agreed by the Panel and Board is to 
avoid borrowing other than in the 
exceptional circumstances as set out in 
Regulations 

Director of Corporate Operations to 
agree decision sheet with Treasury 
Management Team 

65.  To decide to commission investment advice IN 7 The Panel and Board will decide when 
they wish to procure specialist 
investment advice and independent 
advice. 

 

Director of Corporate Operations will 
commission advice when necessary for 
the day-to-day operation of the 
Pension Fund. 

Head of Pensions, Investments & 
Borrowing  

66.  To decide where to invest money IN 7 The Panel and Board must agree an 
Investment Strategy Statement which 
specifies the types of investments that 
the Pension Fund with make. 

Panel and Board 

67.  To decide which investment pool to join IN 7 The Panel and Board has 
recommended to Council that 
Hampshire joins the ACCESS pool and 
County Council agreed that Hampshire 
signed the pool’s Inter-Authority 
Agreement. 

County Council 

P
age 183



  Appendix 4 

 

 Discretion Regulation Policy Delegated authority for approval 

68.  To decide to appoint or change the appointment of 
investment managers 

IN 9 Investment manager appointments will 
be made in line with the Pension 
Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement, 
where appropriate taking options 
available from the ACCESS pool. 

 

Administration of the Pension Funds 
investment will be undertaken by the 
Fund’s officers to make payments to 
meeting investment commitments and 
commission the relevant services when 
necessary e.g. legal advice, tax advice, 
transition management and class 
action services. 

Panel and Board 

 

 

 

 

Director of Corporate Operations to 
approve the Pension Fund’s authorised 
signatory list in line with the Corporate 
Schedule of Payments list 

69.  Responsibility for the day-to-day operation of the 
Pension Fund 

 Operations are split between two 
teams; Administration and Investments 
& Borrowing 

Deputy Head of Pensions and Deputy 
Investments & Borrowing Manager 

 

 
Key to regulations: 

Prefix Regulation 

R Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 

TP Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 

A Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 

B Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007 

T Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 

L Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended) 

None Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1995 

IN Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2016 (Management and Investment of Funds) 

DC Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2000 

RPS The Registered Pension Schemes (Modification of Scheme Rules) Regulations 2011 

 
 

P
age 184



 Appendix 5 

 

Investment Strategy Statement  

Introduction   

Hampshire County Council is the administering authority for the Hampshire Pension 
Fund (the “Fund”), which covers employees of the County Council, two unitary 
councils, 11 district councils, and 326 other scheduled and admission bodies. The 
total number of contributors is 59,000 and there are 78,834 deferred members and 
45,576 pensioners (all as at 31 March 2021).  

The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2016 require pension fund administering authorities to prepare and 
review, from time to time, an Investment Strategy Statement.  

This Statement has been drafted to comply with these regulations in accordance with 
the Guidance on Preparing and Maintaining an Investment Strategy Statement.   

Investment Strategy  

The Fund has three main aims:  

 To manage the employers’ liabilities to achieve long-term solvency.  
Accordingly, employers’ contributions will be set to ensure that 100% of the 
liabilities can be met over the long term.  

 To enable primary contribution rates to be kept to nearly as constant as 
possible (subject to the administering authority not taking undue risk) at 
reasonable cost to the taxpayers, scheduled, resolution and admitted bodies, 
while achieving and maintaining fund solvency and long-term cost efficiency, 
which should be assessed in light of the risk profile of the Fund and 
employers, and the risk appetite of the administering authority and employers 
alike.  

 Seek returns on investment within reasonable risk parameters.  

In compiling the Fund’s 2019 Actuarial Valuation, the Fund’s Actuary, Aon advised 
that the Pension Fund requires the assets to deliver a long-term return of above the 
discount rate of 4.4%, which is set out in the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement.  

The Pension Fund Panel and Board have prepared a set of investment beliefs based 
on their experience of the workings of the Fund and the nature of the underlying 
investments held, which are contained in Annex 1.  

Variety of investments  

In order to achieve the return in its Funding Strategy, the Investment Regulations 
require the Pension Fund to invest money in a wide variety of investments and state 
the maximum percentage that it will invest in particular investments or classes of 
investment.  

The strength of the majority of the Fund’s employers’ covenants and the present 
positive annual cashflows allow the Fund to have set a long-term deficit recovery 
period and to take a corresponding long-term view of investment strategy. For the 
purpose of setting maximum limits the Pension Fund has done this at a strategic 
level. The total is deliberately greater than 100% to allow flexibility between the 
categories. The allocation below favours growth assets as the Fund believes that 
participation in economic growth is a major source of long-term equity returns, which 

Page 185



 Appendix 5 

 

will be required to meet its long-term investment return target and mean that 
employer contributions can be kept lower.    

 Minimum Maximum 

Growth assets – To deliver sufficient return to meet the 
funding target and maintain the affordability of the target 
level of contributions (assets such as equities and hedge 
funds) 

40% 70% 

Income assets – Structuring the assets to meet the 
Fund’s income requirements or increase the confidence 
of achieving required returns through a more stable and 
observable return stream (assets such as property, 
infrastructure, loans and alternative credit) 

10% 45% 

Protection assets - Employing investment strategies that 
provide some downside protection or diversification 
benefit to maintain stability in the level of contributions 
(assets such as traditional gilts and index-linked gilts) 

10% 30% 

 

 

Suitability of investments and receipt of investment advice  

The Pension Fund has access to the necessary skills, expertise and resources to 
manage the whole Fund. When making investment decisions the Pension Fund 
Panel and Board will take advice from appropriate specialist investment 
professionals including officers, consultants and independent advisers. The Panel 
and Board have appointed a permanent independent adviser (currently Investment 
Trustee and Adviser Ltd) to provide advice on all investment decisions.   

The Pension Fund recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff and members 
charged with the financial management and decision making with regard to the Fund 
are fully equipped with the knowledge and skills to discharge the duties and 
responsibilities allocated to them. The members of the Panel and Board annually 
complete a training needs analysis based on CIPFA’s Knowledge and Skills 
Framework for pension funds, which includes investments, and a training plan is 
prepared to meet the requirements identified. To fulfil the training needs of officers 
and members the Pension Fund will access training from a variety of investment 
professionals, including both companies that it does and does not currently contract 
with, in order to gain exposure to a wide variety of views.  

Strategic Asset Allocation  

To implement the Pension Fund’s Investment Strategy the Pension Fund Panel and 
Board sets a Strategic Asset Allocation with the aim of achieving the Fund’s overall 
long-term target return without exposing the Fund to excessive risk. In setting the 
Strategic Asset Allocation advice was commissioned from Hymans Robertson on the 
options for the Fund’s asset allocation and the most effective allocation for achieving 
the Fund’s target return with the degree of certainty specified in the Funding Strategy 
Statement.   

Page 186



 Appendix 5 

 

Investment sector Interim % of Fund Long Term % of Fund 

   

Growth 48.0% 43.0% 

Income 30.0% 40.0% 

Protection 22.0% 17.0% 

   

Total Fund 100.0% 100.0% 

 

In line with the Regulations, the Fund’s investment strategy does not permit more 
than 5% of the total value of all investments of Fund money to be invested in entities 
which are connected with the County Council within the meaning of section 212 of 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.  

The Strategic Asset Allocation was agreed in 2017 following the Fund’s last triennial 
actuarial valuation and the Panel and Board has agreed an implementation plan in 
order to move to the new allocation. The Fund’s Asset Allocation will be reviewed 
from time to time by the Panel and Board and at least every 3 years following the 
actuarial valuation.  

To manage the portfolios in the Fund’s asset allocation the Pension Fund contracts 
with specialist external investment managers. No assets are managed internally, 
with the exception of the Fund’s cash balance. Since the implementation of the 
Strategic Asset Allocation the Pension Fund has taken advice from MJ Hudson on 
the appointment of investment managers and transition management. The Fund’s 
current investment managers are shown in Annex 2.  

At the 2019 valuation 1.6% of the Fund’s liabilities were orphan liabilities. The 
Administering Authority’s policy is to minimise the risk to the participating employers 
in the Fund by matching the value of the orphan liabilities to an equal amount of 
index-linked gilts from the Fund’s investments. The Administering Authority currently 
operates a single investment strategy as outlined above, so the Fund Actuary 
notionally allocates index linked gilts to the orphaned liabilities within the valuation 
calculations, with the balance of the Fund’s investment returns credited to the 
participating employers. 

Approach to risk  

The Pension Fund has identified a number of risks on its risk register that may 
impact its funding and investment strategies, contained in Annex 3, which is 
reviewed at least annually by the Panel and Board. The Pension Fund maintains a 
risk register to identity key risks, consider and assess their significance, likelihood of 
occurrence and potential impact of the risk.  

The Panel and Board is aware that the Fund has a need to take risk (e.g. investing in 
growth assets) to help it achieve its funding objectives. The Fund’s appetite for risk is 
to minimise the overall portfolio risk while delivering the target returns through a 
diversified portfolio.  

Approach to pooling  

Page 187



 Appendix 5 

 

Hampshire is a member of the ACCESS pool along with the following 10 other 
pension funds:  

Cambridgeshire Kent 

East Sussex Norfolk 

Essex Northamptonshire 

Hertfordshire Suffolk 

Isle of Wight West Sussex  

All eleven funds are committed to collaboratively working together to meet the 
criteria for pooling and have signed an Inter-Authority Agreement to underpin their 
partnership. The first investments that were pooled are passively managed 
investments, and Hampshire also now has four active equity mandates invested 
through the pool operator, Link Fund Solutions. The Operator is currently working to 
launch further sub-funds throughout 2021/22 and ACCESS has commissioned 
further work to facilitate the pooling of other asset classes.  

The ACCESS Funds have set out how they meet the pooling criteria, the pool’s 
structure, governance arrangements and services to be shared in the submission 
made to the Government in July 2016, which is available on ACCESS’ website 
http://www.accesspool.org/  

All 11 ACCESS funds are working in the expectation that all investments will be 
pooled apart from a minority of investments where there is no value for money 
benefit to pooling a specific investment as identified and agreed by an individual 
fund.  

Hampshire will not be pooling its allocation to directly held UK property (10% of its 
Strategic Asset Allocation). As set out by the ACCESS funds in their July 2016 
submission to the Government, there is a dis-economy in pooling direct property 
investments due to the cost (principally tax) of making changes to portfolios and the 
limited anticipated savings available from pooling.  

In addition, Hampshire will not pool cash held for the efficient administration of the 
scheme, which is needed to manage cash flow to meet statutory liabilities including 
monthly pension payroll payments.   

 

Responsible Investment Policy  

1. Rationale and definition  

The Pension Fund’s investment principles include:  

i. that it has a long term focus and must make investment returns to meet 
pensions liability (currently calculated by the Fund’s actuary as 4.4%pa), and 

ii. a belief in the importance of Responsible Investment (RI), including 
consideration of social, environmental and corporate governance (ESG) 
factors, which can both positively and negatively influence investment returns.   

Therefore, RI is important to the Pension Fund in fulfilling its role to pay scheme 
members benefits and for its reputation with scheme members, employers and the 
wider Hampshire community.  

Page 188

http://www.accesspool.org/


 Appendix 5 

 

The Pension Fund’s approach to RI, includes consideration of the Principles for 
Responsible Investment (PRI), a set of six principles that provide a global standard 
for responsible investing as it relates to ESG. The PRI provides the following 
examples of ESG factors:  

 Environmental - climate change – including physical risk and transition risk, 
resource depletion, including water, waste and pollution, deforestation   

 Social - working conditions, including slavery and child labour, local 
communities, including indigenous communities, conflict, health and safety 
(including health inequalities), employee relations and diversity  

 Governance - executive pay, bribery and corruption, political or religious 
lobbying and donations, board diversity and structure, unjustifiable tax 
strategy  

 

2. Investment Strategy  

These factors, whilst not exhaustive, provide a baseline of ESG factors that are 
actively taken into account as part of the Pension Fund’s overall investment strategy; 
as part of the Fund’s selection of its investment managers, how the Fund will 
scrutinise its investments and how it will transparently report on its investments 
based on these factors. This approach has been communicated to the Fund’s 
investment managers who have confirmed they conform to this policy.  

Stock/Sector Exclusions and Social Impact investments  

The PFPB may also consider disinvestment from a particular stock, the exclusion of 
a particular type of stock or investment in specific ‘social’ investments where, based 
on an evaluation of ESG factors, it believes that the decision would be supported by 
a significant majority of scheme members and employers; the PFPB may take this 
approach so long as it does not result in significant financial detriment to the Pension 
Fund.   

  

3. Framework and Approach  

Consideration of ESG in Investment Decisions  

The Pension Fund delegates its investment decisions to its current and future 
appointed investment managers, who are a combination of specialist external active 
investment managers and passive investment managers. The PFPB engages in 
responsible stewardship with its investment managers and will review and monitor 

Page 189



 Appendix 5 

 

investments based on the following model:  

 

 Challenge – where the underlying investment/company delivers less than a 
net neutral contribution to a sustainable society with a high barrier to 
transformation, the Fund will challenge its investment manager (where 
appropriate) on their decision to hold the investment.  

 Neutral – underlying investments/companies that have potential to transform 
their operations and/or business model to fit in a sustainable future.  

 Embrace – where underlying investments/companies are delivering a positive 
contribution with an undebatable fit in a sustainable future, the Fund will be in 
dialogue with its investment managers to understand what it can learn from 
these investments and its investment managers’ decisions to invest.  

 Engagement – in all situations the Fund expects its investment managers to 
engage with companies that they have invested in, as described in more 
detail below.  

The Fund recognises that there are different expectations for its investment 
managers in the context of this Policy as follows:  

Passive investment managers  

These managers are employed to mirror the stocks in various indices, and the PFPB 
accept that in making investments for the Pension Fund through an index, passive 
managers are unable to actively take ESG factors into account.  

However, the PFPB does expect its passive investment managers to act in the best 
interests of the Pension Fund to enhance the long-term value of investments and 
support and encourage sound practices in the boardroom.  As such the PFPB 
expects its passive investment managers to engage with companies within the index 
on areas of concern related to ESG issues and to also exercise voting rights 
particularly with regard to ESG factors, in a manner that will most favourably impact 
the economic value of the investments (see separate section below on Exercising 
Voting rights).  

Quantitative investment managers  

These investment managers employ particular automated techniques to select 
stocks as opposed to individual judgement (used by ‘traditional’ active investment 

Page 190



 Appendix 5 

 

managers), but unlike passive investments are not constrained by any index. The 
Pension Fund would only utilise a quantitative investment manager if having taken 
advice it was appropriate for implementing the Fund’s investment strategy and 
following a thorough assessment of the investment manager and their quantitative 
model, including the extent to which it can account for ESG factors.  

Similarl to passive investment management the Pension Fund accepts that a 
quantitative investment manager cannot make stock specific judgements on ESG 
issues and therefore may not be able to take all ESG factors into account in their 
investment decisions. However, the Fund still requires the same level of engagement 
and exercise of voting rights (as described above) as with all other investment 
managers.    

Active investment managers  

The PFPB delegates responsibility for making individual investment decisions (non 
passive) to its active investment managers.  

In delivering their service to the Pension Fund, the PFPB requires its active 
investment managers to pro-actively consider how all relevant factors, including ESG 
factors, will influence the long-term value of each investment.  

To ensure that ESG factors are considered in investment decisions, the PFPB uses 
the following framework of questions, which it requires its investment managers to be 
able to answer and uses these as a basis to scrutinise them.  

For each investment has the investment manager assessed and concluded that the 
overall expected long-term financial return is mitigated from the risk of:  

 Detrimental social impacts or increasing health inequalities from the 
company’s products/services, such as armaments or tobacco.  

 Negatively contributing to Climate Change or other environmental issues, 
such as pollution and the use of plastic.  

 The impacts of Climate Change.  

 Poor corporate governance, systems of control and a lack of transparency.  

 A senior management pay structure that is biased towards managers making 
short-term decisions that aren’t in the company’s and investors long-term 
interests.  

 The detrimental treatment of the company’s workforce or workers in the 
company’s supply chain on issues such as health and safety, gender equality 
and pay.  

 Dangerous business strategies, such as the creation of monopolies, that may 
expose the company or wider economy to unacceptable risk.  

 Any outcome damaging to human rights.  

 Reputational damage to the company, the Pension Fund in relation to its 
beneficiaries, Hampshire residents, or the general principles of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code; as a result of its approach to any ESG issue.  

If the PFPB do not receive satisfactory responses to these questions they may 
undertake further engagement with investment managers (and possibly directly with 

Page 191



 Appendix 5 

 

investments) and/or consider directing the investment manager to not invest in the 
company/sector in question.  

Closed-ended limited partnerships  

The Pension Fund invests in closed ended limited partnerships and has let a number 
of discretionary contracts to investment managers for investments in private equity 
and infrastructure in these types of investments. The Pension Fund requires that its 
investment managers integrate ESG considerations into their selection of these 
investments, which it believes will improve the long-term risk adjusted returns. Whilst 
the Pension Fund expects its investment managers to be able to influence the 
investment decisions of these partnerships, it accepts that once the Fund has 
committed its investment it cannot control the underlying investments that are made.  

Direct property  

The Pension Fund has made a strategic allocation to invest in UK commercial 
property, and therefore recognises that as a landlord it has an opportunity to affect 
the quality of the buildings that it owns. As part of the investment management 
contract that the Pension Fund has let for the discretionary management of its 
property portfolio, the Pension Fund expects its investment manager to consider 
improving the environmental impact of each of the properties it owns as part of the 
investment case for owning each property.  

Responsible Investment Sub-Committee   

The Pension Fund Panel and Board (PFPB) take their responsibilities for 
Responsible Investing and the consideration of ESG issues very seriously, and have 
established a Responsible Investment sub-committee, which meets at least twice a 
year, to review ESG issues and support implementation of the Responsible 
Investment Policy.   

The Terms of Reference of the sub-committee are as follows:  

To make recommendations to the PFPB on ESG issues having completed the 
following activities:  

a. to review regularly the Pension Fund’s Responsible Investment Policy 
(contained in its Investment Strategy Statement), and practices relating to it, 
to ensure that ESG issues are adequately reflected  

b. to provide a forum for considering representations to change this Policy 
and/or the Pension Fund’s responsible investment practices relating to it;  

c. to engage in responsible stewardship with its investment managers and to 
provide a forum for the review and monitoring of investments in the context of 
the Policy;  

d. to receive any relevant training on ESG issues;  

e. to review investment managers’ company engagement and voting decisions 
and when necessary engage directly and indirectly with investment managers 
(and where possible directly with companies the Pension Fund is invested in) 
to make representations concerning ESG as appropriate;  

f. to engage directly and indirectly with scheme members and employers to hear 
representations concerning ESG as appropriate;  

Page 192



 Appendix 5 

 

g. to report annually on the Pension Fund's Responsible Investment activities to 
demonstrate progress to the Pension Fund's stakeholders.  

  

Page 193



 Appendix 5 

 

Conflicts of interest  

Conflicts of interest in relation to responsible investment and stewardship could arise 
when the ability to represent the interests of the Fund as a shareholder is hindered 
by other interests. These can arise within the Fund or within external service 
providers.  

The Pension Fund expects the investment managers it employs to have effective 
policies addressing potential conflicts of interest, and that these are all publicly 
available on their respective websites. These are discussed prior to the appointment 
of a manager and reviewed as part of the standard manager monitoring process.   

In respect of conflicts of interest within the Fund, Pension Fund Panel and Board 
members are required to make declarations of interest prior to meetings which are 
documented in the minutes of each meeting and available on the County Council's 
website at www.hants.gov.uk. Hampshire County Council, as the Administering 
Authority of the Hampshire Pension Fund, requires all members of the Panel and 
Board and officers to declare any pecuniary or other registerable interests, including 
any that may affect the stewardship of the Fund’s investments. Details of the 
declared interests of County Council members are maintained and monitored on a 
Register of Member Interests. These are published on the County Council’s website 
under each member’s name and updated on a regular basis.  

  

4. Exercise of rights attaching to investments   

Each of the Pension Fund’s investment managers is asked to work in a consistent 
and transparent manner with companies they are invested in to ensure they achieve 
the best possible outcomes for the Pension Fund, including forward-looking ESG 
standards. This includes requiring investment managers to exercise the Fund’s 
responsibility to vote on company resolutions wherever possible.   

The Fund believes that if companies comply with the principles of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code published by the Financial Reporting Council, this can be an 
important factor in helping them succeed; but the Fund also accepts the need for a 
flexible approach that is in the common long-term interests of stakeholders including 
shareholders, company employees and consumers. The Fund’s investment 
managers should cast their votes with this in mind.   

In particular, the Fund’s investment managers should cast their votes to ensure that:   

 executive directors are subject to re-election at least annually   

 executive directors’ salaries are set by a remuneration committee consisting 
of a majority of independent non-executive directors, who should make 
independent reports to shareholders   

 arrangements for external audit are under the control of an audit committee 
consisting of a majority of independent non-executive directors, with clear 
terms of reference – these should include a duty to ensure that investment 
managers closely control the level of non-audit work given to auditors, and 
should not significantly exceed their audit-related fee unless there are, in any 
investment manager’s opinion, special circumstances to justify it   

Page 194



 Appendix 5 

 

 in the investment managers’ opinion, no embarrassment is caused to the 
Fund in relation to its beneficiaries, Hampshire residents, or the general 
principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code.   

  

5. Monitoring and Reporting  

The Pension Fund’s investment managers (both active and passive) are required to 
report to the Pension Fund on their engagement with company management and 
voting recording, highlighting any instances that they voted against company 
management or did not follow these guidelines. The reports of the investment 
managers on their consideration of ESG factors, company engagement and 
shareholder voting will be viewed by the Pension Fund’s officers, the Responsible 
Investment Sub-Committee and Pension Fund Panel and Board.  

RI Standards  

The Pension Fund is a signatory of the UK Stewardship Code and the UN Principles 
of Responsible Investment (PRI) and will consider signing up to other investor 
standards and initiatives where the Pension Fund Panel and Board believes it will 
enhance Hampshire’s RI policy.   

In line with the principles of the Stewardship Code and PRI the Pension Fund is 
committed to transparent reporting on the implementation of this policy and its 
investments and ESG exposure.  

  

  

  

   

Page 195



 Appendix 5 

 

Annex 1 – Investment Beliefs  

Belief: Clear and well-defined objectives are essential to achieve future 
success  

The Pension Fund Panel and Board is aware that there is a need to generate a 
sufficient level of return from the Fund’s assets, while at the same time having a 
clear understanding of the potential risks and ensuring there is sufficient liquidity 
available to pay members’ benefits as they fall due.  The Panel and Board have 
considered their own priorities and believe that setting clear objectives for the Fund 
is key in providing focus for the way the investment strategy is implemented.  

Belief: Strategic asset allocation is a key determinant of risk and return  

The Panel and Board understands that having the appropriate strategy in place is a 
key driver of the Fund’s future success and thus is typically more important than 
manager or stock selection.   

Belief: Funding and investment strategy are linked  

The Panel and Board understands that a number of funding related aspects feed into 
investment strategy decisions, including maturity and level of required return.  Given 
this, actuarial and investment matters, most notably setting investment strategy, are 
looked at in tandem by the Panel and Board.  

Belief: The Panel and Board will take an appropriate level of investment risk  

As a long term LGPS Fund the Panel and Board acknowledge the need to take 
investment risk to ensure the affordability and sustainability of the Fund.  However, 
the level of risk will be set which is aligned to the long-term objectives, with a view to 
taking appropriate and not unnecessary levels of risk and managing funding level 
volatility.  

Belief: Long term investing provides opportunities for enhancing returns  

The Panel and Board believes that investors with long term time horizons are 
typically less constrained by liquidity requirements and able to better withstand 
periods of price volatility.  As a long-term investor, the Fund may choose to gain 
additional compensation by investing in assets that are illiquid (e.g. property, 
infrastructure and private equity) or may be subject to higher levels of volatility (a 
premium return is required for any such investments).  Having this long-term focus 
also helps the Fund tolerate periods of active manager underperformance when the 
manager’s investment style is out of favour with the market.  

Belief: Equities are expected to generate superior long-term returns  

The Panel and Board believes that, over the longer term, equities are expected to 
outperform other liquid assets, in particular government bonds. The Panel and Board 
is therefore comfortable that the Fund maintains a significant allocation to equities in 
order to support the affordability of contributions.  

Belief: Government bonds provide liquidity and a degree of liability matching 

Government bonds have characteristics that are similar to the assumptions used in 
valuing pension liabilities e.g. sensitive to changes in interest rates and (for index 
linked) to changes in market-implied inflation. This makes them a suitable asset for 
reducing the Fund’s funding risks. In addition, this asset class has proven to be 
highly liquid at times of market stress, enabling it to be used for rebalancing and to 

Page 196



 Appendix 5 

 

help meet any outflows that may fall due. Given this, the Fund hold a proportion of its 
assets in this asset class.  

Belief: Alternative investments provide diversification  

The Panel and Board believes that diversification across asset classes can help 
reduce the volatility of the Fund’s overall asset value and improve its risk-return 
characteristics. The Panel and Board believes that investing across a range of asset 
classes (including, but not restricted to, equities, bonds, infrastructure and property) 
will provide the Fund with diversification benefits.  

Belief: Fees and costs matter  

The Panel and Board recognises that fees and costs reduce the Fund’s investment 
returns. The Panel and Board considers the fees and costs of its investment 
arrangements to ensure the Fund is getting value for money and to minimise, as far 
as possible, any cost leakages from its investment process.  The Panel and Board 
will consider paying higher fees to access the strategic opportunity or where the 
Fund can achieve better or more consistent net of fees returns.  

Beliefs: Market inefficiencies will provide opportunities to add value over time  

The Panel and Board belief that at times relative market movements or dislocations 
will provide opportunities to generate additional returns for the Fund.  However, the 
Panel and Board do not believe that they are best placed to capitalise on these 
opportunities.  The Panel and Board will therefore set mandates with the flexibility for 
specialist external investment managers to add value through allocation decisions 
where deemed appropriate.  Alongside this the Panel and Board will assess the 
position of the Fund against the long-term strategic benchmark and any 
requirements to rebalance back toward the long term target.  

Belief: Active management can add value  

The Panel and Board recognises that certain asset classes can only be accessed via 
active management. The Panel and Board also recognises that active managers 
may be able to generate higher returns for the Fund (net of fees), or similar returns 
but at lower volatility, than equivalent passive exposure.  The Panel and Board will 
therefore use active management selectively and when doing so will aim to minimise 
excessive turnover in its active managers.  By carefully selecting and monitoring 
active managers and recognising that periods of underperformance may arise, the 
Panel and Board seeks to minimise the additional risk from active management.  

Belief: Passive management has a role to play in the Fund’s structure   

The Committee recognises that passive management allows the Fund to access 
certain asset classes (e.g. equities) on a low cost basis and when combined with 
active management can help reduce the relative volatility of the Fund’s performance.  

Belief: Responsible Investment is important to the Panel and Board and can 
have a material impact on the long-term performance of its investments  

The Panel and Board recognises that Responsible Investment issues incorporating 
all forms of Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) issues can impact the 
Fund’s returns.  Given this, the Panel and Board aims to be aware of, and monitor, 
financially material ESG-related risks and issues through the Fund’s investment 
managers. The Pension Fund is a signatory of the Principles of Responsible 
Investment with a Responsible Investment policy and a RI Sub-Committee.

Page 197



 Appendix 5 

 

Annex 2 – Current investment management arrangements 

Portfolio Investment 
Manager 

Benchmark Annual target 
performance 
gross/net of 
fees 

High-
performance 
global equities 

Link Fund 
Solutions 
(Acadian Asset 
Management) 

MSCI World Index +1.5-2.5% net 

Link Fund 
Solutions (Baillie 
Gifford) 

MSCI ACWI +1.5-2.5% net 

Link Fund 
Solutions (Dodge 
& Cox). 

MSCI ACWI +1.5-2.5% net 

Link Fund 
Solutions (Baillie 
Gifford) 

MSCI ACWI +1.5-2.5% net 

Passive Global 
Equities 

UBS Asset 
Management 

FTSE All World Equity 
Index 

FTSE RAFI All-World 
3000 

MSCI World Min Vol 

MSCI World Quality 

 

 
   

Private equity abrdn  +9%-11.5% net 

Hedge funds 
(legacy portfolio) 

Morgan Stanley  +5.5%-8% net 

Infrastructure Grosvenor 
Capital 
Management  

 +7.5%-10% net 

Private debt JP Morgan 
Alternative Asset 
Management 

LIBOR +4% net 

Multi-asset Credit Alcentra LIBOR +3% net 

 Barings LIBOR +3% net 

Passive UK 
index-linked 
bonds 

UBS Asset 
Management 

FT British Government 
Over Five Years Index-
Linked Gilts Index 

 

Page 198



 Appendix 5 

 

Portfolio Investment 
Manager 

Benchmark Annual target 
performance 
gross/net of 
fees 

UK property CBRE Global 
Investors 

Retail Price Index 
(RPI) 

+3.5% net 

Asset Backed 
Securities 

Insight 
Investment 

LIBOR +2% gross 

 TwentyFour 
Asset 
Management 

LIBOR +2% gross 

Page 199



 Appendix 6 

 

Hampshire Pension Fund – Representation Policy 

The Pension Fund Panel and Board7 

The County Council has appointed a combined Pension Fund Panel and Board 
for Hampshire and delegated to it responsibility for its statutory functions as the 
administering authority for the Hampshire Pension Fund and its responsibilities 
in respect of operating a Pension Fund Board for Hampshire. 

Composition 

The Pension Fund Panel and Board includes within its membership: 

 Nine elected members from the Administering Authority. 

 Three employer representatives appointed in accordance with the 

Hampshire Pension Panel and Board Appointment Policy approved by 

the Pension Fund Panel and Board from time to time. 

 Three scheme Member representatives appointed in accordance with 

the Hampshire Pension Panel and Board Appointment Policy approved 

by the Pension Fund Panel and Board from time to time. 

The Administering Authority members will be appointed by Hampshire County 
Council. The nomination process for the employer and scheme member 
representatives is contained in the Appointments Policy and they will be 
appointed by the County Council in accordance with that Policy. 

Employer representatives and scheme member representatives should remain 
as members of the Pension Fund Panel and Board during their appointed term 
of office unless in the opinion of the County Council they are not adequately 
performing their role, they become incapable of acting, they cease to represent 
their constituency, they resign by giving written notice to the Proper Officer of the 
County Council, a replacement member is nominated by their relevant 
nominating body or they are removed from the Panel and Board pursuant to 
Paragraph 6.88. 

Each employer and scheme member representative should endeavour to attend 
all Panel and Board meetings during the year and are required to attend at least 
4 meetings each year. 

                                            

7 See https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s10543/Part%201%20-%20Chapter%208%20-

%20Pension%20Fund%20Panel%20and%20Board%20-
%20November%202017_HF000015105486.pdf 
8 of Part 1: Chapter 8 of Hampshire County Council’s constitution – conflicts of interest 
 

Page 200

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s10543/Part%201%20-%20Chapter%208%20-%20Pension%20Fund%20Panel%20and%20Board%20-%20November%202017_HF000015105486.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s10543/Part%201%20-%20Chapter%208%20-%20Pension%20Fund%20Panel%20and%20Board%20-%20November%202017_HF000015105486.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s10543/Part%201%20-%20Chapter%208%20-%20Pension%20Fund%20Panel%20and%20Board%20-%20November%202017_HF000015105486.pdf
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/documents/s10543/Part%201%20-%20Chapter%208%20-%20Pension%20Fund%20Panel%20and%20Board%20-%20November%202017_HF000015105486.pdf


 Appendix 6 

 

Appointment of Substitute Members 

Allocation 

As well as allocating seats on the Pension Fund Panel and Board, the County 
Council will at the Annual General Meeting of the County Council in each year 
appoint a designated Substitute Member for each Scheme and Employer 
member of the Pension Fund Panel and Board. 

Powers and duties 

Substitute Members will have all the powers and duties of the designated 
Scheme and employer Members of the Board. 

Substitution 

Substitute members may attend meetings in that capacity only: 

 to take place of the designated Scheme and Employer Member for 

whom they are the designated substitute; 

 where the member for whom they are the designated substitute will be 

absent for the whole of the meeting; 

 after notifying the Chief Executive 5 working days before the meeting of 

the intended substitution. 

Voting rights 

All members of the Panel and Board, including all the Employer and Scheme 
Member representatives shall have full voting rights. 

Any independent advisers appointed by the Panel and Board are invited to 
attend all meetings of the Pension Fund Panel and Board but independent 
advisers will not be a member of the Pension Fund Panel and Board and have 
no voting rights. 

Scheme Member and Employer Representatives 

The objective of the Scheme Member and Employer Representatives 
Appointments Policy is that the Hampshire Pension Fund has Scheme Member 
and Employer Representatives who are most able to contribute to the 
governance of the Pension Fund and represent the broadest range of the 
Pension Fund’s scheme members and employers. 

 

Page 201



 Appendix 6 

 

Role of the Employer and Scheme Member Representatives 

As members of the Hampshire Pension Fund Panel and Board, Employer and 
Scheme Member Representatives will be part of the committee responsible for 
the administration of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) in 
Hampshire and securing compliance with the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations. The Employer and Scheme Member Representatives will 
be charged with ensuring that the views of the employers/scheme members that 
they represent are considered in the decisions made in discharging the Panel 
and Board’s responsibilities. 

Application and Nomination Routes 

In order to achieve the aim of having a broad representation of the Pension 
Fund’s scheme members and employers the representative roles will be 
categorised as follows, with different appointment processes (A to C) for each, 
which are set out below. 

 

A – Unitary Authority Representative 

Each Unitary Authority of Southampton City Council and Portsmouth City 
Council will nominate an elected member to serve as their representative on the 
Panel and Board. The representative seat will rotate between the two cities each 
year (from September to August), with the city with the non-serving 
representative fulfilling the role of substitute Employer Representative. 

Page 202



 Appendix 6 

 

Unitary Authority Representatives shall serve on the Panel and Board for as long 
as they continue to be an elected member of the city they are representing and 
they continue to receive the Unitary Authority’s nomination. 

B – District Council Representative 

The Hampshire and Isle of Wight Local Government Association (HIOWLGA) 
will nominate an elected member from one of the 11 District Councils in 
Hampshire to serve as their representative on the Panel and Board. 

The District Council Representative can serve for a maximum of 8 years as long 
as they remain an elected member of a District Council in Hampshire and 
continue to receive the nomination of HIOWLGA. 

C – Other Employer Representative and Scheme Member Representatives 

Applications will be sought by the Hampshire Pension Fund for the other 
representative roles on the Panel and Board. Prospective applicants will be 
asked to complete a written application which will be assessed by officers of the 
Pension Fund and shortlisted applicants will be invited to interview as a final 
stage of the application process. 

To meet the aim of ensuring broad representation from employers and scheme 
members priorities will be assigned in appointing to the following roles: 

 An Employer Representative from one of the large constituent groups 
amongst the Fund’s employers, such as the education sector or 
community admission group. 

 A Scheme Member Representative from each of the three groups of 
members: 

Representing Representative will be  

Active members Working for an employer in the Pension Fund and 
contributing to the Fund 

Deferred members Not yet retired and in receipt of a pension but who 
has previously contributed to the Fund 

Pensioners In receipt of a pension from the Fund 

A representative selected through an application process can serve for a 4 year 
term as long as they can continue to represent the employer/scheme member 
group from which they originally came. At the end of their 4 year term an 
Employer or Scheme Member Representative can apply again, and if successful 
serve a maximum one further 4 year term. 

Page 203



 Appendix 6 

 

Criteria for the selection of Employer or Scheme Member Representatives 

Within the priorities for representation from Employer and Scheme Member 
Representatives the following criteria will be used in the application process to 
select representatives: 

 Able to represent either all employers or all scheme members. 

 Has the capacity to be a member of the Pension Fund Panel and Board. 

 Excellent communication and listening skills and the ability to work as 

part of a group. 

 Good analytical skills, an aptitude for taking on new information and a 

commitment to continuous personal development. 

 Highly numerate, ideally with a background in the Financial Sector. 

 An awareness of pension fund and investment issues. 

 Has no conflict of interest in holding or having held a senior 

management post at the Administering Authority, or a role in 

administering the Pension Fund; either currently or in the last 5 years. 

Approval of appointments 

As a committee of Hampshire County Council all appointments to the Pension 
Fund Panel and Board via all three of the routes above (A, B and C) will be 
approved by the County Council according to its constitution. 

 

Page 204



Appendix 7 

 

Hampshire Pension Fund (HPF)  
Communication Policy Statement 

 
 

Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 6 

Method of communication ............................................................................................................. 6 

Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board ........................................................................................... 6 

Our communication with all stakeholders ................................................................................. 7 

Our communication with scheme members............................................................................. 7 

Our communication with prospective scheme members .................................................... 9 

Our communication with our employers ................................................................................. 10 

Our communication with Pension Services staff ................................................................... 11 

Our communication with other bodies .................................................................................... 12 

Hampshire Pension Fund publications ..................................................................................... 13 

 

Page 205



Appendix 7 

 

Introduction 
 
We are committed to engaging with our stakeholders in a clear and concise manner. 
This policy sets out how we will do that effectively, using the most appropriate 
method taking into account the needs of the target audience.  
 
The five key stakeholders we have are: 

 scheme members , 

 prospective scheme members,  

 employing authorities, 

 Pension Services’ staff and  

 other bodies, for example, the Pensions Fund Panel and Board, Scheme 

Advisory Board, prospective employing authorities.   

We aim to provide a high-quality service to all our stakeholders. Our statement of 
service standards for scheme members and employers can be found on our website. 

Method of communication 

Our aim is to provide all communications electronically where possible. 
 
We use the following for electronic communications: 

 Member Portal – which provides members with secure access to their specific 

details, allows them to complete various forms and upload certain documents. 

 Employer Hub – which allows employers to access records for their 

employees and notify us of changes. 

 Pension Services website – which provides information about the scheme, 

details of how members can manage their pension choices, a news feed and 

other resources.   

Although electronic communications provide rapid access and a secure means of 
sharing personal information, we recognise that it is not always the most suitable 
method of contact for stakeholders. Where appropriate, we will also share 
information by other means such as: 

 in writing or 

 in an alternative format such as large print or Braille. 

Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board 
 
Hampshire has a Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board which is responsible for 
ensuring: 

 that we comply with the LGPS (Local Government Pension Scheme) 

regulations and any other legislation relating to the governance and 

administration of the LGPS, 

 that we satisfy the requirements of The Pensions Regulator and 

 effective and efficient governance and administration of the scheme. 

Members may find further information and contact this committee on our website, 
including meeting agendas and minutes plus contact details. 

Page 206



Appendix 7 

 

Our communication with all stakeholders 

Helpline 
 
Our helpline service offers telephone support during office hours. We aim to answer 
90% of incoming queries without the need to refer to our operational teams. If a 
query is referred to an operational team then we ensure that a call back is made 
within 1 working day.  
 
If a scheme member telephones us then a summary of the conversation is noted on 
the member’s record. 
 
Email 
We have a general email address for all queries. We include a link to our customer 
satisfaction survey at the end of every email we send. The survey feedback is 
reviewed on a weekly basis and used to make improvements to our service where 
appropriate. 

Our communication with scheme members  

We communicate with our members in a variety of different ways. 
 
Our Member Portal 
 
We encourage members to access their pension account through our Member Portal 
https://upmliveportal.hants.gov.uk  
 
This is a secure area which allows members to see the personal details that we hold 
for them. We actively encourage all members to register for the Portal which offers a 
wide range of facilities. We regularly upgrade the Portal and add more facilities for 
members to use. 
 
We email members who are registered for our Portal to advise when key documents 
such as annual benefit statements or advice of regulation changes become 
available. 
 
All members can use the Portal to: 

 send us a secure message, 

 update personal details such as name, address and marital status, 

 add or amend an ‘expression of wish’ for payment of a death grant, 

 complete a membership option form on joining the LGPS. 

In addition, pensioner members can: 

 update their bank details, 

 securely view or download their P60 and payslips, 

 view tax code changes. 

Active and deferred members can also use the Portal to: 

 view their annual benefit statements, 

 complete a retirement declaration form, 

Page 207

https://upmliveportal.hants.gov.uk/


Appendix 7 

 

 obtain a retirement estimate. 

Our website 
 
Our website https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshire-services/pensions offers extensive 
information about membership of the LGPS and scheme regulations, as well as 
forms and guides for members and links to other relevant organisations. It is 
regularly updated and offers a news feed for topical information.  
 
Our annual report and the most recent Hampshire Pension Fund valuation report are 
all available on our website. The website also provides members with information on 
all aspects of our scheme governance including details of our Pension Fund Panel 
and Board, our Fund investment strategy including our Responsible Investment 
Policy and all our policies relating to administration of the scheme. 
 
We regularly update the website in order to comply with the accessibility regulations 
but welcome feedback from any member who is experiencing problems with 
accessing information on this site. We will then work to improve the site or provide 
information in a different format. 
 
The website provides access to a customer satisfaction survey where members can 
leave feedback or register complaints or compliments about our service.  
 
Correspondence 
 
Most of our communication with members is undertaken electronically, either through 
our Member Portal or by secure email. If we hold a member’s email address then we 
will email to advise when a letter or document is made available for them to view.   
 
However, if we are unable to communicate electronically then we send the 
information in writing to the member’s home address. 
 
If a member wishes to opt out of electronic communications and to receive paper 
copies, then we ask that they put their request to us in writing. 
 
We can also communicate with members in a specific way on request, for example 
in large print or Braille. 
 
All emails sent contain a link to our satisfaction survey to encourage feedback from 
members.  
 
Benefit statements 
 
We make our annual benefit statements available to all members through our 
Member Portal. If we hold an email address for a member then we email to advise 
that the statement is available to view on the Portal. 
 
Members can choose to opt out of this online service and instead receive paper 
statements. 

Page 208

https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshire-services/pensions


Appendix 7 

 

All statements include some explanatory notes and members are advised where to 
find a more detailed explanation of their statement on our website. 
 
Pension saving statements 
 
By 6 October each year, we send a pension saving statement to any member who 
may be affected by the annual allowance tax limit. These are also available to view 
on the Member Portal.  
 
Pensioner payslips, P60s and annual newsletter 
 
All payslips are available to our pensioners through the Member Portal. If a member 
has paid income tax during the preceding year, then a P60 will also be available 
through the Portal by the end of May. The member can either view or download 
copies of the payslip and P60. 
 
A pensioner newsletter is added to the Member Portal every year in March or April. 
An expanded version of the newsletter can be viewed on our website. 
 
Pensioner members can opt out of electronic communications and choose always to 
receive paper copies, by putting their request to us in writing. 
 
Declaration of pension entitlement 
 
We send forms to verify a member’s continuing entitlement to receive pension 
payments: 

 every year, to pensioners that live overseas and 

 whenever a pensioner payment or mail is returned to us. 

Our communication with prospective scheme members  

Website 
 
Our website contains extensive information about the LGPS in a dedicated ‘About 
the Scheme’ section. This explains the scheme benefits and regulations and also 
provides information about the governance of the Hampshire Pension Fund. 
 
Via employers 
 
We provide relevant information about the scheme to employers and ask them to 
ensure that eligible staff are made aware of their pension details and options.   
 
We also ask employers to signpost all new members to our Member Portal where 
they will find personal pension information and a membership option form to make 
choices regarding previous LGPS membership. If they have previous pension 
benefits which are not in the LGPS, they are directed to the pension transfer booklet 
on our website.  

Page 209



Appendix 7 

 

Our communication with our employers 
 
We communicate with employing authorities in many different ways to help them 
meet their responsibilities as scheme employers.  
 
Website 
 
Our website has a dedicated section for employers. It includes technical information, 
details of training courses, the latest employer news and an Employer Manual which 
contains details of procedures and employer responsibilities. 
 
The website offers access to our Employer Hub. Employers are asked to register for 
this service which enables them to view or amend details of their own employee’s 
records, submit forms to us or to provide member estimates, depending on their level 
of access. 
 
Correspondence  
 
We send a regular electronic newsletter, “Pensions Matters”, to employing 
authorities to keep them up to date with the latest regulation changes and proposals, 
as well as any changes in administrative processes.  
 
We also send ad hoc email communications, under the heading “Stop Press” to 
advise employers of any changes or information they should be aware of or would 
find useful. 
 
Copies of “Pensions Matters” and “Stop Press” emails are also added to the 
employer section of the website. 
 
Employer training  
 
We offer employer training workshops on a variety of topics, in addition to dealing 
with queries via email or phone. 
 
In addition, Pension Services will work with employers who have individual training 
needs offering targeted training on request or when a need is identified. 
 
Administration strategy 
 
Our administration strategy is an agreement between the Hampshire Pension Fund 
(HPF) and the scheme employers and can be accessed through our website. It sets 
out the roles and responsibilities of both our employers and the HPF and indicates 
the level of service that HPF and the employers will provide each other.   
 
Pension Fund Annual Employers’ Meeting (AEM)  
 
We invite all our employing authorities to attend the Pension Fund Annual 
Employers’ Meeting. As well as providing information on issues such as the annual 
report, scheme changes and investment managers’ performance results, the Annual 

Page 210



Appendix 7 

 

Employers’ Meeting provides opportunities for employers to put questions to the 
Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board or those presenting. 
 
Employer meetings 
 
We hold employer liaison meetings throughout the year with key employers or those 
where additional support is required. All employers may request a meeting with us. 
We also hold six-monthly meetings with employer focus groups and we attend 
established employer forums such as the Payroll Officers’ Group.  
 
Reports and accounts  
 
We send an electronic copy of the annual report and accounts to each employer. We 
publish an updated Statement of Investment Principles and make it available to 
employers within three months of the Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board approving 
any significant amendment.  
 
Valuation report  
 
We send the provisional outcome and the full actuarial report on the triennial 
valuation to employers when they are available.  

Our communication with Pension Services staff  

We ensure that our staff are kept up to date with regulatory changes to the scheme 
and updates in our software and our processes so that they can continue to 
administer the scheme effectively and offer a high-quality service to all stakeholders.  
 
Our staff communications include: 

 Staff webpages - providing a range of information about regulations, topical 

pensions news, administrative details, our charity events team and access to 

our suggestion box. 

 “Pensworld” - a weekly email bulletin to staff which provides updates on 

regulation changes, internal processes, software updates and other news. 

 Suggestion box – available online to allow staff to submit suggestions which 

may improve our processing and customer service. 

 Employer contact information database – to ensure that staff are aware of the 

names of authorised employer contacts that they can share information with.  

 Meetings – regular meeting are held across the whole section and within 

individual teams to share information on changes in regulations and 

processes and other news. 

 Staff training – this includes a structured development programme for new 

staff, regular training and staff workshops and the support of staff studying for 

professional qualifications. 

Page 211



Appendix 7 

 

Our communication with other bodies  
 
Members’ representatives  
 
We provide information to members’ representatives  where they provide appropriate 
authorisation for us to share the member’s information.   
 
Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board  
 
The Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board receive reports from the Director of 
Corporate Operations which cover the administration, governance and investments 
of the Pension Fund, such as reports: 

  from internal audit,  

 regarding the performance of the Fund’s investment managers and  

 on changes to scheme rules.  

In addition, the Panel and Board has created a Responsible Investment sub-
committee, specifically to consider how Environmental, Social and Governance 
issues are considered for the Fund’s investments, and to make recommendations to 
the Panel and Board. 
 
Prospective employing authorities  
 
We provide new employers with information about the responsibilities and costs of 
joining the scheme and invite them to employer training sessions.  
 
Local Government Association (LGA) 
 
The LGA provide support for LGPS pension funds and employers in England and 
Wales and represents their interests to central government and other bodies.  
 
We access many resources on the LGA website and take an active role in both their 
Communications working group and their Technical group, which allow us to discuss 
regulation changes and communication issues with other LGPS Funds. 
 
Investment managers and Fund actuaries 
 
We have regular meetings with the Fund’s investment managers, including meetings 
facilitated by ACCESS for the investment managers of the ACCESS pools’ sub-
funds, who invest the monies belonging to Hampshire Pension Fund (HPF). We also 
meet the HPF actuaries who measure and value the assets and liabilities of the Fund 
and set employer contribution rates to keep the Fund in a good position. 
 
 

Page 212



 Appendix 7 

 

Hampshire Pension Fund publications 

Publications matrix 
 Format Available Available to: Published Reviewed 

 Portal Website Paper Prospective 
members 

Current 
members 

Deferred 
members 

Pensioners Employers   

Scheme 
information 

No Yes 
On 

request 
Yes Yes Yes No Yes 

Always 
available 

As 
regulations 

change 

Employer 
manual 

No Yes No No No No No Yes 
Always 

available 

As 
regulations 

change 

Reports 
and 

accounts 
No Yes 

On 
request 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Annually Annually 

Benefit 
statements 

Yes No 
On 

request 
No Yes Yes No No Annually Annually 

Pension 
Saving 

Statements 
Yes No Yes No Yes No No No Annually Annually 

Pensioner 
newsletters 

No Yes 
On 

request 
No No No Yes No 

Always 
available 

Annually 

Service 
Standards 

No Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Always 

available 
Annually 

Complaints 
and 

appeals 
process 

No Yes 
On 

request 
Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Always 
available 

Annually 

P
age 213



Appendix 8 

 

Hampshire Pension Fund - Governance Policy Statement  
 
Introduction 
 
This statement outlines the governance arrangements for the Hampshire Pension 
Fund (the Fund), maintained by Hampshire County Council. Section 55 of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 require the Fund to 
maintain this Governance Policy Statement. The Fund is also required to publish 
a compliance statement under Regulation 73A of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended) and review that statement on an 
ongoing basis under Regulation 31 of the 2008 Regulations. Under Regulation 31 
(3) (c) there is a requirement to measure the Fund’s governance arrangements 
against a number of standards set out within guidance issued by the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), which are shown in 
Appendix 1.  
 
In accordance with this requirement, what follows is the Fund’s assessment of its 
compliance with the standards as outlined. 
 
Governance of the Fund 
 
The following diagram shows the governance structure of the Fund with 
Hampshire County Council as the Administering Authority.  

 
 

 

Hampshire County Council 

Advisors 

Responsible 

Investment 

sub-committee 

ACCESS 

(investment pool) 

Joint Committee 

Director of 

Corporate 

Operations 

(S151 Officer) 

Other Authorities 

Services to 

other 

Authorities: 

pensions 

administration 

and treasury 

management 

Pensions, 

Investments 

& Borrowing 

Joint Pension Fund 

Panel & Board 

Page 214



Appendix 8 

 

Pension Committee 
 
The County Council, as Administering Authority for the Hampshire Pension Fund, 
has delegated responsibility for managing administration of benefits and 
investment strategy the Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board.  
 
The Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board oversees the proper administration and 
management of the Pension Fund. It is responsible for:  

 making suitable custody arrangements for the Fund’s investments, 

 considering and approving actuarial valuations every three years and 
determining the level of employers’ contributions, 

 considering changes in pension fund regulations and determining actions 
required,  

 considering and approving strategic advice on investment policy,  

 the selection of an investment pool and holding that pool to account,  

 selecting the pool sub-funds to invest in,  

 appointing external fund managers (for investments held outside of the 
pool) and advisers,  

 monitoring the investment performance of each manager against their 
target and benchmark, based on statistics prepared by the custodian and 
Pension Fund officers, and 

 the periodic review of the Investment Strategy Statement, the Fund’s 
Business Plan, its Funding Strategy Statement, this Governance Policy 
Statement, its Governance Compliance Statement and the Fund’s 
Communication Policy Statement. 

 
In its role as the Pension Board for the Hampshire Pension Fund the Pension 
Fund Panel and Board is responsible for assisting Hampshire County Council as 
the Administering Authority of the Hampshire Pension Fund to secure compliance 
with the regulations and any other legislation relating to the governance and 
administration of the LGPS, for securing compliance with requirements imposed in 
relation to the LGPS by the Pensions Regulator and for ensuring the effective and 
efficient governance and administration of the Fund.   
 
The membership of the committee is as follows (all members have full voting 
rights):  

 9 county councillors, 

 3 employer representatives (representing unitary councils, district councils 
and other employers), and 

 3 scheme member representatives (representing active, deferred and 
pensioner members). 

 
Officers and Advisors 
 
Pension investment, funding and administration are complex areas and the Fund 
recognises the need for Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board members to receive 
appropriate and timely advice and training. The main areas of support from 
officers are as follows: 

Page 215



Appendix 8 

 

 High level advice on the management of the Pension Fund from the 
Director of Corporate Operations (also S151 Officer).  

 Legal administrative advice from the Monitoring Officer and Hampshire 
Legal Services. 

 Financial and technical advice from the Senior Responsible Officer who is 
the lead senior support officer and has direct responsibility for 
implementing funding, investment and administration strategy; budget and 
service delivery; risk management and compliance through a team of 
professionally qualified staff.  

 Independent assurance on the Fund’s risk management, governance and 
internal control processes from the Southern Internal Audit Partnership. 

 
Clarity of roles and responsibilities is documented in role profiles for officers 
working for the Pension Fund and a scheme of delegation is in operation for 
decision making.  
 
A range of external specialist advisors are appointed, covering areas such as:  

 investment strategy and asset allocation,  

 funding strategy and employer covenant review and other actuarial 
matters, 

 specialist legal advice concerning investments and pension administration, 
and  

 corporate governance and responsible investment issues. 
 
Investment Pooling 

In response to the 2015 revised LGPS Investment Regulations Hampshire is a 
member of the ACCESS (A Collaboration of Central Eastern and Southern Shires) 
pool. ACCESS is managed by a Joint Committee; whose members are the 
chairmen of the 11 Administering Authorities in the ACCESS pool. The ACCESS 
Joint Committee is responsible for appointing (via recommendation to the member 
authorities) and managing the Pool Operator and for recommending to the 
Administering Authorities the strategic plan for transition of assets that are to 
become Pool Assets. 
 
Conflicts of interest 
 
The Joint Panel and Board’s Terms of Reference set out the process for 
managing conflicts interest for the committee members. All Panel and Board 
members must before becoming a member of the Panel and Board declare any 
potential conflict of Interest to the Monitoring Officer of the County Council and 
have an ongoing obligation to report any new potential conflicts. A Panel and 
Board member should disclose any Conflict of Interest in any business of the 
Panel and Board and may not participate in any discussion of, vote on or 
discharge any function in relation to the matter.  
 
The County Council recognises that its dual role as both an employer participating 
in the Fund and the body legally tasked with its management can produce the 
potential for Conflicts of Interest. It is important that these potential conflicts are 

Page 216



Appendix 8 

 

managed in order to ensure that no actual or perceived Conflict of Interest arises 
and that all of the Fund’s employers are treated fairly and equitably. 
 
The Fund achieves this in the following ways: 

 The Funding Strategy Statement sets out the Fund’s approach to all 
funding related matters including the setting of contribution rates. This 
policy is set with regard to the advice of the Fund actuary and is opened to 
consultation with all Fund employers before being formally adopted by the 
Joint Pension Panel and Board.  

 The Fund also has an Admissions Policy which details its approach to 
admitting new employers to the Fund. This includes its approach to the use 
of guarantors, bonds and the setting of a fixed contribution rate for some 
employers. This policy, in conjunction with the Funding Strategy Statement, 
ensures a consistent approach when new employers are admitted into the 
Fund. 

 The Fund’s Administration Strategy sets out the way in which the Fund 
works with its employers and the mutual service standards that are 
expected. The policy details how the Fund will assist employers to ensure 
that they are best placed to meet their statutory LGPS obligations. On 
occasions where an employer’s failure to comply with required processes 
and standards has led to the Fund incurring additional cost, the policy also 
provides for that cost to be recovered from the employer in question. This 
policy has been opened to consultation with all the Fund’s employers and 
is operated in a consistent fashion across all of the employer base. 

 
The administration of the scheme and investment management arrangements are 
delivered by Hampshire Pension Services, which also delivers pension 
administration services to other pension schemes. The appropriate service 
standards and budget/charges are agreed with each scheme to ensure that 
sufficient resources are available to meet the requirements of all customers and 
that they receive transparent reports on the service levels that they have received. 
 
Sufficiency of resource 
 
The Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board agrees an annual business plan which 
sets out the actions required in order to deliver all aspects of the management of 
the Fund. Delivery of the business plan drives the Fund’s budget setting process, 
with decisions around recruitment, procurement and specialist support being 
made with reference to the requirements of the business plan. The Joint Panel 
and Board reviews the Fund’s operational performance and approves the annual 
budget. Where necessary additional spend can be authorised by the Joint Panel 
and Board. Actual spend is monitored by officers and reported to the Committee 
and published in the annual report and accounts. 
 
The County Council follows best practice as set out in the Local Government 
Pensions Committee circular ‘Principles of Good Practice for the Management of 
Local Government Pension Schemes’. The Fund recognises the importance of 
monitoring and reporting how it delivers its administration objectives. Performance 
against KPIs is reported to the Joint Panel and Board twice a year and in the 

Page 217



Appendix 8 

 

Fund’s Annual Report. This reporting includes the extent of any backlogs that may 
develop over time as well as remedial action that is being taken to address them. 
 
Engagement 
 
In addition to the representation of scheme members and employers (described 
above) on the Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board, the Fund carries out a range 
of activities that are designed to engage employers and scheme members that 
are set out within the Fund’s Communication Strategy and include: 
 
Employers: 

 An Annual Employer Meeting which provides an opportunity for employers 
to receive updates from the Hampshire Pension Fund and the LGPS and 
related issues. 

 A regular electronic newsletter to keep employing authorities up to date 
with the latest regulation changes and proposals, as well as any changes in 
administration. Ad hoc email communication are also sent to advise 
employers of any changes or information they should be aware of or would 
find useful.  

 The Fund’s audited accounts and accompanying Annual Report are 
published on the website every year. 

 Regular employer training days, and offer targeted training on request from 
employers, in addition to dealing with queries via phone or email. 

 The Employer Services team, within Pension Services is available to 
provide pension support on issues such as outsourcing services or 
workforce restricting. 

 

Scheme members 

 The website is the prime source of information on the pension scheme and 
ensures timely, up-to-date and easy-to-access information for all our 
stakeholders.  

 Scheme members can register to access the Member Portal, which is a 
secure area of the website in which they can view their annual benefit 
statements and update their personal information.  

 A general query call centre is available during office hours and a general 
email address for all queries. 

 Each year annual benefit statements are produced, showing scheme 
benefits at 31 March, and made available to all current and deferred 
members via the Member Portal.  

 A newsletter is sent to pensioners each year in March and April.  
 
Training 
 
The Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board use the CIPFA Pensions Finance 
Knowledge and Skills Framework for Elected Representatives and Non-
Executives in the Public Sector, and the CIPFA Technical Knowledge and Skills 
Framework for Local Pension Boards, in order to ensure they meet the 
requirements set out in the guidance referenced in the regulations. Members 
individually complete a Training Needs Analysis each year based on this 

Page 218



Appendix 8 

 

framework. The results are analysed and any gaps identified are addressed as 
part of the Panel and Board’s ongoing training plan. Details of the training 
sessions delivered to the Joint Pension Fund Panel and Board are reported in the 
Fund’s Annual Report 
 
Pension Fund officers will attain the knowledge and understanding they need to 
be effective and to challenge and act effectively within the decision making 
responsibility placed upon them. Officers involved in the management and 
administration of the Fund are set annual objectives which will include an element 
of personal development. These objectives are monitored as part of each 
individual’s annual appraisal. 
 
Hampshire Pension Fund - Governance Compliance Statement 
 
This statement shows how Hampshire County Council as the administering 
authority of the Hampshire Pension Fund complies with guidance on the 
governance of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) issued by the 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government in accordance with the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008. 
 

Ref. Principles Compliance Comments 

A Structure 

a. That the management of the 
administration of benefits and 
strategic management of fund assets 
clearly rests with the main committee 
established by the appointing council. 

Full 
compliance. 

Hampshire County 
Council’s constitution 
sets out the functions of 
the Joint Pension Fund 
Panel and Board. 

b. That representatives of participating 
LGPS employers, admission bodies 
and scheme members (including 
pensioner and deferred members) are 
members of either the main or 
secondary committee established to 
underpin the work of the main 
committee. 

Full 
compliance. 

The Joint Pension Fund 
Panel and Board 
includes 
representatives of the 
other local authorities in 
the Fund, and 
pensioner and 
contributor members.  

c. That where a secondary committee or 
panel has been established, the 
structure ensures effective 
communication across both levels. 

Full 
compliance. 

A Responsible 
Investment (RI) Sub-
committee has been 
established that reports 
to the Joint Pension 
Fund Panel and Board 

d. That where a secondary committee or 
panel has been established, at least 
one seat on the main committee is 

Full 
compliance. 

The RI sub-committee 
is made up of members 
of the Joint Pension 
Fund Panel and Board 

Page 219



Appendix 8 

 

Ref. Principles Compliance Comments 

allocated for a member from the 
secondary committee or panel. 

B Representation 

a. That all key stakeholders have the 
opportunity to be represented within 
the main or secondary committee 
structure. These include: 

 employing authorities (including 
non-scheme employers, e.g. 
admission bodies) 

 scheme members (including 
deferred and pensioner scheme 
members) 

 where appropriate, independent 
professional observers, and 

 expert advisers (on an ad-hoc 
basis). 

Full 
compliance. 

The Joint Pension Fund 
Panel and Board 
includes 
representatives of the 
other local authorities in 
the Fund, and 
pensioner and 
contributor members.  

The Fund’s 
independent adviser 
attends Joint Pension 
Fund Panel and Board 
meetings. Independent 
professional observers 
are not regarded as 
appropriate. 

b. That where lay members sit on a 
main or secondary committee, they 
are treated equally in terms of access 
to papers, meetings, and training and 
are given full opportunity to contribute 
to the decision-making process, with 
or without voting rights. 

Full 
compliance. 

Equal access is 
provided to all 
members of the Joint 
Pension Fund Panel 
and Board. 

C Selection and role of lay members 

a. That committee or panel members 
are made fully aware of the status, 
role and function they are required to 
perform on either a main or 
secondary committee. 

Full 
compliance. 

 

 

D Voting 

a. That the individual administering 
authorities on voting rights are clear 
and transparent, including the 
justification for not extending voting 
rights to each body or group 
represented on main LGPS 
committees. 

Full 
compliance. 

All representatives on 
the Joint Pension Fund 
Panel and Board have 
full voting rights, but the 
Panel and Board works 
by consensus without 
votes often being 
required. 

Page 220



Appendix 8 

 

Ref. Principles Compliance Comments 

E Training/facility time/expenses 

a. That in relation to the way in which 
the administering authority takes 
statutory and related decisions, there 
is a clear policy on training, facility 
time and reimbursement of expenses 
for members involved in the decision-
making process. 

Full 
compliance. 

Full training and 
facilities are made 
available to all 
members of the Joint 
Pension Fund Panel 
and Board. 

 

b. That where such a policy exists, it 
applies equally to all members of 
committees, sub-committees, 
advisory panels or any other form of 
secondary forum. 

Full 
compliance. 

 

 

c. That the administering authority 
considers adopting annual training 
plans for committee members and 
maintains a log of all such training 
undertaken. 

Full 
compliance. 

A training plan has 
been prepared for the 
Joint Pension Fund 
Panel and Board, and 
training logs are 
maintained for 
individual Panel and 
Board members. 

F Meetings (frequency/quorum) 

a. That an administering authority’s 
main committee or committees meet 
at least quarterly. 

Full 
compliance. 

 

b. That an administering authority’s 
secondary committee or panel meets 
at least twice a year and is 
synchronised with the dates when the 
main committee sits. 

Full 
compliance. 

The RI sub-committee 
meets twice a year. 

c. That an administering authority that 
does not include lay members in its 
formal governance arrangements 
must provide a forum outside of those 
arrangements to represent the 
interests of key stakeholders. 

Full 
compliance. 

The Joint Pension Fund 
Panel and Board 
includes lay members. 
An Annual Employers 
Meeting of the Pension 
Fund is held and road 
shows are arranged for 
employers. 

Page 221



Appendix 8 

 

Ref. Principles Compliance Comments 

G Access 

a. That, subject to any rules in the 
County Council’s constitution, all 
members of main and secondary 
committees or panels have equal 
access to committee papers, 
documents and advice that are due to 
be considered at meetings of the 
main committee. 

Full 
compliance. 

Equal access is 
provided to all 
members of the Joint 
Pension Fund Panel 
and Board. 

H Scope 

a. That administering authorities have 
taken steps to bring wider scheme 
issues within the scope of their 
governance arrangements. 

Full 
compliance. 

The Joint Pension Fund 
Panel and Board deals 
with Fund 
administration issues 
as well as Fund 
investment. 

I Publicity 

a. That administering authorities have 
published details of their governance 
arrangements in such a way that 
stakeholders with an interest in how 
the scheme is governed can say they 
want to be part of those 
arrangements. 

Full 
compliance. 

The County Council’s 
Governance Policy 
Statement is published 
in the Pension Fund’s 
Annual Report and on 
its website. 

 

 

Page 222



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 

Decision Maker: Hampshire Pension Fund Panel and Board 

Date: 10 December 2021 

Title: Investments: Pension Fund Cash Monitoring Report and 
Annual Cash Investment Strategy 2022/23 

Report From: Director of Corporate Operations 

Contact name: Mike Chilcott 

Tel:    0370 779 2620 Email: mike.chilcott@hants.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of this Report 

1. This report outlines the investment performance of the cash balances held by 
the Pension Fund in 2021/22 to 31 October 2021 and recommends the 
Annual Cash Investment Strategy for 2022/23. 

Recommendations 

2. That the Annual Cash Investment Strategy for 2022/23 be approved. 

3. That, if the Annual Cash Investment Strategy referred to above is approved, 
that it be implemented from the date of this meeting for the remainder of 
2021/22. 

4. That the Director of Corporate Operations be authorised to manage the 
Fund’s cash balance in accordance with the policy set out in this report.  

5. That the current policy on rebalancing Index-linked gilts be suspended as 
detailed in paragraphs 26 to 30, be noted. 

Executive Summary 

6. This report provides an update on the management of the Pension Fund’s 
cash balances and the Annual Cash Investment Strategy for those cash 
balances for 2022/23, which is outlined in paragraphs 34 to 53 for approval. 

7. In accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management 
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016, an investment policy must be 
formulated for the investment of the Fund’s cash. 

8. The production of an Annual Cash Investment Strategy is in line with the 
recommendations of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice 2017 Edition. 

Page 223

Agenda Item 11

mailto:mike.chilcott@hants.gov.uk


Background 

9. The Pension Fund’s Cash Investment Strategy Statement does not include a 
strategic allocation in cash as an asset class.  However, the Pension Fund 
receives cash each month from contributions by employees and employers, 
income from some of its investments as well as the potential inflows of cash 
from monthly rebalancing, all of which need to be managed.   

10. Where the Pension Fund is invested in pooled funds, cash in these accounts 
is retained by the Fund’s external investment managers for reinvestment, but 
rental income from the Pension Fund’s direct property portfolio, distributions 
from private equity investments, infrastructure investments, private debt and 
indirect property funds are credited to the Fund’s cash balance.   

11. The Pension Fund requires a cash balance to meet outgoings on pensions 
and benefits, existing commitments to invest in property and to fund 
drawdowns by the private equity, private debt and infrastructure funds, as well 
as covering day-to-day cashflow. 

External context 

12. The following paragraphs explain the economic and financial background 
against which the Annual Cash Investment Strategy is being set. 

Economic background 

13. The Bank of England (BoE) has held Bank Rate at 0.1% since March 2020 
and has maintained its Quantitative Easing programme at £895bn since 
November 2020.  In its November 2021 policy report, the BoE expects the UK 
economy to continue to grow to recover further from the effects of the 
pandemic, but at a relatively subdued level as growth is restrained by 
disruption in supply chains as well as some signs of weaker UK consumer 
demand. CPI inflation is now expected to rise to 4.5% through the winter, 
peaking at around 5% in April 2022, mainly due to the impact of utility bills, 
and further increases in core goods and food price inflation.  However, the 
upward pressure on CPI inflation is expected to dissipate over time as supply 
disruption eases, global demand rebalances and energy prices stop rising, 
and so CPI inflation is projected to fall back materially from the second half of 
2022. 

14. The BoE’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) judged that some tightening of 
monetary policy over the forecast period was likely to be necessary to meet 
the 2% inflation target sustainably in the medium term.  

Financial markets 

15. Ongoing monetary and fiscal stimulus together with improving economic 
growth prospects and successful vaccine rollout programmes continued to 
boost equity markets over the period.  In the UK, the FTSE 250 index 
continued making gains over pre-pandemic levels and the more 
internationally focused FTSE 100 saw more modest gains over the period and 
remains below its pre-crisis peak.  

Page 224



16. Inflation worries continued during the period but declines in bond yields 
between April and June suggest bond markets may be expecting any general 
price increases to be less severe, or more transitory, than was previously 
thought.  However, an increase in gas prices in the UK and European Union, 
supply shortages and a dearth of HGV and lorry drivers with companies 
willing to pay more to secure their services, has caused problems for a range 
of industries and, in some instance, led to higher prices.  UK government 
bonds remained positive over the period.  

Credit review 

17. Credit default swap spreads were flat over the period and are broadly in line 
with their pre-pandemic levels. Credit default swaps are used as an indicator 
of credit risk, where higher premiums indicate higher perceived risks.    

18. Over the period credit ratings agencies, Fitch and Moody’s, upwardly revised 
to stable the outlook on a number of UK banks and building societies on 
Arlingclose’s counterparty list, recognising their improved capital positions 
compared to last year and better economic growth prospects in the UK. 

19. The successful vaccine rollout programme is credit positive for the financial 
services sector in general and the improved economic outlook has meant 
some institutions have been able to reduce provisions for bad loans. While 
there is still uncertainty around the full extent of the losses banks and building 
societies will suffer due to the pandemic-related economic slowdown, the 
sector is in a generally better position now compared to earlier this year and 
2020. 

20. On 24 September 2021 Arlingclose published its review of its credit advice on 
unsecured deposits, judging that the UK has seen six months of positive GDP 
growth, and while forward-looking indicators suggest that economic growth 
has entered a slower phase as the UK heads into autumn, and the risks 
around both the continuing pandemic and a period of economic adjustment 
post government support remain, the likelihood of further significant economic 
fallout from the pandemic impacting on the financial viability of certain banks 
has diminished.  As a result, Arlingclose has updated its treasury 
management advice, allowing maximum durations of 100 days for unsecured 
investments with some UK banks on their list of recommended 
counterparties. 

Interest rate forecast 

21. The County Council’s treasury management adviser Arlingclose is forecasting 
that Bank Rate will rise in Quarter 2 of 2022 to subdue inflationary pressures 
and the perceived desire by the BoE to move away from emergency levels of 
interest rates. 

22. Investors continue to price in multiple rises in Bank Rate over the next 
forecast horizon, and Arlingclose believes that although interest rates will rise, 
the increases will not be to the extent predicted by financial markets. In the 
near-term, the risks around Arlingclose’s central case are to the upside while 
over the medium-term the risks shift towards the downside. 

Page 225



Performance of cash investments 

23. The Pension Fund’s cash investment holding was £88.21m as at 31 October 
2021 which represents around 1% of the Pension Fund’s total value. As at 31 
October 2021 the weighted average return on the Pension Fund’s cash 
investments was 0.01%, which should be considered within the context of a 
UK Base Rate of 0.10%.  

24. The current cash balance is lower than the position last year in part due to the 
impact of some employers paying contributions either one or three years in 
advance which causes cash balances to initially increase but steadily 
decrease over the period.  The Fund is now over halfway through the initial 
three-year repayment period, the cash position is expected to further reduce 
until the end of March 2022 when further one-year prepayments are expected 
to be received.  The cash position has also been impacted by the change in 
strategy regarding maintaining the Protection assets. 

25. The cash position at 31 October 2021 and the movement since 31 March 
2021 are shown in Table 1. 

Table 1 – Cash investment 
position 

31/03/21 
Balance 

Net 
movement 

31/10/21 
Balance 

31/10/21 
Income 

return 
 £m £m £m % 

Banks and building societies:     
- Unsecured 24.16 3.11 27.27 0.01 

Money market funds 12.59 48.35 60.94 0.01 
Local authorities 56.00 (56.00) - - 
Treasury bills 5.00 (5.00) - - 

Total 97.75 (9.54) 88.21 0.01 

26. In a change to the approach to cash, as agreed by the Pension Fund Panel 
and Board on 12 February 2021, the Director of Corporate Operations 
reviews the Pension Fund’s asset allocation to Protection assets on a 
quarterly basis, which is made up of Index-linked Gilts and cash.  If the value 
of Index-linked Gilts is outside of the long-term strategic allocation of 22% by 
5% (i.e. above 27% or below 17% of the total value of the Fund), the Pension 
Fund rebalances but only by adding or reducing 2.5% of the Fund at a time to 
maintain the asset allocation to Protection assets.  

27. Since this change to the approach was agreed the actual allocation to Index 
Linked Gilts has remained above 17% of the Fund and no rebalancing action 
has been required to the allocation to Index-linked Gilts. Officers recently 
approached Hymans Robertson for updated advice regarding this policy as at 
that time equities had continued to strengthen making the likelihood of having 
to take rebalancing action more likely.    

28. Hymans confirmed that they have seen further evidence of higher realised 
inflation and some inflationary pressures that are likely to persist some way 
into 2022.  While there has been some movement in Index-linked gilt yields 
over this period yields remain at very low levels.  Even with short term 
inflationary pressures longer term implied inflation continues to look 
expensive. 

Page 226



29. As the Fund is approaching another actuarial valuation in 2022, there will be 
an opportunity at that time to review funding and investment plans. Hymans 
are of the opinion that taking potential actions now could potentially reduce 
the expected level of returns on the Fund’s assets ahead of the valuation and 
any strategic review. The potential rebalancing action into index-linked gilts 
Hymans believes would reduce the expected levels of returns given the 
current outlook. 

30. Therefore, Hymans have recommended to suspend the rebalancing on index-
linked gilts for the time being until the 2022 Actuarial Valuation has been 
completed or there is a marked improvement in long term inflation pricing. 

31. The priority for cash investments is security and liquidity and the Pension 
Fund’s aim is to achieve a yield commensurate with these principles. This has 
been maintained by following the Pension Fund’s counterparty policy as set 
out in its Annual Cash Investment Strategy for 2021/22, which was approved 
by the Pension Fund Panel at its meeting in December 2020. A summary of 
current investments is provided in Table 1.  

32. Whilst regulations provide an explicit power for pension funds to borrow for a 
period of up to 90 days for cash flow purposes, such as allowing scheme 
benefits to be paid and during a transition period when the investment of the 
Fund’s assets is being changed, the Pension Fund’s cash flow will be 
managed on the basis that the need for borrowing for the Fund is avoided and 
therefore all of the Pension Fund’s cash investments are either overnight or 
for a very short duration. 

33. The Fund continues to sell equities where necessary to raise cash to ensure 
the total cash balance remains above £60m and below the equivalent of 4% 
of the total value of the Fund, in line with Hymans’ previous advice (which 
remains unchanged). As previously reported to the Panel and Board as a 
result of the significant amount of contributions received in advance, the 
Pension Fund expected an average monthly deficit from dealing with 
members of nearly £12m, before funding additional property and alternative 
investments. The Pension Fund has had to fund net calls of £206m for its 
alternative investments and property portfolios from 1 April to 31 October 
2021. To fund this, and the ongoing monthly shortfall of contributions 
following the annual prepayment of contributions, the Fund has disinvested 
£225m of passive UK equities in line with its Investment Strategy, and has 
now fully redeemed its passive UK equities holding.  

Annual cash investment strategy 

34. In the past 12 months, the Pension Fund’s cash investment balance has 
ranged between £48.2m and £189.0m.   

35. Balances may increase for a short period at the beginning of April 2022 as 
prepayments of one year’s employer contributions will be received as cash 
and then invested by the investment managers. At this stage the total value of 
prepayments for 2022/23 has not been confirmed, however on 1 April 2021 
the Fund received £38.5m of prepaid employers contributions for 2021/22 and 

Page 227



the Pension Fund is likely to receive a similar level of payments in advance in 
April 2022. 

36. It is expected that during 2022/23 balances will generally vary in accordance 
with the normal cashflow expectations as a result of contributions from 
employers and payments of pension, and the investment and returns of the 
property and alternative investment portfolios.  

37. The following Annual Cash Investment Strategy, for the period to 31 March 
2023, has been prepared with the advice of the County Council’s treasury 
management advisers, Arlingclose. 

38. The primary objective in relation to the investment of Pension Fund cash 
remains the security of capital. The liquidity or accessibility of the Fund’s cash 
investments followed by the yields earned on these investments are important 
but secondary considerations. 

Risk assessment and credit ratings 

39. Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the County Council’s treasury 
advisers, who will notify changes in ratings as they occur. Where an entity 
has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved 
investment criteria then: 

 no new investments will be made, 

 any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, 
and 

 full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing 
investments with the affected counterparty. 

40. Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for 
possible downgrade (also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch 
negative”) so that it may fall below the approved rating criteria, then only 
investments that can be withdrawn on the next working day will be made with 
that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced. This policy will 
not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel 
rather than an imminent change of rating. 

Other information on the security of investments 

41. The Pension Fund understands that credit ratings are good but not perfect 
predictors of investment default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other 
available information on the credit quality of the organisations in which it 
invests, including credit default swap prices, financial statements, information 
on potential government support, reports in the quality financial press and 
analysis and advice from the County Council’s treasury management adviser.  
No investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantial 
doubts about its credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet the credit 
rating criteria. 

42. When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of 
all organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2020, this is not generally 

Page 228



reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these 
circumstances the Pension Fund will restrict its investments to those 
organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its 
investments to maintain the required level of security. The extent of these 
restrictions will be in line with prevailing financial market conditions.   

Investment limits 

43. The cash limits recommended for 2022/23 remain consistent with the 2021/22 
cash investment strategy to allow for the suitable investment of forecast cash 
balances.   

44. On 1 April 2022 it is expected that some employers will choose to prepay one 
year’s employer contributions; currently it is not clear what the total impact of 
this income will be on the cash balances, and so the limits in this cash 
investment strategy will be reviewed once there is further information 
available. It may be required that a set of temporary increased cash limits be 
agreed for a few days to allow the appropriate management of the higher 
balances as a result of the prepayment of employer contributions. 

45. The limits below apply to the cash received into the Pension Fund’s bank 
account that is managed internally by officers. The maximum that will be lent 
to any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will be £40m.  A 
group of entities under the same ownership will be treated as a single 
organisation for limit purposes.  Limits are also placed on fund managers as 
shown in Table 2. 

Table 2: Investment Limits Cash limit 

Any single organisation, except the UK Central Government £40m each 

UK Central Government Unlimited 

Any group of pooled funds under the same management £40m per manager 

Approved investment counterparties and limits 

46. Appendix 1 shows a table of counterparty types which the Pension Fund may 
invest its cash in, subject to the cash limits (per counterparty) and the time 
limits shown. The Pension Fund will continue to largely invest overnight with 
banks and money market funds, given that cash is largely held to meet 
immediate liabilities. Other more secure options that might mitigate the risk of 
bank bail-ins are available should the Pension Fund be required to hold larger 
amounts of cash for longer periods. Therefore, the Director of Corporate 
Operations and his staff will use the guidance of the County Council’s 
treasury management advisers, Arlingclose, in order to place cash on deposit, 
within the limits shown in Appendix 1. 

Liquidity management 

Page 229



47. The Pension Fund has due regard for its future cash flows when determining 
the maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed. Historic 
cash flows are analysed in addition to significant future cash movements. 

48. The Pension Fund will spread its liquid cash over at least four providers (e.g. 
bank accounts and money market funds) to ensure that access to cash is 
maintained in the event of operational difficulties at any one provider. 

Other items 

Investment training 

49. The needs of the Pension Fund’s treasury management staff for training in 
investment management are assessed annually as part of the staff appraisal 
process, and additionally when the responsibilities of individual members of 
staff change. 

50. Staff members regularly attend training courses, seminars and conferences 
provided by Arlingclose and CIPFA. Relevant staff are also encouraged to 
study professional qualifications from CIPFA, and other appropriate 
organisations. 

51. The Pension Fund’s training policy states that all Panel and Board members 
should receive appropriate training relevant to their needs and understand 
fully their roles and responsibilities, which includes treasury management 
responsibilities, and the scrutiny of the treasury management function. All 
Panel and Board members were invited to a training session on 15 November 
2021 and another workshop is planned for November 2022. 

Investment advisers 

52. The Pension Fund has appointed Arlingclose Limited as treasury 
management advisers and receives specific advice on investment, debt and 
capital finance issues. The quality of this service is controlled through 
quarterly review meetings with the Director of Corporate Operations’ staff and 
Arlingclose. 

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 

53. The Pension Fund has opted up to professional client status with its providers 
of financial services, including advisers, brokers and fund managers allowing 
it access to a greater range of services, but without the greater regulatory 
protections afforded to individuals and small companies. As a Local 
Government Pension Scheme, this is the most appropriate status. 

Climate Change Impact Assessments  

54. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions. These tools 
provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate 

change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does.  

Page 230



55. The Pension Fund itself has a negligible carbon footprint, but it recognises 
that the companies and other organisations that it invests in will have their 
own carbon footprint and a significant role to play in the transition to a lower 
carbon economy. Therefore, the Pension Fund recognises the risk that 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors including the impact of 
climate change can materially reduce long-term returns. The Pension Fund 
has a role to play as an investor, in ensuring that its investment managers are 
suitably considering the impact and contribution to climate change in their 
investment decisions and acting as a good steward to encourage these 
companies to play their part in reducing climate change. This is explained 
further in the Pension Fund’s RI policy: 
InvestmentStrategyStatementincludingRIpolicy.pdf (hants.gov.uk). 

56. This report deals with the investment strategy for the Pension Fund’s 
internally managed cash portfolio.  In line with the CIPFA code, the Pension 
Fund’s cash balances are invested prioritising security, liquidity and then 
yield. The cash portfolio is only required to pay pensions, other costs and new 
investments. There are no further climate change impacts as part of this 
report which are concerned with financial reporting. 

 

 

 

 

Page 231

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/pensions/InvestmentStrategyStatementincludingRIpolicy.pdf


  Integral Appendix A 

CORPORATE OR LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 

Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

No 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

No 

 
OR 

 

This proposal does not link to the Strategic Plan but, nevertheless, requires a 
decision because of the ongoing need to manage the Hampshire Pension 
Fund’s cash. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 

None  

 
  

Page 232



Integral Appendix B 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENTS: 
 

1. Equality Duty 
 

The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 
sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 
Equality objectives are not considered to be adversely affected by the proposals 
in this report as the proposals do not directly affect scheme members.

Page 233



Appendix 1 

Treasury Investment Counterparties and Limits 

Sector Duration 
limit 

Counterparty 
limit 

Sector limit 

The UK Government 2 years Unlimited N/A 

Local authorities and other 
government entities 

2 years £40m Unlimited 

Secured investments* 2 years £40m Unlimited 

Banks (unsecured)* 13 months £25m Unlimited 

Building societies (unsecured)* 13 months £25m £40m 

Registered providers 
(unsecured)* 

2 years £25m £40m 

Money market funds* N/A £40m Unlimited 

Strategic pooled funds N/A £40m £100m 

Real estate investment trusts N/A £40m £40m 

Other investments* 2 years £25m £40m 

The table must be read in conjunction with the notes below 

* Minimum credit rating 

Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk will only be made 
with entities whose lowest published long-term credit rating is no lower than A-.  
Where available, the credit rating relevant to the specific investment or class of 
investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. However, 
investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, and all other 
relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account. 

For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be made where 
external advice indicates the entity to be of similar credit quality. 

Government 

Loans to, and bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, 
regional and local authorities and multilateral development banks. These 
investments are not subject to bail-in and there is generally a lower risk of 
insolvency, although they are not zero risk. Investments with the UK Government 
are deemed to be zero credit risk due to its ability to create additional currency 
and therefore may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 2 years. 

Secured investments 

These investments are secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits the 
potential losses in the event of insolvency. The amount and quality of the security 
will be a key factor in the investment decision. Covered bonds and reverse 
repurchase agreements with banks and building societies are exempt from bail-in.  

Page 234



Appendix 1 

Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the collateral upon which 
the investment is secured has a credit rating, the higher of the collateral credit 
rating and the counterparty credit rating will be used. The combined secured and 
unsecured investments with any one counterparty will not exceed the cash limit 
for secured investments. 

Banks and building societies (unsecured) 

Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks 
and building societies, other than multilateral development banks. These 
investments are subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator 
determine that the bank is failing or likely to fail. See below for arrangements 
relating to operational bank accounts  

Registered providers (unsecured) 

Loans to, and bonds issued or guaranteed by, registered providers of social 
housing or registered social landlords, formerly known as housing associations. 
These bodies are regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing (in England), the 
Scottish Housing Regulator, the Welsh Government and the Department for 
Communities (in Northern Ireland). As providers of public services, they retain the 
likelihood of receiving government support if needed.   

Money market funds 

Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and very low or no price 
volatility by investing in short-term money markets. They have the advantage over 
bank accounts of providing wide diversification of investment risks, coupled with 
the services of a professional fund manager in return for a small fee. Although no 
sector limit applies to money market funds, the Pension Fund will take care to 
diversify its liquid investments over a variety of providers to ensure access to cash 
at all times. 

Strategic pooled funds 

Shares or units in diversified investment vehicles consisting of bond, equity and 
property investments. These funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term 
but are more volatile in the short term and allow the Pension Fund to diversify into 
asset classes other than cash without the need to own and manage the 
underlying investments. This sector also includes cash plus funds which are also 
a type of pooled fund, but are used for short-term funds, with a lower risk appetite.  
Because strategic pooled funds have no defined maturity date, but are available 
for withdrawal after a notice period; their performance and continued suitability in 
meeting the Pension Fund’s investment objectives will be monitored regularly.   

Real estate investment trusts (REITs) 

Shares in companies that invest mainly in real estate and pay the majority of their 
rental income to investors in a similar manner to pooled property funds. As with 
property funds, REITs offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are more 

Page 235



Appendix 1 

volatile especially as the share price reflects changing demand for the shares as 
well as changes in the value of the underlying properties. 

Other investments 

This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for example 
unsecured corporate bonds and company loans. Non-bank companies cannot be 
bailed-in but can become insolvent placing the Pension Fund’s investment at risk. 

Operational bank accounts 

The Pension Fund may incur operational exposures, for example through current 
accounts, to any UK bank with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and with assets 
greater than £25 billion. These are not classed as investments but are still subject 
to the risk of a bank bail-in and balances will therefore be kept low. The Bank of 
England has stated that in the event of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 
billion are more likely to be bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance 
of the Pension Fund maintaining operational continuity. 

Page 236



Document is Restricted

Page 237

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 243

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 255

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 277

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 301

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 303

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes (Non-Exempt)
	6 ACCESS Joint Committee Minutes - 6 September 2021
	7 Governance - Internal Audit Progress Report
	2021-12-10 Pension Fund Panel and Board - Internal Audit Progress Report November 2021 (Appendix 1) - draft

	8 Governance - Pension Fund Administration Update
	9 Governance - Pension Fund Business Plan
	2021-12-10 PFPB - Pension-Fund-Business-Plan-33pp-v4

	10 Governance - Good Governance Review Update
	11 Investment - Pension Fund Cash Monitoring Report and Annual Cash Investment Strategy 2022/2023
	13 Confirmation of the Exempt Minutes of the Meeting held on 28 September 2021
	14 Governance - Cyber Security and Business Continuity
	2021-12-10 PFPB Governance Cyber Security Appendix 1
	2021-12-10 PFPB Governance Cyber Security Appendix 2
	2021-12-10 PFPB Governance Cyber Security Appendix 3

	15 Investment - Investment Update

